
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 
TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 

 

 

To: The Members of the Liverpool City Region 
 Transport Committee 
 

 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Liverpool City Region Transport 
Committee to be held on Thursday, 11th November, 2021 at 2.00 pm in the 
Authority Chamber, No. 1 Mann Island, Liverpool L3 1BP. 
 

Members of the public are encouraged to view the meeting via the webcast but 
for anyone who would like to attend in person, please contact Democratic 
Services on 07833 047153 or email democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk in advance of the meeting. Please note that there is very limited 
capacity in the Chamber and seating will be allocated on a first come, first 
served basis. 
 

All those attending will be asked to wear a face covering (unless exempt) and 
are encouraged to take a Lateral Flow Test before attending. You should not 
attend if you have tested positive for Coronavirus or if you have any symptoms 
of Coronavirus 
 

If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Lisa Backstrom 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1079. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive  

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk  
 
A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting of the Transport Committee 
held on 16 September 2021. 

  (Pages 1 - 12) 
 

4. CITY REGION SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT SETTLEMENTS  

 To consider a presentation from the Interim Executive Director for 
Strategic Commissioning and Delivery. 

   

5. COVID RESPONSE AND RECOVERY  

 To consider a presentation from the Assistant Director for Customer 
Delivery. 

   

6. THE TRANSPORT ASPECTS OF THE CORPORATE PLAN  

 To consider the report of Merseytravel. 

  (Pages 13 - 22) 
 

7. DEVELOPING THE NEXT STATUTORY LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN 
(LTP) FIRST STAGE: AGREEING AND ENGAGING STAKEHOLDERS 
ON A DRAFT VISION FOR TRANSPORT  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director for Policy, Strategy and 
Government Relations. 

  (Pages 23 - 84) 
 

8. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION ROAD SAFETY STRATEGY  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director for Policy, Strategy and 
Government Relations. 

  (Pages 85 - 102) 
 
 
 



 

 

9. RAIL UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Assistant Director for Rail. 

  (Pages 103 - 118) 
 

10. MULTI-OPERATOR AND MULTI-MODAL TICKETING SCHEME - 
PRODUCT AND PRICING UPDATE AND PROPOSALS  

 To consider the report of Merseytravel. 

  (Pages 119 - 126) 
 

11. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT - 1 APRIL 2021 TO 30 
SEPTEMBER 2021  

 To consider the report of Merseytravel. 

  (Pages 127 - 144) 
 

12. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

 Members of the public will be given the opportunity to ask questions which 
have been submitted in accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No. 
11.  
 
A period of 30 minutes will be allocated for this item and copies of valid 
questions will be circulated at the meeting. 
 
Members of the public who wish to submit questions are asked to contact 
Democratic Services by either: 
Email: democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0151 330 1086 
In writing: Democratic Services, LCR Combined Authority, No.1 Mann 
Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 
 
A pro-forma will be supplied which, for this meeting must be returned by 
5.00pm on 8 November 2021 (the Monday before the meeting). In this 
respect, return details are set out in the pro-forma. 

   

13. PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS  

 Members of the public will be given the opportunity to submit a single 
petition or statement in accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No. 11. 
 
Members of the Public who wish to submit a single petition or statement 
are asked to contact Democratic Services by either: 
Email: democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0151 330 1086 
In writing: Democratic Services, LCR Combined Authority, No.1 Mann 
Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 
 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


 

 

All petitions and statements for this meeting should be submitted to 
Merseytravel, using the contact details above, by 5.00pm on 8 November 
2021 (the Monday before the meeting). 

   

14. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR  

   
 

 



LCR TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 
 

At a meeting of the LCR Transport Committee held in the Council Chamber, 
Municipal Buildings, Huyton, Knowsley, L36 9YU on Thursday, 16th September, 
2021 the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor L Robinson 
Chairperson of the Transport Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 
Councillors T Brough, J Burke, C Cooke, S Foulkes, G Friel, S Halsall, P Hayes, 
A Jones, N Killen, A Lavelle, K McGlashan, L Melia, N Nicholas, D O'Connor, 
J Pearson, G Philbin, G Stockton, J Stockton and J Williams. 
 
 
18. CHAIR'S OPENING REMARKS  
 
 The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Liam Robinson welcomed everyone 
to the meeting which was taking place in the Council Chamber, Huyton and he 
thanked Knowsley Council for hosting the meeting.  He talked through housekeeping 
for the meeting. 
 
 The Chair referred to the recent sad passing of Committee member, 
Councillor Harry Howard from Halton Council.  He paid tribute to Councillor Howard 
and remarked on his „exceptional‟ qualities, strong socialist values and respect for 
other people‟s views.   The Chair added that he was very well-respected by everyone 
and would be greatly missed. 
 
 Councillor John Stockton also paid tribute to Councillor Howard as a Halton 
Council colleague and read through a statement he had sent to other colleagues at 
Halton.  He commented on the friendship that had developed with himself and 
Councillor Philbin during train journeys to Mann Island for meetings.  He remarked on 
his great sense of humour, his professionalism and how everyone regarded him as a 
„gentleman‟.  He expressed his shock at his passing and sent his condolences to 
Councillor Howard‟s family. 
 
 Councillor Ged Philbin, a long-time friend of Councillor Howard concurred 
with all of the sentiments expressed. 
 
The Committee stood in silence as a mark of respect. 
 
19. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
 Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors J Banks, J 
Donnelly and T Rowe. 
 
20. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



21. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
 Councillor A Jones advised that he had submitted apologies for the previous 
meeting and requested for these to be included in the minutes.   He also provided an 
update to the board with regard to Outside Bodies Appointments and advised that he 
had been appointed as the opposition representative on the TravelSafe Board. 
 
 RESOLVED – That, subject to the inclusion of the amendments detailed, the 
minutes of the last meeting of the Transport Committee held on 15 July 2021 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 
22. OPERATOR PRESENTATION  
 

The Chair welcomed Matt Davies, Regional Managing Director for 
Stagecoach, and Richard Hoare, North West Commercial Director for Arriva, to 
present jointly on the challenges and opportunities for bus travel in the Liverpool City 
Region. 
 
 Richard Hoare provided an overview of Arriva and explained that the 
company was responsible for 1.5M journeys a week, using 600 vehicles of which 400 
were low or zero emission vehicles, and together with Stagecoach employed 2.5K 
people.   
 
 Matt Davies advised that 500K people travelled on Stagecoach vehicles each 
week, supported by 650 employees across two depots and with £20M spent on new 
vehicle investments. Matt Davies explained that the Merseyside Bus Alliance was 
five years old on the day of the meeting and had made fantastic achievements over 
that time.  It was noted that bus patronage had declined over the last five-year period 
across the North West, but that the City Region was performing 15% better than the 
rest of the North West region. There was a 92% satisfaction rate for bus transport in 
the City Region, one of the highest rates for an urban area in the UK. Arriva and 
Stagecoach together had invested £58M on vehicles, WIF and contactless payments, 
mobile ticketing, reduced tendered services budget, and coordinating timetables on 
shared corridors. It was stated that both operators were conscious that more was to 
be done to deliver on the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram‟s vision for the City Region‟s 
transport network.  
 
 Richard Hoare raised the impact of covid-19 on the public transport network, 
including how lockdowns reduced patronage by 15%. Supported by Merseytravel and 
the wider LCR Combined Authority, operators worked to ensure that key workers 
could access services. Patronage grew to 60% after the first lockdown, as additional 
services were scheduled to accommodate schools. Richard Hoare explained that bus 
recovery funding would be available until March 2022, but that operators would be 
expected to stand on their own two feet from April. It was therefore imperative that 
the sector recover as much as possible before then. 
 
 Matt Davies spoke to the collaborative working between operators and local 
authorities, and the building of strong relationships with LCR Combined Authority 
officers. Together all parties acted to continually address issues and produce 
solutions. Considerable investment was made to ensure that premises were covid 
secure and in enhanced cleaning, and these aspects would be continued in 
accordance with public prioritisation. Additional services were provided for school 
movements in addition to and separate from the normal bus network, to allow more 
children to move in bubbles. Colleagues at Arriva donated a bus for vaccine trips and 
Stagecoach were waiting to support with an additional bus. Day tickets were provided 

Page 2



to Local Authority partners to support vaccine access, and the decision to stop giving 
change to reduce transmission has resulted in a £12)K surplus which was donated to 
the NHS charities. The Bus Alliance had been shortlisted for the Responsible 
Business Awards by Liverpool City Chamber of Commerce. Arriva and Stagecoach 
had worked together to ensure that consistent service was provided, including 
making arrangements to operate one another‟s service.  
 
 Richard Hoare welcomed the return of customers and advised that the sector 
had returned to 80% capacity, which was 10% ahead of the rest of the UK. There 
had been a return of 95% to the MyTicket service. To address spare capacity a £1 
evening fare was introduced to support leisure activity growth.  
 
 Matt Davies asserted the Bus Alliance‟s commitment to delivering an 
ambitious, integrated London-style transport system. The National Bus Strategy was 
welcomed by the Bus Alliance. It was noted that one bus could remove 75 cars from 
the road, and that only 1% of motorists would need to change to bus use to increase 
patronage by 10%. The Bus Alliance aimed to not only replace lost patronage but go 
beyond previous figures, doing so with a focus on innovation, pleasant travel 
environments, designs that meet the needs of users, and the hydrogen bus project. 
 
 Richard Hoare advised that surveys and the Big Bus Debate had 
demonstrated customer priorities as faster, more reliable and consistent journey 
times. Bus punctuality, reliability and reform were important, and this would require 
bus to be prioritised ahead of cars. It was explained that more bus users would mean 
more investment and reduced fares, and the ability to improve the offer again. 
Customers wanted best value, with simple fare structures, built on a multimodal 
offering. It was explained that £50M had been invested by Arriva and Stagecoach 
into a greener fleet. While it was noted that 92% of customer were happy with the 
bus service, both operators wished to increase this rate and also attract new patrons, 
but that a move away from car use may require punitive actions as well as an 
attractive offer. Operators had worked closely with the LCR Combined Authority to 
produce a submissions for BSIP funding which would allow for the development of 
tap-on-tap-off fares, zero emission vehicles and other innovations. A business case 
was also in development to set out a franchising or enhanced partnership model. The 
Bus Alliance believed that an enhanced partnership would deliver faster results, but 
that the operators would support either model.  
 
 The Chair thanked Matt Davies and Richard Hoare for their presentation and 
opened the floor to questions. 
 
 Councillor John Stockton, Lead Member for Bus sought to clarify that, 
although enhanced partnership was the preferred reform model, both operators 
would support a franchising model.  
 
 Matt Davies confirmed that both would support a franchising model and had 
notified the Metro Mayor of their support.  
 
 Councillor John Stockton enquired as to why enhanced partnership was 
promoted at this time, when the ability to reform the model had been available for 
four years. 
 
 Richard Hoare responded that the process had been evolving over that time, 
but that with consideration the Bus Alliance believed an enhanced partnership could 
be delivered faster and potentially cheaper than a franchising model.  
 

Page 3



 Councillor John Stockton asked which sections of former patrons had not 
returned to bus use and what was being done to promote a return to bus travel and 
recovery. 
 
 Matt Davies confirmed that concessionary passengers formed the largest part 
of non-returning passengers, alongside former commuters who were now working 
from home. Congestion was now occurring at different times than before, and it was 
important to attract hybrid workers away from car use with improved ticketing such as 
bundle or flexible tickets 
 
 Richard Hoare agreed that travel patterns had changed, and that a part of 
recovery would be in capturing growth in travel for leisure.  
 
 Councillor John Stockton sought clarification on why concessionary travel had 
not recovered. 
 
 Richard Hoare advised that customer confidence has affected concessionary 
travel, and there was a need to ensure that people that were eligible for passes had 
them. 
 
 Councillor John Stockton enquired as to whether central Government were 
being lobbied for additional support. 
 
 Richard Hoare confirmed that the industry would require further support 
during the transition period, and the submission to the BSIP was part of that process. 
It was noted that urban areas could have softer landing following the cessation of 
support in March 2022 as compared to more rural areas. Conversations were 
ongoing with the Department for Transport with regard to solutions to these issues.  
 
 Councillor Nathalie Nicholas requested a breakdown of the diversity of 
employees, further information regarding plans for bus rail integration in light of 
difficulties experienced with Northern rail, and details on how operators are mitigating 
against the effects of a UK-wide driver shortage.  
 
 Matt Davies advised that the bus sector was a predominantly male dominated 
industry, but that greater attention was being paid to increasing gender balance, 
creating more inclusive advertising and reaching a wider audience. It was recognised 
that workplaces should represent the diversity of the region. 
 
 Richard Hoare confirmed that diversity surveys had been undertaken across 
all 2000 employees and was happy to present the findings to a future meeting.  It 
was noted that there had been difficulties integrating with Northern Rail and that 
integration with Merseyrail had been more successful. The BSIP process required 
that seamless travel and competitive prices were demonstrable, and that changing 
service demands could be supported through flexible timetabling and use of hubs.   
 
 Matt Davies explained that on-the-day operational issues were more difficult 
to manage but that actions were taken such as getting all drivers into vehicles and 
using control teams for communication between operators.  
 
 Richard Hoare spoke on the national shortage of drivers with PCB and HGV 
licences. It was stated that both operators offered good employment and wages 
above minimum wage and experienced low turnover. However, a focus on 
processing HGV licences had increased PCB licence turnaround to 8 weeks. 
 

Page 4



 Matt Davies advised that some people were taking lower paid work in order to 
move out of shift work. As employers it was important to make-shift patterns more 
attractive, with measures such as 12 hours off between duties and longer weekends 
off, whilst ensuring that the business was sustainable. 
 
 Councillor Lindsay Melia expressed concern about a car led recovery and a 
negative perception of safety on buses and asked what plans the operators had to 
promote the safety measures they had implemented.  
 
 Matt Davies advised that their buses were fitted with CCTV and on-bus radio, 
and that operators had been working with the TravelSafe board to promote the safety 
of bus travel. In addition, Merseytravel had commissioned work to understand and 
address issues around women‟s safety.  
 
 Councillor Sean Halsall enquired as to whether both employers had signed up 
to the LCR Combined Authority‟s Fair Employment Charter and asked for an 
overview of their compliance to the charter. Noting that taxpayer funded subsidies 
had been used during the pandemic, Councillor Sean Halsall sought information on 
efficiency measures undertaken by the operators and confirmation that bonus 
schemes for senior employees had been postponed for the foreseeable future.   
 
 Richard Hoare confirmed that the Fair Employment Charter was being 
considered by Arriva in order to understand its impact before making a commitment, 
and that as a director he had not received a pay rise or bonus during the period of 
funding, stating that the company was keen to reduce its use of public subsidy.  
 
 Matt Davies advised that Stagecoach was also working through analysis of 
the Fair Employment Charter, noting that the company was largely compliant but did 
continue to employ a small number of staff on earnings below the living wage. The 
Committee was advised that Stagecoach was a PLC, and that efficiency measures 
undertaken included reducing the number of senior roles, suspending dividend 
payments, and suspending pay rises or cash bonus payments to the senior 
management team. Front line workers had received a pay rise, and spending had 
been directed at safety critical items.  
 
 Richard Hoare explained that Arriva had undertaken efficiency measures 
including restructuring and removing some senior roles, whilst ensuring that frontline 
workers were supported.  
 
 Councillor Damien O‟Connor asked the operators how they defined which 
employees were keyworkers within their companies and enquired after the employee 
pension schemes.  David also raised the issue of shift work, especially with new jobs 
created within St Helens, and how bus operators worked with employers to ensure 
that workers‟ travel needs were met.  
 
 Matt Davies advised that a keyworker was any role which was required to 
support service delivery, and included cleaners, drivers, engineers, directors and 
schedulers. There were a small number of roles that could be conducted using at-
home working. Matt explained that Stagecoach used a defined contribution pension 
scheme, through which employee contributions were matched by the employer. 
 
 Richard Hoare echoed Matt Davies‟ comments on keyworkers and pensions. 
With regard to supporting worker travel needs it was explained that information was 
shared through a business-to-business team to identify  how the operator could 
provide support through ticketing and services. 

Page 5



 
 Matt Davies advised that a pension scheme was in place called death in 
service which made a financial payment to the bereaved, and this had been a 
considerable help to the families. Other employee benefits included family travel 
passes and discount schemes.  
 
 Councillor Joanne Burke raised the Government‟s removal of the requirement 
to wear a face covering, and asked whether, in light of an increase in infections, it 
was prudent to reintroduce guidelines.  
 
 Matt Davies explained that operators had worked closely with the Combined 
Authority during the phase of mandated use of face covering, which had resulted in 
the highest compliance rates in the UK.  Following the Government‟s removal of the 
requirement it had become difficult to enforce and put pressure on drivers. 
Requirement for social distancing had also been removed and this action was 
supported by risk assessment. When buses were operating at 40% capacity this 
resulted in people being left at bus stops.   
 
 Councillor Chris Cooke noted the operators enhanced cleaning schedule and 
asked if a public information campaign could help to restore confidence in bus travel. 
 
 Richard Hoare welcomed this feedback and agreed that the industry needed 
to communicate the high levels of standard cleaning that was routinely undertaken as 
well as the enhanced cleaning schedule.  
 
 Councillor Ken McGlashan advised that the price of bus tickets for some 
journeys were not available on the website, instead inviting customers to ask the 
driver. Regarding anti-social behaviour, Councillor Ken McGlashan asked how many 
prosecutions had been instigated.  
 
 Richard Hoare advised that it was the intention to have all flat fares 
accessible online however this had taken longer than hoped. The website and 
applications had now been changed and were currently having data uploaded. 
Richard Hoare explained that the work of the TravelSafe Board was having  
beneficial results.  
 
 Matt Davies advised that the Police lead on prosecutions, and operators 
respected the advice of the Police on these issues. Younger people were more likely 
to be dealt with through restorative processes. Arriva had also invested in a trojan 
bus. 
 
 Councillor Nina Killen drew attention to the importance of accessibility and 
asked if more talking buses would be introduced. 
 
 Richard Hoare confirmed that investment had been made to increase the 
number of audio-visual buses which would be launched soon.  
 
 Councillor Nina Killen also asked for information around how operators in the 
city region had managed to recover better and see less of a drop in patronage than 
other areas, and what the implications would be if a full recovery wasn‟t achieved.  
 
 Matt Davies advised that the City Region had slightly lower car ownership 
rates and a strong culture of bus use.  
 

Page 6



Richard Hoare added the patronage regrowth, and ability to stave off the 
decline in bus usage that the rest of North had experienced, was a testament to the 
success of the Bus Alliance. Together with the National Bus Strategy and BSIP 
funding there were clear opportunities to create further growth. 
 
 Councillor Steve Foulkes raised the issue of urban isolation, in which large 
parts of communities felt disconnected from facilities due to poor transport access  
and noted the 492 and 495 services as examples of this.   
 
 Richard Hoare explained that these issues had been highlighted by the 
National Bus Strategy, the Big Bus debate and by the Metro Mayor, with those 
consulted having stated that the span and frequency of buses needed improvement. 
Funding from Government would be required to undertake trials and pilots, and 
„creeping‟ could be used to add additional frequencies in a sustainable way.  This 
issues would be the key focus for improvement when looking ahead to a franchise or 
enhanced partnership system of working.   
 
 Councillor Gordon Friel requested further information on the provision of 
green buses. 
 
 Matt Davies confirmed that Stagecoach had a Sustainability Strategy which 
included no diesel buses beyond 2025 and all buses to be zero emission by 2035. 
There were technological challenges associated with zero emission vehicles, 
including a reliance upon the National Grid. Stagecoach was involved in a number of 
schemes including the Combined Authority‟s hydrogen bus project and the creation 
of an all-electric bus town in Coventry.   
 
 Richard Hoare stated that Arriva were working towards upgrading the current 
fleet to a Euro 6 standard, then working together with stakeholders to identify the 
right solution. Arriva had 150 electric vehicles in its London garage and 100 hybrid 
vehicles in the city region.  
 
 The Chair focused on the importance of delivering the Metro Mayor‟s vision 
for a London style transport network and noted the need for a tap-on-tap-off smart 
ticketing approach. Operators had been involved in the CPT Declaration in 2014, to 
deliver smart ticketing within 18 months, however delivery had been patchy and had 
resulted in electronic ticketing rather than a fare capped approach. The Chair asked 
both operators how they would deliver tap-on-tap-off multi-modal ticketing affordably.  
 
 Richard Hoare confirmed that both operators were a part of Project Coral 
which looked to deliver a fair price promise, and also were working closely with the 
LCR Combined Authority to consider local solutions. The aim was to deliver a tap 
and go solution, to then lead into a fair price promise. The industry recognised that 
this was a customer priority and needed to ensure that the technology met the 
demand.  
 
 The Chair thanked Matt Davies and Richard Hoare for their presentation to 
Committee and looked forward to welcoming them back for a future update.  The 
Committee wished their thanks to be noted.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 
 
23. QUARTERLY BUS UPDATE  
 
 The Chair invited Matt Goggins, Assistant Director for Bus, to present the 
Quarterly Bus Update. 
 
 Matt Goggins advised the Committee that the report covered the second 
quarter of the current financial year and included the covid response, National Bus 
Strategy, the Bus Alliance, the green bus routes programme and bus reform.  
 
 With regard to the Covid-19 response Matt Goggins advised that the 
Combined Authority had been working closely with operators to encourage 
patronage. Financial support continued to be received from the Government and the 
Combined Authority, and it was expected that this would continue in order to sustain 
the network throughout the rest of the financial year. 
 
 Matt Goggins advised that the Bus Alliance had agreed its business and 
investment plan for the year, with priority given to ensuring sustainability of network 
and passenger confidence. It was explained that the Green bus routes were 
concerned with investing in punctuality and reliability, and that work continued with 
highways officers to carry out appropriate models for interventions. Proposals were 
being developed for the 53 and 86 routes and a briefing on this would be provided to 
a future meeting. 
 
 The hydrogen bus trial had reached a project milestone with Alexander 
Dennis selected to manufacture the vehicles and, subject to agreement by operators 
and selection of a fuel supplier, an order for the vehicles could be placed by end of 
financial year. A business case was in development for a zero-emission bus regional 
area scheme and was expected to be submitted to the Government in January 2022. 
Assessment work focused on market engagement continued to be undertaken with 
regard to bus reform, to include commercial viability and to quantify the level of risk, 
with an aim to bring the work to a conclusion in early 2022.  
 
 Councillor Allan Jones asked when the hydrogen vehicles would be delivered 
if an order was placed at the close of the year and sought clarification on the nature 
of fuel delivery systems and the type of hydrogen that the buses would use.  
 
 Matt Goggins advised that this would be the first time this type of bus would 
be mass produced by Alexander Dennis and so when timescales were confirmed 
these would be shared with the Committee. The fuel delivery solution related to the 
ability to pump hydrogen into buses and would require the construction of a hydrogen 
refuelling infrastructure. Hydrogen grades referred to the carbon efficiency, with 
green hydrogen being produced through renewable energy sources such as wind. 
The aim was to utilise green hydrogen, however there was also the potential to 
harness hydrogen produced by industry within the city region. Matt Goggins outlined 
the decision-making process for the project which would be brought back to the 
Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor.  
 
 Councillor John Stockton enquired after the cost per commissioned hydrogen 
bus. 
 
 Matt Goggins advised that he could not provide an exact figure per bus but 
confirmed that the commissioning process had allowed the LCR Combined Authority 
to come to a good price per vehicle. Operators were being supported to conduct an 

Page 8



exercise for developing the required infrastructure and construction and ensuring that 
this was future proofed to accommodate a larger fleet.  
 
 Councillor Anthony Lavelle requested further information on the potential 
location of new depots and the jobs that could be created.  
 
 Matt Goggins advised that depots were a significant consideration as part of 
bus reform and decarbonisation work. A zero-emission fleet would require joined up 
working across organisations, and locations would be considered in terms of power 
grid and hydrogen pipeline placements.   
 
 RESOLVED – That the content of the report be noted. 
 
24. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION - BUS SERVICE IMPROVEMENT PLAN  
 
 The Chair invited Matt Goggins to present the Bus Service Improvement Plan. 
The Chair noted that this would be considered by the Combined Authority for 
decision and proposed an additional briefing session be held for Transport 
Committee members to consider the Plan in advance of submission. 
 
 Matt Goggins addressed the Committee and confirmed that this was the 
Committee‟s opportunity to formally consider the plan before submission.  Bus Back 
Better, the National Bus Strategy, provided an opportunity to share in £3 billion 
funding for bus services across the UK and outside of Greater London to support 
actions such as decarbonisation and bus reform. One of the key requirements for 
funding was to introduce a franchise or enhanced partnership model, and for the 
ambitious prioritisation of bus including the need to prevent a car-led recovery, to 
make bus attractive alternative, and to respond more quickly and flexibly to changes 
in demand than rail.  
 
 Matt Goggins advised that public sector investment in bus resulted in a strong 
return. The BSIP would allow for a ZEBRA application for hydrogen buses, faster and 
more reliable services, better resident experience, and more integrated and greener 
public travel. It was noted that there were not many bus park and ride services active 
in the city region but there could be opportunities to expand this. Public consultation 
exercises had identified that city region customers had four priorities: punctuality and 
reliability, simplified ticketing, an improved network and an improved board 
experience. Together these helped set the vision for bus priorities. The aim was to 
tell the local story in strong way and set out a clear plan for an ambitious future, 
including the articulation of what was needed from central Government and why, and 
demonstration of local backing.  
 
 Matt Goggins outlined nine priorities for investment. One of these was 
scaling-up green bus routes and translating the principle to four other corridors with 
high levels of bus use and congestion. Proposed network enhancements included 
sustaining the network and enhancing it to address challenges around connectivity 
and off-peak provision. Fare reduction initiatives were also important for customers, 
and funding would be requested in order to underwrite the potential reduction in 
multi-operator fares.  
 
 Decarbonisation proposals included scaling up the zero-emission bus offer 
and building upon the existing hybus project. Another consideration was a bus rapid 
transit, which would take a trackless tram approach and would bridge a gap between 
bus and rail. There had been strong interest in this proposal from Wirral Waters and 
Paddington Village.  

Page 9



 
 BPIS would also help develop a strong brand identity for Metrobus. It was 
noted that there had been a step change in delivery and services in Halton, including 
levelling up, which provided an opportunity to build Halton more closely into the 
transport network. It was recognised that bus reform may present some resource 
challenges and so flexible financial support for delivery was also requested. A 
delivery plan would sit alongside the BPIS to include milestones, timescales and 
public progress reporting for accountability of delivery. Although the document would 
be submitted in October 2021 it would remain a live document.  
 
 The Chair opened the floor to questions from Members. 
 
 Councillor Ken McGlashan stated the need for the Committee to be kept 
updated at each step of the plan‟s development.  
 
 Councillor Nathalie Nicholas asked whether the NHS Trust had been 
considered a stakeholder with regards to the BSIP.  
 
Councillor John Stockton enquired as to the stage of development and costings of 
each individual programme.  
 
 Matt Goggins agreed that ongoing engagement would be continued over the 
weeks before submission and advised that the NHS Trust had not been considered 
as a stakeholder and this would be looked at in the future.   
 
 Councillor Gordon Friel asked for further information on BSOG.  
 
 Matt Goggins explained that BSOG was an outdated but important grant 
which Government had committed to reform in order to support deployment of zero 
emissions vehicles. In terms of costings it was confirmed that these were being 
developed with operators.  
 
 RESOLVED – That:- 

 
(i)  the proposed draft outline for the Liverpool City Region‟s Bus Service 

Improvement Plan (BSIP) in section 3.6 of the report be approved;  
 
(ii)  comment and feedback on the draft outline plan to inform the final 

version to be submitted to Government be provided;  
 
(iii)  it be noted that a report to the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

will be presented in advance of the October deadline;  
 
(iv)  that the further work which will be progressed to develop the costed 

investment plan to be submitted to Government be noted; and 
 
(v)  that a detailed workshop be scheduled for Members of the Transport 

Committee to consider the final document before submission. 
 

25. MERSEY FERRIES UPDATE - SEPTEMBER 2021  
 
 The Chair invited Gary Evans, Assistant Director for Customer Delivery, to 
present the Mersey Ferries Update for September 2021. 
 

Page 10



 Gary Evans advised that the report detailed the operational  impacts of covid-
19 over the previous 18 months and  covid over 18 months and provided an update 
on the long-term strategy approach. 
  
 Councillor Steve Foulkes welcomed the report and noted that, whilst there 
was a concern regarding the landing stage, it appeared that everyone involved in the 
terminal was working positively together.  
 
 Councillor Jerry Williams also welcomed the package and noted its 
importance from a heritage and business perspective.   
 
 Councillor Ken McGlashan expressed concern regarding the age of the 
ferries and the cost of refurbishment and replacement.  
 
 The Chair wished to place on record the Committee‟s thanks to Gary Evans 
and his team for all their work over the previous years and looked forward to 
witnessing exciting developments. 
 
 RESOLVED – That the content of the report be noted. 
 
26. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT - APRIL TO JULY 2021  
 
 The Chair invited John Fogarty, Executive Director of Corporate Services, to 
present the Financial Performance Report for April to July 2021. 
 
 John Fogarty outlined the report and explained that capital was showing a 
spend at 29% of what was aimed for. This was described as relatively normal for the 
first quarter and would continue to be monitored, with the biggest element stated to 
be rolling stock. With regards to revenue John Fogarty explained that the budget had 
been difficult to set for this year due to uncertainty created by the pandemic. 
Pessimistic estimates had been used, but income from the bus network had been 
higher than budgeted for. There had been variance witnessed in concessionary travel 
and ferries, and there remained significant open risks such as the Beatles Story.  
 
 Councillor Steve Foulkes noted that the revenue looked healthy but 
understood that the picture could change as a result of the Mid-term Budget Review. 
It was raised that Mersey Electric were seeking compensation under no net gain no 
net loss, stating that they were the only franchised rail system in UK that had not 
received subsidy. Councillor Steve Foulkes expressed concern at the implication that 
emphasis was on the Combined Authority rather than central Government and 
wished to reignite debate on this matter.  
 
 RESOLVED – That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
27. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 
 The committee received a question from Mr David Williams as follows which 
was read out to the Committee by Lisa Backstrom on Mr William‟s behalf:- 
 
“Given the return to offices that is being encouraged, can something be done about 
the lack of bus stops serving North Liverpool since their removal in January 2021 
during the peak of the pandemic.  Workers now have only one stop to get home from 
despite many services still driving along Dale St and Victoria Street, but there are no 
stops to pick up.  Workers travelling to South Liverpool or Wirral are far better served 
and it's not good just saying to get connecting buses while trying to minimise 

Page 11



passenger risk with a pandemic still on.” 
 
 The Chair thanked Mr Williams for submitting a question and responded 
briefly by advising that the change has taken place as part of the Liverpool City 
Council‟s Connectivity works.  There was a commitment to review that scheme as 
people returned to work post-covid. He explained that a detailed, formal written 
response would be provided within 10 working days.  
 
28. PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS  
 
 There were no petitions or statements. 
 
29. CHAIR'S CLOSING REMARKS  
 
 The Chair informed the Committee that he had hoped to have a report on the 
Combined Authority‟s Corporate Plan. There would be a report to the Committee at 
the November meeting and a copy of the Plan would be circulated to members in the 
meantime. 
 
 He thanked everyone for their attendance at what had been a long but 
necessary meeting and looked forward to seeing everyone in November 2021. 
 
 
Minutes 18 to 29 received as a correct record on the 11 day of November 2021. 
 

 

Chair of the Committee 
 

(The meeting closed at 4.20 pm) 
 
 

 

Page 12



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     11 November 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: Yes/No 
 
 

REPORT OF MERSEYTRAVEL 
 
 

THE TRANSPORT ASPECTS OF THE CORPORATE PLAN  
 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. On 23 July 2021, the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority approved its 

Corporate Plan. This report sets out the transport deliverables required from the 
plan which will then be considered and monitored by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and/or the Transport Committee of the Combined Authority.  

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Transport Committee: 
 

(a) notes the contents of this report and the update at Appendix 1. 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The corporate plan can be viewed by accessing this link: 
  
 Corporate Plan | Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (liverpoolcityregion-

ca.gov.uk) 
 
3.2 Following approval of the Corporate Plan by the Combined Authority, Merseytravel  

(the “transport delivery arm” of the Combined Authority) has reviewed the Transport 
elements of the plan and shares at Appendix 1 its first portfolio update.  For ease of 
reference the transport elements have been summarised below: 

 
  
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/corporate-plan/
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/corporate-plan/


 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

There will be a need with all these projects to ensure that they are adequately 
resourced both in terms of internal /external spend on staff and consultants, as well 
as equipment and infrastructure upgrades where appropriate. 
 

4.1 Financial 
 
Each project / deliverable will report individually in respect of this aspect.  
 

4.2 Human Resources 
 
Each project / deliverable will report individually in respect of this aspect. 
 

4.3 Physical Assets 
 
Each project / deliverable will report individually in respect of this aspect. 
 

4.4 Information Technology 
 
Each project / deliverable will report individually in respect of this aspect. 
 

 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 Merseytravel is the “transport delivery arm” of the Combined Authority and transport 

is a significant part of the development of the successful delivery of the Corporate 
Plan.   In the event that the deliverables for transport are not achieved there could 
be significant organisational reputational damage.  

 
5.2 The Corporate Risk Register has recently been agreed by the Executive  

Leadership Team and this was aligned with the Corporate Plan. The Risk Register 
includes those risks and actions that relate to transport. 

   
5.3 Each project will consider risk separately and report upon the same and in most 

cases will have its own risk register . 
 
 

Page 14



 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None directly from this report however the implications of equalities legislation will 
 be considered with the development of each project.  
 
 
7. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 Each project is likely to have its own communication plan which will be developed 
 with the internal corporate comms team and any appropriate stakeholders. 
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None directly from this report but the implications upon the privacy of individuals will 
 be considered as part of the planning of each project that is a project deliverable. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
  This is the first report from Merseytravel in relation to the newly approved corporate 

plan, this report will form the basis of periodic reporting to the Transport Committee   
 

  
JOHN FOGARTY 

Interim Lead Officer for Transport 
 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Gary Evans - Assistant Director for Customer Delivery -   Gary.Evans@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk 
 
Matt Goggins – Assistant Director for Bus - matthew.goggins@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk 
 
Mal Drury Rose – Assistant Director for Rail - mal.drury-rose@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk 
 
Shane Fitzpatrick – Interim Executive Director for Integrated Transport - 
shane.fitzpatrick@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix One – Portfolio update 
 
Background Documents:  
 
The Corporate Plan approved by the Combined Authority on 23 July 2021 
Corporate Plan | Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk) 

Page 15

mailto:Gary.Evans@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Gary.Evans@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.goggins@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.goggins@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:mal.drury-rose@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:mal.drury-rose@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:shane.fitzpatrick@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/corporate-plan/


This page is intentionally left blank



PORTFOLIO UPDATE 
 

Page 1 of 6 

PORTFOLIO UPDATE: TRANSPORT & AIR QUALITY 

October 2021 

This is the first in a series of regular updates which will be provided to you in your 

capacity as Portfolio Holder.  This is designed to provide you with a snapshot of the 

progress against the deliverables in the Corporate Plan.  These briefings will 

complement the regular portfolio meetings which are currently being set up. If you 

have any questions or would like further information about any of the updates in this 

report please contact Kirsty.mclean@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk  

Corporate Plan 
Deliverable 

Update 
Contact 
Officer 

Develop plans to 
increase the 
number of electric 
vehicle charging 
points  

 We are focussing on the strategic ZERC hubs 
across LCR on a commercial delivery 
perspective with our convening and 
influencing role.  

 There are ongoing discussions in St Helens 
(hydrogen linked with Hydrogen Bus Project), 
Liverpool Airport (electric charging hub), 
Halton (potential hydrogen linked with 
INOVYN), and there may be an opportunity in 
Wirral linked with Unilever or in Sefton near 
the Port of Liverpool, which has a strong 
interest in alternative fuels and 
decarbonisation.  

 LAs are leading on development on local on-
street charging networks we leave that to the 
6 Districts to deliver.  

  

Kirsty 
McLean 

Develop options for 
a local car 
scrappage scheme 

 Very early thinking is underway and options 
will be discussed with the Portfolio Holder.   

Kirsty 
McLean 

Green Bus Routes 
programme 

 Detailed plans of proposed measures for 
10/10A bus routes have been shared with 
local highway authorities for review and 
comment 

 The programme is currently being revised to 
ensure delivery timescales are robust 

 Funding has been allocated to progress 
planning on the 53 and 86 bus routes 

John 
Fogarty 

Page 17

mailto:Kirsty.mclean@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO UPDATE 
 

Page 2 of 6 

 Recruitment to provide supporting capacity to 
the bus team is ongoing. 
 

Hydrogen bus 
project 

 Following a successful procurement exercise, 
Alexander Dennis have been selected as the 
manufacturer for the hydrogen bus project 

 These will be ADL’s first deployment of their 
H2.0 model anywhere in the world, using next 
generation fuel cells 

 Branding has been revised and supporting PR 
has been issued 

 Fuel and refueller supplier procurement and 
operator least negotiations are ongoing 

 We have been invited to produce a business 
case for more buses to be submitted to the 
DfT in line with the ZEBRA scheme 
 

John 
Fogarty 

London Style 
Transport Plan   

Further to a discussion with the Metro Mayor, we 
are developing a public facing summary of 
ambitions and priorities for a London-style 
Transport Plan.   
 

Kirsty 
McLean 

Smart ticketing 
upgrade 

 We have launched the Local Education 
Authority (LEA) Solo ticket onto a smart 
platform (Metro Card) In August 2021. 

 We are making good progress with our next 
enhancement of the Smart Portal website, 
with improvements due for launch in 
November 2021. 

 We have commissioned the build of a multi 
operator ticketing App, due in June 22. 

 We continue to work with Bus Operators to 
shape the ticketing offer under BSIP. 

 We continue to work with Merseyrail around 
an Account Based Ticketing(ABT or Tap and 
Go offer). 

 We continue to link to the DfT for a national 
ABT offer. 
 

John 
Fogarty 

Bus Reform  Work to complete the assessment is ongoing 

 Work to develop the enhanced partnership 
option with bus operators is ongoing 

John 
Fogarty 

Page 18



PORTFOLIO UPDATE 
 

Page 3 of 6 

 We are beginning to receive responses to our 
bus market engagement exercise, with 1-2-1 
meetings being booked in over the next 
month. 
 

Merseyrail for all  Work is to commence shortly on assessment 
of new station candidates using the Station 
Assessment  tool. 

 Currently reaching out to obtain intelligence 
before identifying schemes that may benefit 
from the use of TramTrain Technology and 
other modes. 

 Initial assessments are underway into the 
current status of accessibility at all Merseyrail 
stations.   

 A funding bid has been submitted as part of 
the CRSTF to improve accessibility standards. 
 

John 
Fogarty 

Transforming Cities 
fund 

 Spend to date: £55m. 

 Deadline of fund 31/03/23, with £117.4m 
spend remaining.  

 Runcorn Station Quarter TCF-funding 
expended as planned, forecast project 
completion end of March 2022 

 Smart Ticketing project has delivered new 
ticketing portal, ETMs to buses and digital 
products. Phone app under development 

 IPEMU battery trial successfully concluded 
and battery units for operation to Headbolt 
Lane ordered. TCIS (rolling stock connectivity 
project) continuing and forecast for completion 
in 2022 

 Seacombe link-span and pontoon project on 
site and forecast for completion by end of 
2021 

 Work has commenced on site on the Access 
for All projects at Hunts Cross and Birkenhead 
Park 

 Headbolt Lane station planning application 
submitted, start on site forecast for early 2022 

 HyBus vehicle tender concluded, fuel supply 
and lease arrangements under development 

John 
Fogarty 

Page 19



PORTFOLIO UPDATE 
 

Page 4 of 6 

ahead of placement of orders in early 2022 

 New station building, expanded P&R, 
significant cycling/walking infrastructure at 
Lea Green planning application submitted with 
decision anticipated before the end of the 
year. 

 UTC project to replace ageing traffic signal 
infrastructure and procure a network of air 
quality monitoring stations is progressing, 
contract awarded for air monitors currently out 
to tender for traffic signals  

 Delivery challenges remain on LCWIP Phase 
1, with Phase 2 route in Wirral under review, 
and Halton route nearing delivery 

 Green Bus Routes project on 10A in the 
design phase, with packages of work for 
accelerated delivery being reviewed with LA 
partners. Significant interventions likely to be 
delivered under City Region Sustainable 
Transport Settlement 

 Mersey Ferries vessel renewal currently under 
review. 
 

Transport pipeline  Pre-development funding needs for pipeline 
projects received from all project sponsors 
(internal integrated transport and external 
Local Authorities). Requirement of £15m for 
FY21/22. We are using Intra Cities capacity 
funding of £5.6m from the DfT plus pre-
development funding allocated in the 21/22 
budget 

 The CA has issued an award letter and 
funding agreement to sponsors. 

 Negotiations with DfT on City Region 
Sustainable Transport Settlements (formerly 
Intra Cities) capital funding. Notably size of 
allocation - £480m - £790m, a prospectus 
submission in September and Integrated 
Transport Block (ITB) and Highways 
Maintenance (HM) funds also form part of this 
funding. We have developed an ITB and HM 
programme to sit alongside this work (this will 

Aileen 
Jones 

Page 20



PORTFOLIO UPDATE 
 

Page 5 of 6 

include manifesto commitments and delivering 
on our ambitions for a London Style Transport 
System). It is anticipated that ITB and HM will 
be funded above existing levels. Drafts of the 
bid have been circulated with partners and 
discussions are ongoing prior to submission to 
the DfT. 

 We await a decision on our levelling up fund 
bid submission. 
 

Digitise 
concessionary 
travel 

 A reminder that all concessions are on Smart 
platform and Fast Tag – apart from 
Merseylink. 

 Plans to review Merseylink process and 
introduce an enhanced application process 
are being developed and expected to be 
launched by November 21. 

 For ENCTS and Local 60+ concession, an 
email application route is in operation and an 
online application process has been scoped, 
built and tested – ready for launch once IT 
resources allow. 

 It is expected full launch by November 21 
 

John 
Fogarty 

Local Transport 
Plan 

 Project plan agreed to develop new statutory 
LTP for the city region, within an 18 month 
timeframe. The plan will have a 15 year vision 
and a 5 year delivery plan and will be 
informed by related activities on new 
economic forecasting and scenarios, climate 
action plan, spatial development strategy and 
prosperity plan. 
 

Kirsty 
McLean 

Rolling stock 
programme 

 First unit accepted by Merseytravel: 
ownership transferred from Stadler and 
maintenance contract effective 

 Public display of 777010 w/c 6th September 

 Battery Powered train trials successful: seven 
of the fleet of fifty three to be converted to 
serve Headbolt Lane extension order placed 
with Stadler. 

 Power supply infrastructure upgrade due to be 

John 
Fogarty 

Page 21



PORTFOLIO UPDATE 
 

Page 6 of 6 

completed by end of 2021 
 

Develop options to 
transition towards 
further devolution of 
transport 
infrastructure 

 The Metro Mayor met with SoS and has 
requested we progress the signing of MoU in 
order to develop the business case for rail 
devolution. Negotiations re-commenced with 
DfT on updating MoU in regard William-
Shapps rail review and emerging Great British 
Railways industry change. 

 

 Potential for LCRCA to be considered as a 
pilot location for improved integration with NR 
to support development of Great British Rail 
(GBR) organisation structures.  

 
 

John 
Fogarty 

Any other activity KRN Consultation 
 
We are developing a response to the DfT’s Key 
Route Network consultation working with Local 
Authorities 

 

 

 

Page 22



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:     The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:    11th November 2021 
 
Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT ITEM:   No 
 
 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF POLICY, STRATEGY & GOVERNMENT 

RELATIONS 
 

DEVELOPING THE NEXT STATUTORY LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN (LTP)  
FIRST STAGE: AGREEING AND ENGAGING STAKEHOLDERS  

ON A DRAFT VISION FOR TRANSPORT 
 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. This report updates members of the Transport Committee on the process for 

developing a new Local Transport Plan (LTP) for the Liverpool City Region, following 
a briefing session held in July 2021.  The briefing note that accompanied this briefing 
session is set out in Appendix One. 

 
1.2. The report also sets out the growing importance of up-to-date Local Transport Plans 

from the Department for Transport’s perspective, and in parallel as a means of 
delivering the decarbonisation of transport. 

 
1.3. The report also sets out, for members’ consideration in Appendix Two, a draft 

“issues, challenges and vision” document as a first stage in the development of the 
new plan.  This is intended as a basis of further engagement with stakeholders.  
Delegated authority is sought to allow the draft document to be refined and for a 
structured on-line consultation response form to be developed to gauge perspectives 
on the issues raised. 

 
1.4. Regular updates will be presented to members of the Transport Committee on this 

issue to maintain full oversight of, and input to the developing Local Transport Plan. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that members of the Transport Committee: 
 

(a) endorse the details set out in this report in relation to the process of developing 
a new Local Transport Plan for the city region to clearly articulate the new vision 
for transport;  
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



(b) endorse the draft “issues, challenges and vision” document set out within 
Appendix Two to this report as a first stage in the development of the LTP, and 
agree that this forms the basis of consultation with stakeholders across the city 
region and into 2022; 

 
(c) grant delegated authority to the Executive Director of Policy, Strategy and 

Government Relations, in consultation  with the Chair of the Transport 
Committee to oversee the refinement of the above document and to develop a 
structured on-line consultation and feedback form, to gauge feedback on, and 
validate the issues set out within it; and  
  

(d) receive updates on the development of the LTP and on issues and challenges 
arising, as a standing item on future Transport Committee agendas and at 
informal briefing sessions. 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND TO THE LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN 
 
3.1. Members will recall an update to a briefing session ahead of the Transport 

Committee in July 2021 on the plans and processes being undertaken to develop a 
new, statutory Local Transport Plan (LTP).  Extracts from this note are reproduced 
in Appendix One to this report.  

 
3.2. The development of a new LTP stems from the Metro Mayor’s manifesto 

commitment to:-  
 

“….publish a comprehensive long-term plan for a London-style local transport 
system bringing together our buses, trains and ferries and combining them with a 
comprehensive cycling and walking network….” 
 

3.3 This has also been translated into the corporate plan as priority (6) under “A 
Connected City Region”:- 

 
“…[the LCRCA will deliver by 2024] a Local Transport Plan to set out how transport 
planning will deliver the vision for the City Region and address long term strategic 
transport challenges….”   
 

3.4 It is also important to note that in addition to the new, formal long-term transport 
plan, a public facing plan to articulate the Metro Mayor’s immediate plans and 
priorities to deliver a London-standard transport network is in development and that 
will be published in early 2022.  This will be a very visual document that brings 
existing plans, policies and emerging and planned schemes to life.   

 
3.5 The duty to produce a Local Transport Plan (LTP) is a statutory requirement under 

the Transport Act 2000 (as amended).  An LTP is a transport strategy for an area, 
setting out a vision, policies, a delivery programme and metrics to gauge success 
and overall performance in the delivery of its objectives. LTPs are used to bid for, 
prioritise and allocate funds, and provide the strategic narrative and rationale for 
specific schemes and interventions. 

 
 

Page 24

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Liverpool%20City%20Region%20Combined%20Authority%20Corporate%20Plan%20Final.pdf


3.6 The process of developing and approving an LTP was originally an arduous, very 
prescriptive process, based on detailed government guidance.  Finalised plans also 
required formal approval by DfT before any transport-related funds could be 
released.  Over the past decade in particular, the process and requirements from 
Government have been light touch.  
 

3.7 However, the Government is now taking a much more proactive interest in LTPs as 
a strong basis of decision making for the near future, linked to future funding 
allocations and opportunities. The following extracts from the government’s 
Decarbonising Transport: A Better, Greener Britain make these expectations clear: 
 
“Local Transport Plans (LTPs) are existing statutory requirements….for improving 
transport networks, proposed projects for investment and, ultimately, lay out how 
key objectives will be achieved. Going forward, LTPs will also need to set out how 
local areas will deliver ambitious quantifiable carbon reductions in transport, taking 
into account the differing transport requirements of different areas. This will need to 
be in line with carbon budgets and net zero….”  
 
and also:  

 
“….For future local transport funding, we will transition to a state where this is 
conditional on local areas being able to demonstrate how they will reduce emissions 
over a portfolio of transport investments through LTPs, which will become a focus of 
engagement between central and local government about future funding.… 
 

3.8 The LCR is covered by two extant LTPs from 2011, known as “LTP3” or the third in 
the series of LTPs since their introduction in 2000; there is one for Merseyside, 
developed by Merseytravel for the Integrated Transport Authority, and a separate, 
but aligned plan for Halton prior to the formation of the Combined Authority.  The 
plans contained long-term strategies extending to 2026 and short term, 5-year 
delivery plans.   
 

3.9 The plans are now a decade old, and are outdated, having obsolete delivery plans 
and references to historic funding sources.  They also pre-date the creation of the 
Combined Authority, though the LTPs’ overall focus on supporting economic growth 
whilst reducing carbon and supporting equality of access for all remains highly 
relevant as high-level objectives. 
 

3.10 In summer 2019, a non-statutory Combined Authority Transport Plan was 
developed as a bridge between the statutory plans and more recent priorities.  This 
was considered a logical approach at the time, given that developing a formal, 
statutory LTP would have taken considerably longer and that the underlying 
evidence was not in place.  
 

3.11 Two years on, the time is now considered right to embark upon developing a new 
statutory LTP for the following reasons: 
 

 As noted at the outset, a new 3-year Mayoral term commenced in May 2021, 
and the Metro Mayor wishes to clearly articulate his vision for transport (a 
London-style network and plan) in a new transport plan  

Page 25

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1009448/decarbonising-transport-a-better-greener-britain.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA-TRANSPORT-PLAN.pdf


 The LTP’s building blocks in the form of new economic forecasts, the Local 
Industrial Strategy, the Climate Action Plan and the Spatial Development 
Strategy (SDS) are now in development  

 Significant changes that have materialised since the LTPs were developed in 
2011 that need translating into local policy (e.g. COVID-19, the net zero carbon 
agenda, alternative fuels, the planned abolition of new diesel and petrol vehicles, 
the “Gear Change” vision for walking and cycling, and the recent Bus Back 
Better national bus strategy) 

 the need for a clear, robust policy framework to underpin the process of 
supporting the transport pipeline, the development of business cases and 
funding for the city region and future rounds of funding. 

 
3.12 The development of a new LTP would supersede the two existing LTPs and the 

Combined Authority Transport Plan, with a planned end date of 2040.   
 
 
4 THE PROPOSED PROCESS  
 
4.1 The process for developing the next LTP is a phased one, being linked to other data 

sets and workstreams.  This is summarised in Appendix One.   
 
4.2 This process reflects that transport demand derives from wider aspects, so 

beginning with understanding the impact and implications of new economic 
scenarios for the city region, especially post-COVID is a logical starting point. The 
ongoing development of the successor to the Local Industrial Strategy (to be known 
as the Plan for Prosperity) and the SDS will also set the context for what transport 
needs to physically and operationally support.  Closely related to this is the need for 
the transport sector to support the net zero carbon target of 2040 within the Climate 
Action Plan.   

 
4.3 To this end, this report focuses on the first stage of the LTP development process, 

which is to capture and understand these main challenges and opportunities and 
begin to develop a broad framework for the plan in the form of a vision and goals.  

 
4.4 Members will appreciate that the document set out in Appendix Two remains in draft 

form and is incomplete or else includes highlighted drafting notes in places, as input 
is still awaited.  At the time of drafting this report, the implications from the 
Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) are being reviewed.  As reflected in the 
related item on the Committee’s agenda, the City Region Sustainable Transport 
Settlement award of £710 million in particular is highly relevant and very welcome. 

 
4.5 The draft document has been structured to seek to approach the task in a logical 

order:- 
 

1. What the CA is setting out to do and why 
2. What is a Local Transport Plan and why is it important? 
3. The  process for developing a new Local Transport Plan 
4. Understanding the bigger picture – relevant legislation and policy 
5. The human angle – what are people doing and telling the CA? 
6. What the CA understands so far on our challenges and priorities 
7. The emerging vision 

a. Headline objective 

Page 26



b. Supporting goals 
8. Funding, Delivery and Monitoring 
9. Next steps 

 
4.6 The three core challenges, priorities and opportunities that have been identified at 

this stage comprise:- 
 

1. Supporting recovery from the pandemic and building an inclusive 
economy 

2. Decarbonising the economy and transport 
3. Responding positively to the focus of new funding 

 
4.7 This has then led to an emerging, high-level vision for the plan, and also a series 

of goals, that will guide the next stages of development and frame the detailed 
policies and that will flow in due course.  The box below highlights the draft vision 
and goals:- 

 

DRAFT VISION 

 
“To plan for, and deliver a clean, safe, resilient, accessible and inclusive London-
standard transport system for the movement of people, goods and freight in a way 
that delivers the vision and to become a net zero carbon emitting city region by 
2040” 
 

DRAFT GOALS 

GOAL 1 Ensure that transport supports post-pandemic recovery, sustainable 
growth and development, and that the transport plan, Plan for 
Prosperity, Climate Action Plan and Spatial Development Strategy 
are fully aligned 

GOAL 2 Achieve net-zero carbon emissions by 2040 whilst safeguarding and 
enhancing our environment 

GOAL 3 Improving health and quality of life through transport – safer, more 
attractive streets and places used by zero emission transport 

GOAL 4 Ensuring that the transport network and assets are resilient, 
responsive to the effects of climate change, and are well maintained 

GOAL 5 Ensuring that we respond to uncertainty and change but also 
innovation and new technologies 

 
4.8 The types of measures and actions that would support the achievement of the 

goals are then summarised under each.  The draft document then concludes with 
a section on delivery, funding and monitoring and evaluation, as context. 

 
4.9 Importantly, it is proposed that a short survey or questionnaire would be structured 

to gauge public feedback on the above document, to be launched in early 2022.  It 
is considered important to gauge public views on all stages of the plan, but equally 
to highlight the new direction that transport needs to take.  The draft document 
also notes how it will only be successfully delivered if people are willing to and see 
the need to change conventions and behaviours. 

 
4.10 Delegated authority is sought to enable officers to finalise the document for 

consultation purposes, and also develop and launch the associated on-line 
consultation process in early 2022. 

Page 27



 
5.  RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

Financial 
 
5.1 The LTP will be used to draw down and prioritise funding, so has direct and 

potentially, very significant financial implications.  There is also likely to increasing 
weight associated with having an LTP in place, as a condition of securing new funds 
from Government.  LTPs are also likely to act as a means of providing assurances 
that priorities such as decarbonisation are being implemented locally, 

 
5.2 There will be a need to commission specialised input as needed for tasks that 

cannot be completed in-house, such as transport modelling expertise via existing 
framework agreements, and for the required Environment Impact Assessments and 
Habitats Directive assessments that are of a highly specialised nature. 

 
Human Resources 

 
5.3 The production of the LTP involves a series of linked stages and officers have 

calculated a timescale of 18 months from start to finish based on earlier LTPs 
locally and across other CA areas.   

 
5.4  The majority of the work will be undertaken using existing internal resources.   

 There will be a need to draw in specialised input as needed for tasks that cannot be 
completed in-house as noted above. 

 
 Physical Assets 

 
5.5 No direct implications at this stage of the process. 
 
 Information Technology 
 
5.6 There are no direct implications at this stage and it will be seen the role of 

technology and information technology is recognised as a critical issue in the draft 
vision (e.g. impacts of homeworking, use of technology to book and pay for trips, 
and to move goods more efficiently). 

 
 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1 The production of a new LTP is considered important to address significant risks 

that the LCR faces from transport and climate change, including atmospheric 
emissions, death and serious injury on the roads and less tangible risks to health, 
inclusion and economic potential. 

 
6.2 The development fo a new LTP will seek to address the challenges facing the LCR 

and draw these into a costed and prioritised programme and series of priorities to 
inform future investment plans, bids and delivery programmes. 

 
 
  

Page 28



7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1. The draft vision document attached recognises that transport has significant 

equality and diversity implications and that the new LTP4 must ensure equality of 
opportunity and access.  The detailed implications are not clear at this high-level 
stage, but as noted, an Equality Impact Assessment will be undertaken as the plan 
evolves, so that any unintended equalities issues can be addressed. 

 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
8.1. Consultation and engagement will be an important part of this initial stage, 

reflecting that significant change is needed in the way that transport is planned 
and used.  A very significant shift is needed to walking, cycling and clean public 
transport, in order to meet binding commitments on decarbonisation, both at a city 
region and national level. 

 
 
9. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
  
9.1 There are no direct implications. 
 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 This report updates members of the Transport Committee on the process for 

developing a new Local Transport Plan for the Liverpool City Region, and the 
importance of doing this. 

 
10.2 It sets out, for members’ consideration and endorsement in Appendix Two a draft 

“issues, challenges and vision” document as a first stage in the development of the 
new plan.  This is intended as a basis of further engagement with stakeholders.   

 
10.3 Delegated authority is sought to allow the draft document to be refined and for a 

structured on-line consultation response process to be developed and launched in 
early 2022, to gauge perspectives on the issues raised. 

 
 

KIRSTY McLEAN 
Executive Director of Policy, Strategy and Government Relations 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
Huw Jenkins, Lead Officer – Transport Policy 
Joanne Sawyer, Corporate Communications Manager 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – Summary of main stages in the development of the new LTP 
Appendix Two – Draft LTP4 issues, challenges and vision document  
 
Background Documents:  
Briefing note to members of the Transport Committee – July 2021 (summarised in 
Appendix One) 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIEFING PAPER 
 

Page 1 of 6 

TITLE: Developing the next statutory Local Transport Plan (LTP) to clearly 
articulate the vision for transport across the city region 

DATE: 15th July 2021 

TO: Transport Committee Members’ Briefing Session 
 
 

1. Aim of Note 
 

1.1 This note sets out the proposed process for co-ordinating and developing the next 
statutory Local Transport Plan (LTP) for the Liverpool City Region and in taking 
forward the Metro Mayor‟s manifesto commitment to:-  
 
“….publish a comprehensive long-term plan for a London-style local transport system 
bringing together our buses, trains and ferries and combining them with a 
comprehensive cycling and walking network….” 

 
1.2 The note was considered and endorsed by the LCRCA‟s Directors recently, and 

further engagement and liaison is now taking place with colleagues across the 
organisation, including the portfolio lead and the Metro Mayor. The constituent local 
authorities, elected members, DfT and external bodies will also be closely engaged in 
the process, hence this initial update to members of the Transport Committee. 
 

1.3 Members will note the resource implications associated with this and the indicative 
timeframes associated with the plan‟s development. 

 
 
2. Context 
 
2.1 The duty to produce a Local Transport Plan (LTP) is a statutory requirement under 

the Transport Act 2000 (as amended).  An LTP is a transport strategy for an area, 
setting out a vision, policies, a delivery programme and metrics to gauge success 
and overall performance in the delivery of its objectives. LTPs are used to bid for, 
prioritise and allocate funds, and provide the strategic narrative and rationale for 
specific schemes and interventions. 
 

2.2 The process of developing and approving an LTP was originally an arduous, very 
prescriptive process, based on detailed government guidance.  Finalised plans also 
required formal approval by DfT before any transport-related funds could be 
released.   
 

2.3 The requirements of local transport authorities (the LCRCA in this case) are now very 
different, and “light touch” – in effect, the duty is simply to have an LTP in place and 
to have regard to it in making decisions.  That said, DfT may revisit the role of LTPs 
in the near future, linked to future funding allocations and opportunities. 
 

2.4 The LCR is covered by two extant LTPs (“LTP3”) from 2011; one for Merseyside, 
developed by Merseytravel as the Integrated Transport Authority, and a separate, but 
aligned plan for Halton from when it was a unitary authority with transport planning 

Page 31



BRIEFING PAPER 
 

Page 2 of 6 

powers in pre-LCRCA days.  The plans contained long term strategies extending to 
2026 and short term, 5 year delivery plans.   
 

2.5 The plans are now a decade old, and are outdated, having obsolete delivery plans 
and references to historic funding sources.  They also pre-date the creation of the 
Combined Authority, though the LTPs‟ overall focus on supporting growth whilst 
reducing carbon and supporting equality of access for all remains highly relevant as 
high level objectives. 
 

2.6 In summer 2019, a non-statutory Combined Authority Transport Plan was developed 
as a bridge between the statutory plans and more recent priorities.  This was 
considered a logical approach at the time, given that developing a formal, statutory 
LTP would have taken considerably longer.  The bigger factor that warranted an 
interim plan concerned the fact that the LCR‟s wider evidence base was still in the 
process of being developed, and the Local Industrial Strategy in particular was not in 
place.   A series of supporting, mode-specific strategies also exist, as listed in 
Appendix One. 
 

2.7 Two years on, the time is now considered right to embark upon developing a new 
statutory LTP for the following reasons:-   
 

 As noted at the outset, a new 4 year Mayoral term commenced in May 2021, and 
the Metro Mayor wishes to clearly articulate his vision for transport (a London-
style network and plan) in a new transport plan  

 The LTP‟s building blocks in the form of new economic forecasts, the Local 
Industrial Strategy, the Climate Action Plan and the Spatial Development Strategy 
(SDS) are now in development  

 Significant changes that have materialised since the LTPs were developed in 
2011 need translating into local policy (e.g. COVID-19, the net zero carbon 
agenda, alternative fuels, the planned abolition of new diesel and petrol vehicles, 
Gear Change and the recent Bus Back Better national bus strategy) 

 the need for a clear, robust policy framework to underpin the process of 
supporting the transport pipeline, the development of business cases and funding 
for the city region, potentially in the form of a single transport settlement that may 
be announced at the autumn Spending Review. 

 

2.8 The development of a new LTP would replace and supersede the two existing LTPs 
and the CA Transport Plan.  The existing mode-specific strategies (summarised in 
Appendix One) would not in themselves be superseded by the LTP unless their 
policy context significantly changed as part of the development of the LTP.  It is 
considered that seeking to consolidate policies and priorities into a single volume 
would be helpful as a point of principle, to clarify messaging and also to manage 
expectations. 

  

Page 32

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA-TRANSPORT-PLAN.pdf


BRIEFING PAPER 
 

Page 3 of 6 

3 Process for developing the next Local Transport Plan 
 
3.1 The process for developing the next LTP is inextricably linked to the parallel work in 

development to understand the impact and implications of new economic scenarios 
for the city region in a post-COVID world.  Closely related will be the expectations on 
the transport sector to support the next zero carbon target within the Climate Action 
Plan.  The ongoing development of the successor to the Local Industrial Strategy and 
the SDS also set the key areas and sectors that transport services and infrastructure 
will need to support.  Indeed, the synergy that will exist between the development of 
these various strategies will be a major strength and a demonstration of the benefit 
stemming from being a Combined Authority, as it will align transport needs and 
solutions within the wider context. 

 
3.2 The process of developing the LTP can be summarised as follows:- 
 

1. Firstly, an understanding of growth/decline scenarios and future economic and spatial trends 
(and now more likely, a series of scenarios post-COVID) including:- 
 

 where the new jobs will typically be based and what form they will take, and conversely where 
we envisage jobs will be lost 

 where the demand likes for housing (both renewal and new build, linked to the SDS in the 
case of the latter) will be 

 the main retail, town, and district centres and their related growth and specialisms 

 the same for leisure and tourism, including implications for airport/cruise liners 

 we all recognise how difficult the pandemic makes this, so scenarios of a series of rolling, 
short term visions may be the most suitable in practice. 

 
2. As a major gap in the evidence base, a detailed understanding of  freight movements across the 

LCR are significant but also poorly understood, hence the importance of the „State of Freight‟ 
workstream:-  
 

 we can anticipate growth in the movements of freight through Liverpool (Port of Liverpool and 
as a result of the Freeport development)  

 also as a result of continued growth in home shopping and internet shopping, the latter being 
linked to our big freight and logistics parks at Haydock, Speke, KIP, Widnes, Ellesmere Port, 
Omega and so forth 

 the data gap we have is around how these goods move in practice and why, before we can 
look at interventions to reduce the impact of HGV and diesel van flows (e.g. solutions include 
consolidation centres, freight bike schemes, drones, district locker schemes) but we lack the 
understanding of where things are going to and from, and why, in detail 

 
3. A review of national policy direction and guidance 

 

 DfT, Central Government, TfN etc 
 

4. A synthesis of our consultation messages and what people are saying and wanting  
 

 An important source of data is via the LCR Listens for LIS and SDS in transport terms – some 
crunching and summaries would be needed 

 
5. Then, an understanding of what the economic projections mean in transport terms, using the 

Liverpool City Region Transport Model (LCRTM) 
 

 This provides the “do nothing”, and to understand risks, pressure points, constraints and 
consequences. 

Page 33



BRIEFING PAPER 
 

Page 4 of 6 

6. This would be followed by development and testing of scenarios, leading to a preferred 
strategy 
 

 This would introduce inputs into this from the CAP work and the SCATTER modelling 
capabilities, so that the preferred strategy is one that directly supports the 2040 trajectory and 
clean air agenda 

 
7. The preferred strategy leads to policy formulation (potentially a corridor or place-based 

approach this time around rather than mode-by-mode as per previous approaches?) 
 

8. An indicative delivery programme (long term strategy of 15 years, 5 year delivery programme) 
that links to the pipelines work  

9. Consultation around the preferred strategy to validate direction of travel, ideally 
 

 Likely to be web based + SNAP in reality + crunching of key messages 
 

10. We would need to inform the preferred strategy and programme with a programme of statutory 
impact assessments 
 

 strategic environmental, habitats, equalities etc 

 expect to need external support for some of the technical pieces. 
 

11. Transport Committee and Combined Authority updates and approvals, followed by a launch 
 

 
3.3 The indicative timeline for the development of the plan is as follows, taking the form 

of four main stages set out in Appendix Two to this note. 
 
3.4 As will be appreciated from the above, a political starting point is the framework set 

by the manifesto of the Metro Mayor following his election in May 2021.  An initial 
informal briefing session also took place recently with Cllr Robinson, Lead Member 
for Transport and Air Quality, who is supportive of the process, though anxious to 
see deliverables emerging as quickly as possible.  As such, the initial stages 
associated with the LTP4 process, involving the development of a “vision document” 
by autumn of 2021 is especially important to articulate the Metro Mayor‟s transport 
vision to a wide audience. 

 
 
4. Resource implications 
 
4.1 The production of the LTP involves a series of linked stages and officers have 

calculated a timescale of 18 months from start to finish based on earlier LTPs 
locally and across other CA areas.  This timeframe allows for: 
 

 the development of economic projections 

 modelling the impact of these in transport terns 

 allowing consultation to be factored in 

 undertaking strategic impact assessments and  

 securing regular updates to, and formal approval by the Transport Committee 
and by the Combined Authority.  

 
Depending on the numbers of stages associated with public and political 
consultation, these timescales could possibly be accelerated slightly. 

Page 34



BRIEFING PAPER 
 

Page 5 of 6 

4.2 An issue that has arisen in recent conversations and meetings concerns the 
potential review of “daughter strategies” that sit beneath the LTPs (Appendix One 
refers).  The review of these would incur significant work for LCRCA officers and 
risks detracting from the primary focus of developing a new LTP.  It is considered 
that work on any new strategies is best embedded within the wider, and more 
pressing task of developing a new and up-to-date LTP. Decisions would be 
taken at a later date on the need to refresh or replace any of the extant daughter 
transport strategies. 

 
4.3 However, it has been agreed that the following important exceptions are made:- 
 

a) The Road Safety Strategy is in the process of being reviewed, as the current 
strategy has largely expired.  A new strategy is needed to allocate Merseyside 
Police-related funding and activity (anticipated summer 2021); and  
 

b) The other important exception will be the development of a Bus Service 
Improvement Plan, that forms a requirement of “Bus Back Better”.  This will be 
the route for drawing down the significant DfT funds that have been made 
available for delivering the Government‟s ambition for bus. The submission 
deadline for the BSIP will be the end of October 2021. 

 
4.4 Resource-wise, it is also envisaged that the development of the plan would be 

undertaken internally by the LCRCA’s Policy team, supported of the Evidence 
& Intelligence team on the analytical and consultation work.  

 
4.5 There will be a need to draw in specialised input as needed for tasks that 

cannot be completed in-house.  This would include transport modelling expertise 
(via the transport planning and modelling contract that is now in the process of 
being re-tendered) and for the Environment Impact Assessments and Habitats 
Directive assessments that are of a highly specialised nature. 

 
 
5. Recommendations 
 
5.1 It is recommended that members of the Transport Committee:- 
 

a) Note the details set out above in relation to the process of developing a new Local 
Transport Plan for the city region to clearly articulate the new vision for transport; 
and 
 

b) Receive updates on development of the LTP, and on issues and challenges 
arising, as a standing item on future Transport Committee agenda and at informal 
briefing sessions.  This is to maintain close engagement and collaboration with 
elected members as the plan is shaped. 

  

Page 35



BRIEFING PAPER 
 

Page 6 of 6 

Summary of Current Transport Policy Context 
 

 
Name of Strategy Broad aims / messages 

Merseyside Local Transport 
Plan (2011) 
Halton Local Transport Plan 
(2011) 
 

These constitute the Combined Authority‟s statutory transport 
framework, which were adopted in 2011 as legal requirements.  
The two plans‟ strategies remain extant, though the delivery 
plans have expired.  The high level objectives are to ensure that 
transport supports economic growth, but at the same time 
reducing carbon and ensuring fairness and equity.    These are 
considered to be in synergy with the new, inclusive growth 
agenda 

Combined Authority Transport 
Plan (2019) 

Developed to bridge the two LTPs and provide updated short-
term policies in light of the Metro Mayor‟s manifesto and new 
policy and funding considerations.  It is a non-statutory plan that 
will be replaced by a statutory, LCR-wide Local Transport Plan 
in due course 

Mersey Ferries Strategy 
(2016) 
 
 

Resetting the role of the ferries as a leisure asset, and to seek to 
put them on a more sustainable footing, being loss-making 
services.  Highlights need for new vessels, and challenges the 
need for some of the existing termini 

Bus Strategy (2016) Grow bus patronage as a flexible and sustainable transport 
mode, and improve its quality and reliability through a Bus 
Alliance (Merseytravel / Operators / LAs working together in 
partnership).   

Rail Strategy (2018) Update of earlier Rail Strategy to reflect changing 
circumstances, notably the constraints upon the network as a 
result of forecast growth in Liverpool City Centre and at Central 
Station 

Local Journeys Strategy 
(2017) 

Recognises that many journeys are short, but too many are 
made by car.  Seeks to shift this balance in favour of walking 
and cycling, linked to the need for infrastructure and 
„placemaking‟ to achieve this  

Road Safety Strategy (2017) Addresses the rising number of people killed and seriously 
injured upon our roads, through a mix of engineering, 
enforcement and educational measures 

Rights of Way Improvement 
Plan (2018)  
 

Seeks to provide a joined up approach to improving rights of 
way by integrating the network with other modes and provide a 
positive contribution to delivering the Local Journeys Strategy 

Local Cycling and Walking 
Investment Plan  
(2019) 

Sets out a strategic approach to developing a cohesive network 
of high standard active travel routes across the LCR to allow 
people to walk and cycle for short journeys. 

Mersey Tunnels 
Long Term Operations & 
Maintenance 
Strategy    
(2019) 

Seeks to ensure that the Mersey Tunnels remain sustainable 
and efficient assets with short, medium and long term actions to 
meet future requirements.  The strategy has been endorsed by 
the Transport Committee, but has not yet been adopted by the 
Combined Authority.   

 

 

Page 36

https://www.sthelens.gov.uk/media/3600/local-transport-plan-for-merseyside-april-2011.pdf
https://www.sthelens.gov.uk/media/3600/local-transport-plan-for-merseyside-april-2011.pdf
https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/councildemocracy/TransportPolicy.aspx
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA-TRANSPORT-PLAN.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA-TRANSPORT-PLAN.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCR-Bus-Strategy.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_RAIL_STRATEGY_MAY18.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_LCL_JRNYS_STRATEGY.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Item-x-LCR-Road-Safety-Strategy-FINAL-2017-2020.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_ROWIP_AUG2018.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_ROWIP_AUG2018.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCR-LCWIP-Final-1.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCR-LCWIP-Final-1.pdf
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s41725/Enc.%201%20for%20Mersey%20Tunnels%20Long%20Term%20Operations%20and%20Maintenance%20Strategy.pdf
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s41725/Enc.%201%20for%20Mersey%20Tunnels%20Long%20Term%20Operations%20and%20Maintenance%20Strategy.pdf
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s41725/Enc.%201%20for%20Mersey%20Tunnels%20Long%20Term%20Operations%20and%20Maintenance%20Strategy.pdf
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s41725/Enc.%201%20for%20Mersey%20Tunnels%20Long%20Term%20Operations%20and%20Maintenance%20Strategy.pdf


 

1 
 

  

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

 

Our 4
th

 Local Transport Plan: 

Issues, challenges and goals 
 

Developing a vision for 

local transport to 2040  

 

 

  

1st Stage Consultation – Draft 2 

November 2021 

Transport Committee  

With drafting notes highlighted  

Page 37



 

2 
 

DEVELOPING THE VISION FOR OUR NEXT LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN 
 
Outline structure of this document 

 
 

1. What we’re setting out to do any why 
 

2. What is a Local Transport Plan and why is it important? 
 

3. Our process for developing a new Local Transport Plan 
 

4. Understanding the bigger picture – relevant legislation and policy 
 

5. The human angle – what are people doing and telling us? 
 

6. What we understand so far on our challenges and priorities 
 

7. Our emerging vision  
 

a. Headline objective  
b. Supporting goals 

 
8. Funding, Delivery and Monitoring 

 
9. Next steps 

 
 
 

 
 
 
  

Page 38



 

3 
 

1. What we’re setting out to do and why 
 

1.1 In his Election Manifesto, the Liverpool City Region’s Metro Mayor, Steve Rotheram sets out 
his commitment to: 
 

“….publish a comprehensive long-term plan for a London-style local 
transport system bringing together our buses, trains and ferries and 
combining them with a comprehensive cycling and walking network….” 

 
1.2 The related 2021-2024 Corporate Plan for the city region reaffirms the importance of 

connectivity as part of a fair, strong, clean and vibrant city region:- 

 

 
 

1.3 This document is the first step in delivering this commitment and in scoping and structuring 
the vision for a new, comprehensive Local Transport Plan (LTP) to serve the 1.6 million 
people who live in the Liverpool City Region.  The city region has a wealth of assets, including 
a comprehensive network of high quality bus services, the Merseyrail network as the jewel 
in the local rail network, a range of inter-city and inter-regional rail services, a growing 
network of dedicated walking and cycling routes, not forgetting the world famous Mersey 
Ferries service across the River Mersey. 
 

1.4 Equally, transport does not respect or follow administrative boundaries.  It is important to 
plan for the needs to the wider city region area, closer to a population of 2.5 million, who 

Page 39

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/corporate-plan/


 

4 
 

travel into, and across the city region and its wider travel-to-work-areas in North East Wales, 
Cheshire West and Chester, West Lancashire and Warrington.   

 
1.5 The Liverpool City Region is also an important gateway for people and visitors though its sea 

and airport, and connections onto other parts of the country are critical.  Liverpool is the 4th 
largest port in the country, accommodating a wide range of different cargo types and a total 
tonnage of 34.3 million tonnes in 2019. Traffic is increasing and the port is a significant 
current and future asset for the economy.  For freight, access to distribution depots and 
onward supply chains relies on a well-functioning transport network.  Before COVID-19, 
Liverpool John Lennon Airport had in excess of 5 million passengers per annum, with a focus 
on flights to European destinations, including 1.1 million passenger to the island of Ireland. 

 
1.6 At the same time, transport must respect and support the Metro Mayor’s clear vision for 

clean economic growth and recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, the need to tackle the 
poor air quality that stems for transport, and the decarbonisation of transport.  This all links 
to our wider vision to be a net zero emission producing city region by 2040 and, legally, by 
2050 nationally.  The city region also declared a climate emergency in the spring of 2019. 
 

1.7 This document sets out these issues and challenges in a logical order, leading to a series of 
suggested high level goals or priorities.  But it reflects that we do not yet have the answers 
to many questions that still abound on the future shape of travel and transport.  Developing 
the right responses, plans and investment priorities in our final LTP that we intend to publish 
in early 2023 requires us to have the best information and critically, buy in and support from 
across the city region and by the organisations and people who can make the change that 
we need.  We also know that the scale of the change that we need, in order to achieve this 
vision, is huge, but that the benefits for all are compelling. 
 

1.8 We welcome your views on the issues that we’ve identified in this discussion paper, and 
on whether you think we are planning the right course of action in response to these.   
 

  

Page 40

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/climate-emergency-declared-for-liverpool-city-region/


 

5 
 

2. What is a Local Transport Plan and why is it important? 
 
2.1 This document is the first stage in developing a new Local Transport Plan (LTP) for the 

Liverpool City Region.  Put simply, the purpose and role of an LTP is to set out a series of 
plans and policies and ambitions for transport services and transport investment over a set 
period of time. 

 
2.2 The city region is currently covered by two LTPs, known as “LTP3”, being the third in the 

series of LTPs since the introduction of this planning regime in 2000.  These third LTPs were 
developed in 2011.  There is a plan serving Merseyside, developed by Merseytravel as the 
Integrated Transport Authority at the time, and a separate, but aligned plan for Halton from 
when it was a unitary authority with transport planning powers prior to the establishment of 
the Combined Authorities.  These plans contained long-term strategies extending to 2026 
and short term, 5-year delivery plans.   

 
2.3 The plans are now a decade old, and are outdated, as their delivery plans have expired, plans 

and references to historic funding sources.  They also pre-date the creation of the Combined 
Authority, though the LTPs’ overall focus on supporting growth whilst reducing carbon and 
supporting equality of access remain relevant as high-level objectives. 

 
2.4 But, the time is right to develop a new, long-term LTP for the Liverpool City Region:- 
 

 As set out in the introduction, a new 4 year Mayoral term commenced in May 2021, and 
the Metro Mayor wishes to clearly articulate his vision for transport, through a London-
style network and plan and a new transport plan  
 

 The transport plan’s building blocks are being assembled now and include:- 
 

o new economic forecasts and the emerging Plan for Prosperity to set out our 
economic vision and our recovery plans post-pandemic 

o a Climate Action Plan to set out our decarbonisation plans, and 
o our Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) to set out a vision and framework for 

new development and infrastructure. 
 
These complementary activities provide the right context to allow us to understand 
what transport needs to “do” in response to wider demands and expectations.    
 

 Naturally, significant changes that have materialised since the LTPs were developed in 
2011 and that need translating into local policy.  Principally,  these include: the impacts 
and legacies of the COVID-19 pandemic, the net zero carbon agenda, the growth in the 
availability and use of alternative fuels, the planned abolition of new diesel and petrol 
vehicles, and big policy changes that make walking, cycling and bus use priorities for 
government, radically changing the focus of earlier policy and guidance. 
 

 the need for a clear, robust policy framework to underpin the process of supporting the 
new transport schemes and interventions and the new single transport settlement that 
may be announced at the autumn Spending Review and critically, future spending 
review submissions beyond 2025. 
 

2.5 Our new LTP will replace our two existing LTPs for the city region and in time, will update a 
series of existing, detailed strategies for different forms, or modes of travel. 

Page 41

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/governance/policy-documents/


 

6 
 

3. Our process for developing a new Local Transport Plan 
 
3.1 An LTP is a transport strategy for an area, setting out a vision, policies, a delivery programme 

and metrics to gauge success and overall performance in the delivery of its objectives. LTPs 
are used to bid for, prioritise and allocate funds, and provide the strategic narrative and 
rationale for specific schemes and interventions.  Government increasingly wants to see 
local areas develop LTPs as a framework for local action, and in particular, to help set out 
transport’s role in achieving zero-carbon. 

 
3.2 The process of developing a new LTP recognises that transport is a service - something that 

people need and often rely upon to do and achieve other things, but that transport is not a 
goal in itself.  Transport is a means of travelling to school or college, to work, buying food 
and goods, seeing people and places and critically, for moving goods, materials, and things 
that we all rely on and that sustain us.  We often only take note of transport when it does 
wrong or isn’t there. 

 
3.3 Because of this, transport is a demand that is influenced by other things, and we can’t plan 

transport in isolation.   That is why it’s important that we understand what we need our 
transport network to do and for what reason; whether it is supporting access to new homes 
and employment opportunities, to essential facilities, or providing access to and from places 
further afield, we need to be clear on what it’s expected to do.   

 
3.4 We also know that transport presents its own challenges and problems, whether it is 

through consuming raw materials – especially petrol and diesel from oil, producing harmful 
pollution, creating delay and inconvenience, or tragically, killing and injuring people on our 
roads.   If transport is not there, is of poor quality, is unreliable, or unaffordable, then this is 
a barrier to growth and an impediment to barrier for people, which in turn can lead to 
isolation and exclusion and in turn, lead to illness, unhappiness or poverty.   

 
3.5 This document sets out some of the main challenges and priorities that we have identified 

for transport in the run up to 2040 – the date when we have committed that the city region 
will emit net zero carbon.  We also set out a series of high-level themes, priorities and goals.    

 
3.6 The planned process for developing our LTP will be structured as follows: 
 

Stage 1 – Understanding the ‘drivers of change’ to develop a vision for transport 
 

 This entails understanding the economic change anticipated in the city region, where the 
new homes, jobs and developments will typically be based and what form they will take, and 
conversely where we envisage jobs may be lost.  

 The impacts of Brexit and arising from the COVID-19 pandemic are especially significant in 
this process – both significant uncertainties. 

 We are developing a new Plan for Prosperity to support the delivery of the Corporate Plan’s 
objectives and to provide a long-term economic and place-based vision for the City Region 
over the next decade and beyond. This Plan for Prosperity will informed by and influence 
other CA strategies, including the LTP. 

  

Page 42



 

7 
 

(Cont…) Stage 1 – Understanding the ‘drivers of change’ to develop a vision for transport 
 

 We have commissioned Oxford Economics to help develop new economic forecasts that will 
be used to inform our  Plan for Prosperity and other related plans, including the LTP.   

 This work includes a new economic baseline (i.e. what the economy and the wider LCR could 
look like based on current assumptions and approaches, including aspects such as demand 
for housing and new development, changes anticipated in our main town and retail centres, 
the impact of new jobs and services and leisure and tourism implications 

 Five economic scenarios are being developed and which will  to include high growth and a 
low growth scenarios to reflect current uncertainties.   

 We will also understand the priorities emerging from relevant legislation, national and local 
policies  

 We will review what members of the public are telling us, including an analysis of travel 
habits and trends 

 We will commission a Habitats Regulations Assessment, Equality Impact Assessment and a 
Health Impact Assessment will be commissioned, to shape our plans and programmes to 
ensure that there are no adverse or unintended consequences 

 
 

Stage 2 – Understanding what this change means for transport and transport emissions 
 

 Using the findings from the economic forecasts and this wider vision, we will then seek to 
understand the more detailed impact of these in transport terms, by developing transport 
scenarios that we can use our strategic transport model to assess.  

 This will include understanding how we think travel work and leisure patterns may change 
over time, where the main movements are likely to exist, the gaps that exist, and the impact 
of these possibilities.  These scenarios help to explore uncertainty, especially at a time 
where future transport demand – especially for personal travel – is very uncertain as a 
consequence of Brexit and COVID-19 

 The impact of the planned Freeport, shipping, port, marine activities and aviation will also be 
factored into our scenarios and our modelling  

 Allied to this, we need to understand movements of freight across the city region, and we 
need to understand the degree to which continued growth in home shopping and internet 
shopping will change demand for our freight and logistics parks across the city region, and 
also potential impacts on the city centre and town centre movements.  This will also help to 
develop and test solutions that may include freight consolidation centres, freight bike 
schemes, drones and district locker schemes.   

 The transport scenarios that we will develop will provide modelled demand data that can 
then be converted into carbon emissions to understand what the scale of gap may be to our 
net zero carbon trajectory, and what additional policy measures LCR needs to take. 

 
  

Page 43



 

8 
 

Stage 3 – developing a preferred strategy and transport policies and priorities 
 

 We will consider the feedback form the above processes including the understand the 
modelled scenarios to build on, and refine this vision 

 We will use our transport model and carbon models to test and inform a preferred strategy 
that meets the needs of the transport network whilst delivering on our priorities to 
decarbonise.  This will shape the priority interventions that are needed to deliver the vision, 
looking ahead to 2040, but in practice, the timeframes are likely to be shorter due to COVID 
uncertainties 

 We will undertake further engagement on our preferred strategy and understand people’s 
perceptions on this and what it might mean in practice 

 
 

Stage 4 – Developing a Delivery Plan 
 

 Levels of funding that the Combined Authority will have access to in the period leading to 
2040 are very uncertain, with the exception of national large-scale projects 

 Our delivery plan thus needs to best responds to the funding that we believe we’ll have 
access to, or else be able to secure, in order to support our transport strategy 

 As we expect the bulk of our funding to be available over the short-term (2022 to 2027) our 
delivery plan will be short-term, but which will include longer term aims and interventions 

 We will continue to test and validate our strategies and plans as required by legislation that 
governs new statutory plans and policies developed by transport bodies, including the 
independent Integrated Assessment covering aspects such as a Strategic Environmental 
Appraisal 

 
 
3.7 We are currently at Stage 1 in the above process and the indicative timeline for working 

through these stages inset out in the Next Steps in section 9. 
  

Page 44



 

9 
 

4. Understanding the bigger picture – relevant legislation and policy 

 
4.1 Stemming from the above, an important starting point in developing our core vision and 

goals for transport is to understand the wider policies and directives that affect 
development, movements and expectations for transport, and looks at the role of transport 
in addressing wider priorities or challenges.  

 
4.2 This context will also be used to help share the transport scenarios that we are in the 

process of establishing as outlined in xxxxx, and that we will use to test what impact these 
might have in transport and emissions terms.   

 
4.3 The diagram below summarises the main policy considerations at various levels:- 
 

 
 

4.4 The principal national, sub-national and more local priorities and considerations are 
summarised below 
 
 
National priorities 
 

4.5 Transport Investment Strategy (DfT) - Moving Britain Ahead, 2017 
 

4.5.1 The Transport Investment Strategy sets out how UK Government will, through the 
investment decision, respond realistically and pragmatically to recent challenges, 
and drive progress towards fulfilling the aims of the Industrial Strategy and putting 
the travelling public at the heart of the choices Government make. 

 
4.5.2 Investment must seek to create a more reliable, less congested, and better-

connected transport network that works for the users who rely on it; intensively 
used networks are ageing and face increasing demands, creating delays and 
undermining reliability. In places they don’t provide the connections people and 
businesses need. 

 

Page 45



 

10 
 

4.6 National Infrastructure Assessment, 2018 
 

4.7.1 Of the many important recommendations in the above infrastructure assessment a 
core issue relates to the condition of local transport assets, particularly local highway 
condition:- 

 

“Local road maintenance 
 
In recent years, insufficient funding has led to poor conditions on local roads, affecting 
road users throughout the country. Six per cent of urban local A roads are considered 
to be in poor or very poor condition, and 3 per cent of rural A roads.18 This creates 
hazards for road users, and also increases the long term cost of maintenance. The 
economic case for maintenance is very strong, since inadequate upkeep creates a risk 
that roads may need to be closed for emergency repairs….” (p.72) 

 
4.7.2 The commission recommend that government should make significant funding (£500 

million) available from 2025-35 for local highways authorities to address the local road 
maintenance backlog across the country 

 
 

4.7 National Infarstructure Commission - Better Delivery, 2019 
 
4.7.1 The National Infrastructure Commission (NIC) produced a report Better Delivery, 

emphasising the need for a clean freight network – linking this not just to 
decarbonisation but to other emissions and issues of congestion too. The report is 
strong in terms of urging the government to publish plans for the infrastructure that 
will decarbonise freight (both charging networks for ZEVs and rail electrification) but is 
ambivalent on modal shift. They also highlighted the need for local authorites to 
better consider urban freight – including consolidation centres – in their pland. 
 

4.7.2 The report also points to parallel issues related to decarbonisation – how the need to 
ensure a ‘clean’ freight transport system also deals with particulate emissions, 
congestion, etc.  The report indicates that building or widening roads is not a long-
term solution to tackling congestion in urban areas, being a matter of time before it is 
filled again.  

 

4.7.3 The report notes that there are no current commercially available Hydrogen or 
battery-electric HGVs, although believes these will be the most likely solutions for the 
future. For rail it comes down more in favour of electrification rather than batteries or 
hydrogen. modal shift is not capable of replacing all HGV journeys and will not be the 
long term solution to decarbonising road freight 

 

4.7.4 Among the recommendations considered within the report include banning the sale of 
new diesel HGVs from 2040 (, the need for local authorities need to consider urban 
freight within their infrastructure strategies, for example identifying the land 
necessary for new initiatives, including considering the case and incentives for 
consolidation centres. 

  

Page 46

https://nic.org.uk/app/uploads/CCS001_CCS0618917350-001_NIC-NIA_Accessible-1.pdf
https://nic.org.uk/
https://nic.org.uk/studies-reports/uk-freight/


 

11 
 

4.8 Road Safety Statement: A Lifetime of Road Safety - Moving Britain Ahead (DfT, 2019) 
 

4.8.1 This Statement sets out a road safety aspiration where the UK moves towards a 
“Vision Zero” approach to road safety.  This acknowledges that since road deaths 
and casualties are not merely the result of poor driving, of a transport system as a 
whole, from signage to road user education, from enforcement to infrastructure 
design and construction, avoidable road deaths and injuries should be reduced to 
an absolute minimum. 

 
4.8.3 Vision Zero is a strategy to eliminate all traffic fatalities and severe injuries, while 

increasing safe, healthy, equitable mobility for all. The Safe Systems approach, 
supported by Vision Zero, views human life and health as paramount to anything 
else and should be the first and foremost consideration when designing or 
redesigning a road network. 

 
4.8.4 It also recognises the need for a “hierarchy” of sources of danger and risk; road 

users most at risk in the event of a collision must be at the top of the hierarchy. 
 
 

4.8 Future of Transport (DfT - 2021) 
 
4.8.1 The main aims of the Future of Transport programme are to: 
 

 stimulate innovation in the transport sector 
 create new transport markets 
 secure a 21st-century transport system 
 secure the UK’s position as a world-leading innovator, decarbonising the 

transport system for the benefit of all society. 
 

4.8.2 Technology will drive radical changes in transport in the next ten years, with 
profound implications for transport users and businesses. Electrification, 
connectivity, automation, and real-time data collection and analysis are driving the 
development of new modes of travel and new ways to do business. 

 
4.8.3 Some of these changes – such as transport apps, electric vehicles, drones and early 

vehicle automation – are already here; the rest are likely to ramp up dramatically 
between now and 2030.  By improving how we do business and how we travel, this 
brings opportunities to advance decarbonisation, improve air quality, tackle 
congestion, and improve our communities and make them better places to live and 
work. 

 
 

4.9 Climate Change Committee – 6th Carbon Budget 
 
4.9.1 The Climate Change Committee reports an impact of COVID-19 restrictions that 

during 2020 emissions from surface transport dropped by 20.8%; but noted there 
needed to be a sustained reduction.  
 

4.9.2 Their 6th Carbon Budget provides a range of indicative targets for transport, including 
that – even with increasing ZEVs – car miles should be reduced by 9% by 2035 and 

Page 47

https://www.theccc.org.uk/


 

12 
 

17% by 2050; suggesting this should be via a combination of working from home, 
increased active travel, and more mode shift to public transport than pre-COVID-19. 

 

 
 
4.10 The National Bus Strategy – Bus Back Better, 2021 

 
4.10.1 The National Bus Strategy seeks to make buses a practical and attractive alternative 

to the car for more people. It seeks to make buses more frequent, more reliable, 
easier to understand and use, better co-ordinated and Cheaper and more like 
London’s, where these type of improvements dramatically increased passenger 
numbers, reduced congestion, carbon and pollution, helped the disadvantaged and 
got motorists out of their cars. 

 
4.10.2 Buses are also the easiest, cheapest and quickest way to improve transport, and that 

relatively small sums of money, by the standards of transport spending, can deliver 
significant benefits.  

 
4.10.3 The chart below highlights the challenges and trends locally, and pre-COVID in 

respect of bus patronage:- 
 

Page 48

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf


 

13 
 

 
 
 
4.10.4 There are a number of key elements to the Strategy, including: 

 

 Comprehensive networks and integration  

 Fares and ticketing  

 Infrastructure , with a significant focus on implementation of bus lanes where 
possible and technology to prioritise buses (e.g. at traffic lights);  

 Zero Emission vehicles  

 Accessibility  
 

4.10.5 The strategy acknowledges that the lasting impact on bus use remains unknown, 
with passenger numbers expected to fall from pre-COVID-19 levels – at least 
initially”; and that there “are likely to be several years of recovery.  Despite this, 
there is a clear opportunity to build back better and ensure that bus plays an 
important role in the economic recovery, supporting the LCR’s zero emission targets.  

 
4.10.6 From April 2022, local transport authorities will need to have an Enhanced 

Partnership  in place, or be following the statutory process to decide whether to 
implement a franchising scheme, to access the new discretionary streams of bus 
funding. 

 
4.10.7 Importantly, the Strategy sets out initial spending plans for the £3bn for buses in 

England outside London that will be the subject to Bus service Improvement Plans 
(see xxxxxx).  In these, Government expects to see plans for bus lane on any roads 
where there is a frequent bus service, congestion, and physical space to install one.  
Local authorities are advised to consider physical changes to roads’ footprints to 
allow the provision of continuous bus lanes. Where there is insufficient space for a 
bus lane, LTAs should consider point closures of some main roads to private cars, 
allowing through traffic on other main roads nearby.   Robust enforcement of traffic 
restrictions will be key.   

 

80

85

90

95

100

105

110

C
an

ge
 in

d
ex

ed
 t

o
 2

0
0

9
/1

0
 

Bus Journeys, LCR 

LCR London

England England excl. London

Page 49



 

14 
 

 
 
 
4.11 Gear Change: A Bold Vision for Cycling and Walking, DfT - 2020 
 

4.11.1 Gear Change sets out an ambitious clear vision for country to be a great walking and 
cycling nation.   Places are to be truly walkable and e made cycling a mass form of 
transit, with cycling and walking will be the natural first choice for many journeys 
with half of all journeys in towns and cities being cycled or walked by 2030.”   

 
4.11.2 The strategy notes now cycling and walking measures are no longer seen as an 

afterthought but have moved to the very heart of considerations for all transport 
policy and planning, at all levels of leadership.  Cycling is or will become mass transit 
and must be treated as such. Routes must be designed for larger numbers of cyclists, 
for users of all abilities and disabilities.” 

 
4.11.3 Gear Change introduces a clear link between standards and funding; schemes that 

are delivered using DfT funding that fail to adhere to the standards will either not be 
funded, or else funding can be clawed back.  The Transforming Cities Funding, that is 
available until the end of March 2023 is also explicitly subject to these requirements 

 

4.11.4 The strategy and related technical guidance recognise that traditional approaches to 
planning for and promoting walking and cycling must change to achieve this vision.  
The new design guidance sets out the much higher standards required if schemes 
are to receive funding, along with a number of failings which Government will either 
no longer allow at all, or will strongly discourage. The standards will be enforced by a 
new inspectorate, Active Travel England.  The extract below summarises some of the 

new approaches mandated in the technical guidance. 
 

Page 50

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf


 

15 
 

 
 

 
4.12 DfT Transport Decarbonisation Plan, 2021 
 

4.12.1 The DfT published the Transport Decarbonisation Plan that builds on the evidence 
established in the March 2020 paper Decarbonising Transport: Setting the Challenge. 
Overall the plan.  Many of the earlier publications summarised below have been 
cross referenced or reinforced in the plans, that: 

 

 Emphasises the importance of achieving net zero for transport 

 Contains suggestions on how each mode can be decarbonised 

 Identifies key ‘enablers’ for this to happen (including non-transport 
considerations) 

 Sets out the pathway to net zero carbon for transport following the above 
 

4.12.2 Reflecting uncertainty, the plan notes how post-COVID-19 demand for transport may 
change compared to pre-pandemic, but notes: that whille the reduction in use of 

Page 51

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/creating-the-transport-decarbonisation-plan


 

16 
 

public transport has been a short-term necessity, there is a need to ensure a speedy 
return to public transport and to support a growth in patronage. 

 
4.12.3 Importantly, the strategy reflects that a decarbonised transport network does not 

simply mean changing how we power our vehicles. It means we can make better use 
of limited road space for all users, and provide more mobility options, especially for 
short journeys that dominate UK travel.  Increasing road vehicle occupancy can 
significantly reduce carbon emissions as well as directly help tackle congestion when 
it displaces what would otherwise be additional road vehicle journeys. 

 
4.12.4 But equally, private vehicles clearly remain part of the mix of traffic and need to be 

proactively planned for an managed; the strategy notes that investment in the 
national traffic signal asset is needed to maintain an effective traffic management 
system. Traffic signal controls are essential for managing congestion, delay, and 
emissions.   Investing in the maintenance of this essential asset will not only improve 
emissions but also enable new technologies and data systems that will support the 
delivery of a digital and connected road network.  This is why continued high 
investment in the road network will remain as necessary s ever to ensure the 
functioning of the nation and to reduce the congestion which is a major source of 
carbon.  

 
4.12.5 The plan also sets out the following high timeframes and pathways to working 

towards the UK Government target of achievement net zero emissions by 2050:- 
 

2021 2030 2035 2040 2050 
 Introduce petrol 

with 10% 
bioethanol. 

 Jet zero 
consultation. 

 Hydrogen strategy 
produced. 

 Consult on ship-to-
shore power. 

 50% of journeys in 
towns & cities to 
be walking/cycling. 

 End sale of new 
petrol & diesel cars 
& vans. 

 End sale of non-
ZEV cars & vans. 

 End sale of non-
ZEV HGVs (up to 
26t). 

 World class 
walking/cycling 
network in place. 

 End of diesel 
traction on rail 
network. 

 End sale of all non-
ZEV new HGVs. 

 UK domestic 
aviation to achieve 
net zero. 

 Maritime to 
achieve net zero. 

 
 

Sub national 
 
4.13 Northern Powerhouse Independent Economic Review (TfN,2016) 
 

4.13.1 The Northern Powerhouse Independent Economic Review (NPIER) identified some of 
the key factors that contribute towards the economic gap between the North and 
the South, which included poor links and under investment in transport 

 
4.13.2 The Review set out a bold vision of economic transformation for the North that will 

rebalance the UK economy and increase international competitiveness, with a clear 
focus on transport infrastructure to improve connectivity and agglomeration 
between towns and cities. A transformed North in 2050 could generate: 

 
 £92 billion (15%) increase in GVA. 
 850,000 additional jobs. 

Page 52



 

17 
 

 4% higher productivity than in a business as usual scenario. 
 
 
4.14 One North: The Strategic Transport Plan (Transport for the North, 2019) 
 

4.14.1 The TfN Strategic Transport Plan (STP) is designed to rebalance decades of 
underinvestment and transform the lives of people in the North.   It outlines how up 
to £70 billion of investment to 2050 could contribute towards an additional £100 
billion in economic growth.  The plans include a major focus on transport investment 
and priorities include: 

 
 Northern Powerhouse Rai 
 Strategic Rail 
 Strategic Roads Study: Manchester North West Quadrant Northern Package 
 Integrated & Smart Travel 
 Freight & Logistics 
 International Connectivity 

 
 

4.14.2 Northern Powerhouse Rail is also especially important, and fully supported by the 
LCR in terms of its creation of much needed capacity on the rail network to 
accommodate new demand, especially new capacity for freight. 
 

4.14.3 The TfN Strategic Transport Plan is currently under review and its timetable for 
completion is March 2024 and will remain an important consideration as the new 
LTP is developed. 

 
4.14.4 In addition, TfN is analysing future travel demand scenarios. These are four realistic 

future scenarios developed in collaboration with partners to represent a range of 

Page 53

https://transportforthenorth.com/future-travel-scenarios/


 

18 
 

differing possible futures which may affect the demand of and nature of transport to 
2050, taking into account a wide range of factors including the economy, 
environment, spatial development, technology and public attitudes and behaviour.  
These will also inform the local transport strategies that have been identified in 
xxxxx. 

 

 

4.15 TfN Draft Decarbonisation Strategy and adaptation to climate change 

 

4.15.1 Transport for the North’s (TfN) Draft Decarbonisation Strategy is very much an 
evidence-led assessment, using scenarios to explore how far current plans and 
policies will go towards achieving zero carbon in a range of different futures. The 
strategy presents a range of suggested policies which local areas could follow to 
support their work, based around the three areas of Zero Emission Vehicles, Demand 
Management and Improvements of Conventional Vehicles. It also raises the need for 
transport schemes to consider the risks from climate change. 

 

 
 
 
4.15.2 A key part of the TfN Strategy that is not evident in the DfT document is embedding 

awareness of how climate change may affect the transport network. This 
emphasises how the risks from this should be embedded in policy and infrastructure 
planning as much as decarbonisation itself. Data is based on the predicted 4oC global 
temperature rise, should there fail to be global efforts maintaining global warming 
below 2oC.  

 

4.15.3 Key data highlighted includes, by the following estimates for England by 2050 – with 
all factors worsening by 2080 (shown by figures within brackets).  The link with the 
national maintenance backlog highlighted in XXX will be clear too:- 

Page 54

https://transportforthenorth.com/decarbonisation/


 

19 
 

 

 Summer temperatures +7.4oC above current average (+11.7oC) 
 Rainfall extreme intensity +20% higher than current levels (+40%) 
 Peak river flows +50% above current levels (+105%) 
 Sea level rise of +0.6m (+1.0m) 
 Storm surges increasing by +35% (+70%) 

 
 

Local 
 
4.16 LCR Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP), 2021 
 

4.16.1 As a requirement of the Bus Back Better strategy, the Combined Authority 
developed and published its Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) at the end of 
October 2021.  This will then be updated annually and reflected in our Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) as required by DfT.  

 
4.16.2 The LCR’s BSIP has been developed in collaboration with local bus operators, local 

authorities, community transport bodies and local businesses, services and people, 
and in order to secure an investment of £667.4m over the next three years.  This is  
enable the city region to transform bus services, and achieve the shared ambitions 
set out in Bus Back Better and the LCR’s Vision for Bus. maximise the funding 
available from the national £3b 

 

 Quick and reliable bus journeys 

 A comprehensive and integrated bus network 

 Straight forward ticketing and great value fares 

 An excellent passenger experience 

 An emission-free bus system  
 

4.16.3 To support delivery, we will reform our bus services by introducing either 
Franchising or an Enhanced Partnership, with the LCR setting out its preferred option 
in early 2022.  In 2020 the LCRCA agreed that Franchising was the emerging leading 
option for reform. 

 
 
4.17 LCR Road Safety Strategy, 2021 
 

4.17.1 As one of the most urgent and stark consequences of transport and movement, a 
priority has been to develop a new road safety strategy for the city region, but 
covering the Merseyside Road Safety Partnership area.  Going beyond earlier 
priorities to reduce the numbers of people killed and injured on the roads, the draft 
revised strategy is built around “vision zero” principles, and to eliminating deaths 
and injuries on the roads by 2040. 

 
4.17.2 This is about developing a “safe system” approach, reflecting that one death on the 

roads is one too many.  This is in contrast to stark numerical targets around casualty 
reduction in earlier strategies, with an acceptance that deaths and injuries will 
continue.  This new strategy begins with making roads and spaces safe to begin with, 
and aligned to new government policy (and funding) on sustainable travel and 
reducing the dominance of private vehicular traffic.  

Page 55

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCR_BSIP_2021.pdf


 

20 
 

4.17.3 Merseyside and Halton have separate arrangements for road safety due to the 
policing boundaries, and whilst this is a Merseyside strategy, a complementary 
approach is set to be developed for the Cheshire Constabulary area in the case of 
Halton. 

 
 

4.18 LCR Plan for Prosperity, 2022 
 

4.18.1 This plan is being developed in tandem with our LTP, and stems from a commitment 
in our CA Corporate Plan published in July.  The plan will supersede our draft Local 
Industrial Strategy and set out a new approach and ways of working to deliver 
meaningful, shared prosperity for the whole of Liverpool City Region.    

 
4.18.2 It will provide a 15 year vision for LCR, supported by refreshed evidence base plus 

updated economic forecasts from Oxford Economics, 
 
4.18.2 Help the City Region respond to the changing policy and economic environment 

Provide a long-term strategic narrative for the City Region and Consistent with the 
CA Corporate Plan and the key messages of the Metro Mayor manifesto 

 

 A Fairer City Region 

 A Cleaner City Region 

 A Stronger City Region 
 

Integrated Infrastructure for a connected City Region 
 -   Successful transport modal shift 
 -   Renewable energy generation that powers our ambitions 
 -  World class digital infrastructure and connectivity 
 -  Enhanced assets that drive trade and internationalisation 
 -  Enrichment of blue and green infrastructure 
 
To be reported at the January CA meeting 

 
 
4.19 LCR Climate Action Plan 
 

In development – our interim plan for Net Zero by 2040 
 
Integrates Air Quality challenges and action plan 

 
 

Page 56

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA-AIR-QUALITY-ACTION-PLAN-2020.pdf


 

21 
 

 
 
 
4.20 LCR Spatial Development Strategy 
 

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/lcr-our-places/  
 
+ Infrastructure development plan (IDP) 
 
Brief summary of latest position 
 
 
 
Brief Summary of core messages from above (decarbonise, clean and sustainable growth technology, 
modal shift, new priorities) 
  

Page 57

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/lcr-our-places/


 

22 
 

 
5. The human angle - what are people doing and telling us? 

 
5.1 We know that transport is an activity that affects everyone living, working in or visiting the 

city region in one way or another – whether through allowing us to travel where we need to 
get to, and in terms of our food and basic suppliers.   

 
5.2 Views also differ on transport and its effects, and some people are more affected by 

transport than others, whether through noise, poor air quality, congested streets, unsafe 
streets or being cut off.  The movement of freight in particular brings particular challenges to 
the city region, as  a port city region with important freight and logistics facilities.  For this 
reason, we are committed to developing our new LTP in an open and transparent way 
through its main stages, hence this document as a first stage in setting out our broad vision.   

 
5.3 At the same time, we have listened to views and concerns about transport through a wide 

range of recent consultations and engagement activities.   They form an important building 
block in what are vision for transport looks like, reflecting that we have a good understand of 
what people want and are asking for, and so are not starting our plan from a clean sheet of 
paper.  Recent engagement includes: 

 

 the #LCR listens process in 2019 

 engagement on our Vision for Bus 

 engagement on our plans for walking and cycling, including our Sustrans Bike Life report 

 tracker surveys of views and concerns during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
periods of lockdown 

 public engagement from climate action plan - awaited 
 

5.4 These views can be summarised as xxxxxxxx. (i.e people’s willingness to use alternatives but 
cost, convenience and infrastructure is lacking + key points from climate plan.)   

 
Travel trends pre-COVID 

 
5.5 Fundamentally, even when the infrastructure  is in place to allow people to travel in a range 

of ways, our plans are only as good as the choices that people make, ultimately.  The main 
issue is that too many trips are driven by private car, and too few are made o foot, by bike, 
by rail or by other clean modes.   

 
5.6 Looking at numbers of trips by car as a driver, LCR tends to reflect national patterns: this is 

the dominant mode, accounting for 42.7% of all trips. Active travel accounted for 23.2% of 
all trips – and although LCR sees fewer walking trips than nationally, it is slightly higher in use 
of bicycle.  Rail trips at 2.3% represents a lower mode share but is above the England 
average, outside of London. The LCR also sees a higher share of bus and taxi trips than 
nationally – 12.0% and 3.1% respectively. 

Page 58

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/lcrlistens-summary/
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/bike-life-liverpool-city-region/


 

23 
 

 

Sources: CWS, Merseytravel; National Travel Survey, DfT 

 
5.7 Currently relatively few LCR residents use methods of active travel (i.e. walking and cycling). 

Only 5% of residents cycle for travel at least once a week, compared to 6% nationally, while 
42% walk for travel at least once a week, compared to 42% nationally.  Not only does the 
low take up of active travel contribute to LCR’s poorer health profile, but it also means 
residents are more likely to use less environmentally friendly modes of travel 

 
5.8 Both nationally and locally there has been a long-run trend of increasing rail journeys -

+37.5% nationally and +21.2% locally. There was also a particularly large jump in rail 
journeys to and from the city region for longer distance journeys, of 64.1% - this may reflect 
both on increases in business trips as well as the city region’s continued growth as a visitor 
destination. 

 
5.9 In terms of bus, there has been a long-run decline in bus patronage, except (until recently) in 

London that has a different form of regulatory system.  Using the DfT dataset, over the last 
ten years bus patronage across LCR has fallen by -11.2%, compared to -16.7% nationally 
(excluding London).  However, through the LCR Bus Alliance and £50m investment being 
secured in the local bus offer, there has been a 16.2% increase in fare-paying patronage and 
a 91% passenger satisfaction ratings 

 
5.10 Although mode shift will be critical in achieving zero carbon – as well as addressing other key 

City Region objectives, improving health and reducing congestion – the switch to zero 
emission vehicles will also be an important part of the solution.  Although the take-up of 
electric vehicles is accelerating, this is lagging somewhat in the LCR compared to nationally – 
as at the end of 2020, there were 1.4 vehicles per 1,000 population, compared to 2.9 
nationally. 

 
The COVID dimension 

 
4.16 COVID changed travel and demand for travel in an unprecedented way, and overnight, as 

people were told not to travel, and to work from home where possible form the outset of 
the pandemic in March 2020.  Its impact on the wider economy and our forecasts is outlined 
in the section that follows. 

2
6

.1
%

 

1
.7

%
 

0
.3

%
 

4
0

.0
%

 

2
0

.9
%

 

0
.9

%
 

3
.2

%
 

5
.7

%
 

1
.0

%
 

2
5

.4
%

 

1
.6

%
 

0
.3

%
 

4
2

.9
%

 

2
2

.2
%

 

1
.0

%
 

1
.5

%
 

4
.2

%
 

1
.0

%
 

2
1

.3
%

 

1
.9

%
 

0
.2

%
 

4
2

.7
%

 

1
6

.0
%

 

3
.1

%
 

2
.3

%
 1

2
.0

%
 

0
.5

%
 

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%
45%
50%

%
 o

f 
al

l t
ri

p
s 

Mode share 

England (NTS) England excl. London (NTS) LCR (CWS)

Page 59



 

24 
 

4.17 The gradual unlocking of restrictions has not led to an immediate return in previous travel 
habits reflecting concerns around the relative safety of mass transit, and a wider, societal 
issue of homeworking and increasingly “hybrid” working, where people able to do so. The 
DfT’s All Change Travel Tracker (Feb/March 2021) found: 29% of UK adults reported working 
from home all the time in the preceding four weeks, with 13% some of the time. Those 
working exclusively from home more likely to be from higher income groups (42% exceeding 
£40,000), travelled by train once a week or more often (40%) pre pandemic; and cycled once 
a week or more (36%) pre pandemic.  

 
4.18 The demand for, and use of public transport  has changed very starkly, and is likely to 

continue to do so:- 
 

 

  

 

Source: COVID-19 transport use, DfT 

 
4.19 Latest findings from the ONS show half of adults are still very, or somewhat concerned about 

the effect of COVID-19 on their life right now.  Just 12% think life will return to normal within 
the next six months and over a third (36%) think life will return to normal in more than a 
year’s time. Around three in ten (32%) of working adults worked from home at some point 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Mar
20

May
20

Jul 20 Sep
20

Nov
20

Jan
21

Mar
21

May
21

Jul 21 Sep
21

Transport Use Dataset: Cars 

Cars Cars 2020 Cars 2021

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Mar
20

May
20

Jul 20 Sep
20

Nov
20

Jan
21

Mar
21

May
21

Jul 21 Sep
21

Transport Use Dataset: Rail 

Rail Rail 2020 Rail 2021

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Mar
20

May
20

Jul 20 Sep
20

Nov
20

Jan
21

Mar
21

May
21

Jul 21 Sep
21

Transport Use Dataset: Bus 

Bus Bus 2020 Bus 2021

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

300%

350%

Mar
20

May
20

Jul 20 Sep
20

Nov
20

Jan
21

Mar
21

May
21

Jul 21 Sep
21

Transport Use Dataset: Cycle 

Cycle Cycle 2020 Cycle 2021

Page 60

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandwellbeing/datasets/coronavirusandthesocialimpactsongreatbritaindata


 

25 
 

within the last seven days (25th August to 5th September); with 57% travelling to work 
(exclusively and in combination with working from home).  
 

4.20 In travel terms, a range of studies suggest that confidence in using public transport has 

increased over time, with the majority of users feeling safe travelling on bus or train; however, 

recent findings suggest journey satisfaction declining as services become busier with less 

space to social distance. Safety measures remains forefront in the decision to travel, as well as 

longstanding issues, such as the frequency, reliability and cost of travel.  

 

4.21 A DfT survey of UK business decision-makers that undertook business travel before the 

pandemic found only 35% of businesses had continued to conduct business travel during the 

pandemic. Of those that had continued business travel, this was less frequently and involved 

fewer staff. Car as the main mode for business trips increased significantly, with a decrease in 

long distance and inter-city train services.  

 
Uncertain times 

 
5.11 We understand that some stark choices will be needed in planning for transport – funds are 

finite, the implications of COVID-19 on travel, spend and personal behaviour are significant, 
and some of our challenges decarbonising, that they will require us to things in very different 
ways.   

 
5.12 Planning for continued growth in car ownership and car growth is no longer an option as we 

transition to a zero carbon future, and as we set out in the sections that follow. Transport and 
travel is also changing in response to changes in attuite linked to new, more flexible shared 
forms of travel being available – the pilot escooter scheme in Liverpool, app-led taxi services, 
car sharing schemes, bike sharing and the promise of technology changing way that things 
move – drones, autonomous vehicles, lorry platoons and other technologies.   

 
5.13 But we cannot underestimate the need for us all to make different choices to make the 

difference, and that without practical action and support from people who travel, the policies 
and proposals in our new LTP will not have the desired effect.  

 
 
 
 

  

Page 61

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1010170/business-travel-during-covid-19-a-survey-of-uk-businesses.odt


 

26 
 

6. What we understand so far on our challenges, priorities and opportunities? 
 

6.1 Building on the issues set out in the earlier sections, there are a number of clear challenges 
and priorities that can be identified for the Liverpool City Region.  The early issues and 
implications from our economic forecasting work summarised in xxxx are also identified, 
together with aspects that we believe will have an impact on ways of working, travel 
demand and travel choice.  The issues and priorities can be grouped as follows:- 

 
6.2 Supporting recovery from the pandemic and building an inclusive economy 
 

6.2.1 In addition to the direct travel and behavioural impacts summarised in the previous 
section, it will be completely apparent that COVID-19 has had a significant impact on 
our economy.  The LCR’s economy shrank by an estimated 10.2% in 2020, but 
economic forecasts suggest the economy is expected to recover relatively quickly 
from the impact of COVID-19. It is expected to grow by 8.1% in 2021 and 6.8% in 
2022. Continued economic growth, along with jobs growth, is likely to increase 
demand for transport over the coming decades. 

 
6.2.2 Before COVID-19, the city region had seen economic growth and was closing gaps 

with national averages on certain indicators, particularly in the labour market. 
However, LCR still faces significant income and productivity gaps with the rest of the 
country. GVA per head is 29% lower than national levels, while GVA per hour worked 
is 15% lower. 

 
6.3.3 These performance gaps are driven by a range of factors including high economic 

inactivity, poor health, low skills and high levels of deprivation. LCR has one of the 
highest economic inactivity rates in the country, while nearly half of its 
neighbourhoods are in the top 20% most deprived areas nationally.  

 
 

 

Source: ONS Annual Population Survey, 2005 - 2020 

 
 

 

64%

66%

68%

70%

72%

74%

76%

78%

80%

82%

2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019

E
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r

a
te

 

Liverpool City Region North West England

Page 62



 

27 
 

6.3.4 The City Region also has longstanding challenges linked to deprivation, with poor 
health and disability being a particular problem. In 2020, 29% (about 68,000) of 
economically inactive residents were out of work due to long term sickness – this 
compares to 23% nationally1.  

 

Figure 1: Proportion of economically inactive due to long term sickness, 2020 

 

Source: ONS Annual Population Survey, 2020 – NB ADD WIRRAL  

 

 
Liverpool City Region LSOAs in the top 20% most deprived IMD deciles overall 

 

                                                           
1
 ONS, Annual Population Survey, 2020 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton St. Helens Liverpool
City Region

Proportion of economically inactive due to long term sickness

North West

England

Page 63



 

28 
 

6.3.5 The 2021 Sport England, Active Lives Survey indicated that on the whole residents 
from the LCR (70% stating they are active or fairly active) were less active than those 
residing within the North West (71%) and England (73%).  There is a direct link 
between levels of activity, personal health and economic inclusion. 

 

6.3.6 Looking ahead, the findings of our economic forecasts discussed in xxxxxx indicate 
that the LCR has the potential to further strengthen its profile as a global, confident 
and outward looking City Region. Underpinned by its demonstrable, distinctive 
research excellence and world-leading innovation assets, LCR is a strong R&D 
economy with potential to make a national contribution. Alongside the strength of 
its port, airport and associated sectors, LCR has the potential to drive productivity 
and export growth across the country. The LTP will have a role to play in supporting 
LCR’s global competitiveness. 

 

Indexed change in Gross Value Added (GVA), base = 2016 

 

Source: Oxford Economics, 2021 

 
 
6.3.7 Economic forecasts also show that the LCR’s population is not expected to grow 

significantly, and the working age population is expected to shrink. This may 
contribute to a reduction in transport demand, particularly for leisure purposes. 

 
 

85

90

95

100

105

110

115

120

125

In
d

e
x
 o

f 
G

V
A

 (
B

a
s
e

 =
 2

0
1

6
) 

Liverpool City Region North West UK

Page 64



 

29 
 

Population change (index = 2019) 

 

Source: Oxford Economics, 2021 

 
6.3.8 While the total population is expected to remain relatively steady over the forecast 

period, it is anticipated that the working age population will decrease significantly. 
Between 2019 and 2045, the working age population is likely to decrease by 7.4% in 
LCR. This is a significantly larger rate of decline than regionally and nationally. 

 
6.3.9 This trend extends into the LCR’s wider functional area, with its hinterland of West 

Lancashire, Warrington, Cheshire West & Chester, Flintshire and Wrexham projected 
to see an even larger decrease in working age population. 

 

Working age population change (index = 2019) 

 

Source: Oxford Economics, 2021 

 
 

90

92

94

96

98

100

102

104

106
P

o
p

u
la

ti
o
n

 c
h

a
n

g
e

 (
in

d
e

x
 =

 
2

0
1

9
) 

Liverpool City Region Wider Functional Area

North West UK

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

102

W
o
rk

in
g
 a

g
e

 p
o

p
u

la
ti
o
n

 
c
h

a
n

g
e

 (
in

d
e

x
 =

 2
0

1
9

) 

Liverpool City Region Wider Functional Area

North West UK

Page 65



 

30 
 

3.3.8 Jobs growth is expected to continue, particularly in higher value, service sectors. It is 
anticipated that there will be a large decrease in the number of manufacturing jobs, 
while the number of jobs in service sectors will likely increase.  The largest growth 
sectors are expected to be human health, professional and scientific and admin and 
support, while leisure and tourism sectors are expected to continue to grow. 
 

3.3.9 Depending on the extent to which these jobs can be done remotely, the anticipated 
jobs growth may increase transport demand for both work and leisure. While 
population growth is expected to be relatively slow in the LCR, jobs growth is 
anticipated to outstrip regional and national levels. This will mostly be driven by 
residents moving from inactivity or unemployment and into unemployment.  As of 
2019, LCR’s economic inactivity rate of 21% was one of the highest rates in the 
country. However, by 2045, it is expected to come down to roughly national and 
regional averages at 11%. This represents a decrease in the number economically 
inactive of around 105,000. 

 
 

6.4 Decarbonising the economy and transport 

 
6.4.1 While LCR has made significant progress on reducing its carbon emissions, there is 

still work to be done if it is to meet its decarbonisation targets. Transport emissions 
remain high and contribute a growing share of total emissions. Reducing transport 
emissions will be key to LCR achieving its targets. Alongside its substantial 
decarbonisation, LCR will also take advantage of its natural assets to become a 
pioneer of the Green Industrial Revolution. 

 

 

Sources: UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005-2019, BEIS;  Sub-national 

road transport fuel consumption in the United Kingdom 2005-2019, BEIS 

 
 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

K
t 

C
O

2
(e

) 

LCR transport emissions 

Road (Motorways) Road (A roads)

Road (Minor roads) Diesel Railways

Transport Other

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

700,000

800,000

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

kt
 O

il 
Eq

u
iv

 

LCR road transport energy use 

Diesel cars Petrol cars Bus Motorbikes

Diesel LGVs Petrol LGVs HGVs

Page 66



 

31 
 

 
 

6.3.2 The need to achieve zero emissions is now a key priority, and although the target 
set by the UK government is 2050, the LCR has declared a climate emergency 
with 2040 as a local target.   The Linear Pathway equates to taking some 30,000 
fossil fuel powered cars off the road in LCR per year either by switching to 
electric vehicles, or through increases in public transport use and active travel.  
Decarbonisation also brings benefits that address some of the economic 
challenges noted above, including improved health and less congestion and new 
economic opportunities for technologies.  There are different mechanisms for 
different forms of travel, including scaling up ultra-low emissions vehicles, 
increasing freight on rail and increasing mode shift to public transport.  

 
6.3.3 We know that emissions are more closely aligned by distance, so, whilst mode 

shift to active travel will help deal with many issues, it will not on itself hugely 
contribute to reducing carbon emissions, which come more from longer distance 
trips. Understanding potential for increased public transport, working from home 
and spatial planning that reduces travel demand all have a role to play in 
reaching net zero. 

 

6.3.4 Section 5 has also highlighted the challenges to decarbonisation that stems from 

the COVID-19 pandemic.  This includes ongoing concerns around the cleanliness 

of clean, mass transit, and the viability of public transport as a result of changes 

to the way that people are working and travelling.   

 

6.3.5 As travel behavior continues to readjust with COVID-19, research from a number 
of sources suggests:-   

 

 an increasing number of journeys are being made across all modes, 

however many people continue to have concerns about the virus and see 

car as the safer option over public transport.  

 Confidence in using public transport has increased over time, with the 

majority of users feeling safe travelling on bus or train;  safety measures 

remain forefront in the decision to travel, as well as longstanding issues, 

such as the frequency, reliability and cost of travel.  

Page 67



 

32 
 

 Reinforcing the messages that public transport is safe, as well as promoting 

the benefits of new active travel infrastructure, will be important, 

particularly to encourage more sustainable travel behaviour in the future. 

 

6.3.5 Although a significant number of trips made by car are less than 2km, with there 

being the potential to change to more active travel, a majority of emissions come 

from longer distance trips, with more mode share on public transport being an 

issue – especially in recovering demand post-COVID-19. LCR has some very good 

levels of connectivity at a local and national level, but there are also some 

significant gaps – including with its hinterland – which may be deterring mode 

shift. 

 

6.3.6 At the same time, freight traffic looks set to increase, especially from light goods 

vehicles, which have increased significantly over recent years, driven by 

increasing home shopping and internet deliveries.  But we have gaps in our 

knowledge on the movements, and the origins and destinations of much of our 

freight.  We are seeking to address this through detailed study that is currently 

underway around the destination of port freight, which we recognise as a 

priority, and that we will feed into the next stages of the LTP’s development. 

 

6.3.7 Radically increasing the amount of walking and cycling across the city region is 

also core to reducing carbon emissions, and this is reflected fully in the 

Government’s Gear Change strategy in (xxxxx).  The challenges of securing public 

acceptability of new cycle lanes and the associated need to take capacity away 

from cars and general traffic to give active travel the desired space and priority 

have also been significant.  The Department for Transport has been critical of 

local authorities that have been slow to reallocate space for cyclists or have 

removed cycle lanes without evidence in response to “bikelash” – local 

opposition to the introduction of walking and cycling infrastructure.  Examples of 

resistance to the introduction of cycle lanes are also apparent at a local level. 

 

6.5 Responding positively to the focus of new funding 
 
This section will briefly summaries the focus of new funds and the rules and constraints 
especially form the Spending Review on 27/10.  The actual funding will be covered in section 
8 – Delivery. 
 
 
In his recent Budget and Spending Review on the 27th October 2021, the Chancellor 
confirmed a £5.7 billion investment in sustainable transport settlements for the city regions.   
As part of the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) that will take effect 
from April 2022, the Liverpool City Region is set to receive £710 million over the five year 
period. 
 
Point here is that the focus is on Decarbonisation, so bus, active travel, sustainable travel in 
Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS).   
 

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-travel-schemes-supported-by-government-funding
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-travel-schemes-supported-by-government-funding


 

33 
 

Uncertainties/challenges to stem from Spending Review - CRSTS, Active travel capital, 
BSIP monies, Rail funding Integrated Rail Plan 

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/city-region-sustainable-transport-
settlements-developing-proposals/city-region-sustainable-transport-settlements-
guidance-for-mayoral-combined-authorities  

 

 
 
“To succeed, bids must clearly show how they will serve the following objectives, shared by the 
government and all MCAs: 
 
- driving growth and productivity through infrastructure investment 
- levelling up services towards the standards of the best 
- decarbonising transport, especially promoting modal shift from cars to public transport, 
walking and cycling” 
 
 
“City regions generally have mature road networks, but these ultimately have finite capacity. As 
we have seen in London, we would expect congestion to increase significantly as places grow. 
That is why public transport and active travel are the areas most in need of levelling up and car 
ownership in many parts of the 8 regions is low” 
 
 

  

Page 69

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/city-region-sustainable-transport-settlements-developing-proposals/city-region-sustainable-transport-settlements-guidance-for-mayoral-combined-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/city-region-sustainable-transport-settlements-developing-proposals/city-region-sustainable-transport-settlements-guidance-for-mayoral-combined-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/city-region-sustainable-transport-settlements-developing-proposals/city-region-sustainable-transport-settlements-guidance-for-mayoral-combined-authorities


 

34 
 

 
7. Vision and draft goals for the transport plan 

 
7.1 The policy context and issues highlighted in the preceding sections form an important  

starting point in the process of developing a robust LTP.  It is important to understand the 
overview of the national, regional and local guidance and strategies and understand what 
transport is expected to achieve and to support.  From this, a draft vision and supporting 
goals have been developed.   
 

7.2 Again this are in draft form and will be revised based on feedback from this consultation and 
engagement process, and also from the scenario development and testing work that will be 
undertaken is outlined in XXXX. 
 

7.3 The proposed high level vision for the plan is as follows:- 

 
 

“To plan for, and deliver a clean, safe, resilient, accessible and inclusive 
London-standard transport system for the movement of people, goods 
and freight in a way that delivers our vision and to become a net zero 
carbon emitting city region by 2040” 
 
 

6.1 We have identified 5 goals to guide our plan and next stages of work.  These all have equal 
status and are mutually dependent:- 

 
 

GOAL 1  Ensure that transport supports post-pandemic recovery, 
sustainable growth and development, and that our transport plan, 
Plan for Prosperity, Climate Action Plan and Spatial Development 
Strategy are fully aligned 

 
 

a) Economic prosperity is driven by many factors, such as the availability of a skilled 
workforce, training facilities, investment decisions, proximity to supply chains and the 
availability of land, amongst others.  It  will be essential that our new LTP is designed to 
deliver transport policies and measures that support clean growth by responding to 
the changing economic environment that we foresee.  As we have set out, transport 
can help build a stronger, more balanced economy by enhancing productivity, 
responding to the demands of local growth priorities.  It can also help to share the 
benefits of growth more evenly between different places, as we know that come 
communities feel isolated and left behind.   
 

b) We will need the right policies and priorities in the LTP to address some of these deep-
rooted and long-standing socio-economic challenges that we face and also the adverse 
impacts of transport are minimised. 
 

c) By “sustainable growth”, we refer to growth that is not at odds with social inclusion and 
environmental constraints or limits – in transport terms, this must mean that growth 

Page 70



 

35 
 

does not lead to a rise in car use, congestion, a culture of car dependency, pollution 
from harmful emissions and from carbon dioxide, poor health and road injuries.  
Equally, it is about linking opportunity and need and ensuring that people are not left 
vulnerable or isolated by a lack of access to transport for whatever reason.  
 

d) The LTP therefore has an important role to play in supporting sustainable economic 
growth through better access to essential services, providing the right travel choices, 
and in a safe and effective way, including:- 

 

 Opening up land for future commercial, employment and residential development 
by all forms of travel 

 Improving journey times for residents and businesses 

 Promoting  quality of place and active travel that is good for healthy, convenient 
access to everyday facilities 

 Providing more affordable travel and supporting equal travel opportunities for all 

(i.e. especially people who live in areas poorly service by transport, do not have 

access to, or do not wish to have access to a private vehicle) 

 Improving access to leisure, parks and green space 

 Supporting equal travel opportunities for all, not simply people with access to, and 

who can afford transport or who can afford, especially for work and training 

 Improved intra-city transport links to the rest of the North West and the North, will 

support greater collaboration between regions universities, innovation assets and 

new opportunities within high value employment. 

 
e) As the earlier sections show and linked to our forecasting work, while overall 

employment is expected to increase over the coming decades, the composition of 
employment is likely to change.  It is anticipated that there will be a large decrease in 
the number of manufacturing jobs, while the number of jobs in service sectors will likely 
increase.  The largest growth sectors are expected to be human health, professional and 
scientific and admin and support, while leisure and tourism sectors are expected to 
continue to grow.  We will need to understand the implications of growth and 
investment for travel demand and movements, including the  impacts of homeworking 
for people in service sectors that do not need to be based in an office on a daily basis.   
 

f) Crucially, we must use the current opportunity that exists through the Plan for 
Prosperity and Spatial Development Strategy to work collectively as a city region to 
align our plans; this will include influencing decisions around new housing, retail, 
employment and investment that we want to see, where it is best located and how we 
will support employers and employees alike, and in a way that support the supports this 
transport vision.  Equally, setting the right parameters, support packages and criteria to 
guide new development and growth is vital.  As a core principle, we must prioritise sites 
that are not car-dependent, highly accessible and highly integrated by clean, zero 
emissions transport – especially by foot, bike, bus and rail.  This will link directly into 
our wider Climate Action Plan to support our trajectory to become a net zero carbon 
emitting city region by 2040.  This is a focus in the Goal that follows. 
 

g) Some of our economic activities involve transport and movement by their very nature.  
These include our ports and airport, our escooter pilot in the city centre, and our 
logistics sites and activities.  Tackling the adverse impacts and consequences of air and 
port hubs and freight movements in particular must be a priority, in order to achieve 

Page 71



 

36 
 

sustainable growth.   In support of our plans for the LCR Freeport, linked to the 
potential of the Port of Liverpool and our key logistics sites in Parkside, Widnes and 
Birkenhead, we will also develop better evidence on the freight flows from through the 
port. We have commissioned a study has been commissioned to do this, and so that we 
can better plan for freight movement in a way that is efficient, economically viable and 
supports our net zero carbon commitments. 

 
h) We also understand the important role of the digital agenda for our city region, both as 

an employer and as a means of accessing services, learning and working remotely.  With 
unique assets as a city region, such as the Hartree Supercomputer in Daresbury linked 
to our planned Liverpool LCR Connect fibre spine, we can also ensure that people can 
perform essential functions without needing physically needing to travel, and with the 
associated benefits for personal time and through reduced emissions.  We also know 
that digital innovation has the potential to transform how transport is provided and 
managed and how goods can be moved more efficiently.   

 

GOAL 2 Achieve net-zero carbon emissions by 2040 whilst safeguarding and 
enhancing our environment 

 
a) As we have shown, the LCR has made good progress on reducing carbon emissions; since 

2010, LCR has seen a 32% decrease in per capita emissions compared to 27% regionally 
and 28% nationally.  However, emissions from the transport sector in LCR have 
remained steady over the past decade. Transport now contributes 34% of all LCR 
emissions compared to just 23% in 2010. 
 

b) In developing the nest stages of our LTP, we need to understand the best types of 
actions, and the scale needed to reduce transport emissions from 34% to net zero, and 
within the funds that we will hold or can realistically secure.  This may require some 
difficult choices.  Whilst there must be a focus on short trips when it comes to demand 
management and mode share, carbon emissions are equally linked to trip distance, and 
longer journeys that emit high levels of carbon will require a strong shift to bus and rail 
from private transport.  There is a direct link between reducing carbon and reducing 
other harmful emissions from transport in a way that supports the priorities in both the 
national and local air quality strategies.  

 

c) The scenarios that we develop guide our strategy will need to include factors such as the 
future vehicle fleet mix as we transition from petrol and diesel.  This is to understand the 
scale of any shortfalls in our carbon reduction trajectory, and hence, what additional 
policy measures LCR needs to take.  But more data is needed on an ongoing basis to 
understand how these factors are changing post-COVID-19; for example, whether 
increased home working is helping reduce longer distance trips, or whether this is a 
short-lived trend.  These answers may take some time to become clear. 

 

d) But we know that securing a huge increase from the use of cars to walking, cycling, 
and public transport is a key solution. This is possibly made much harder by the COVID-
19 impacts and concerns that we highlight, hence the need to overcome any perceived 
and actual barriers.  Ambitious plans to make buses more attractive, punctual  and 
accessible are vital.  Likewise, the unique assets that we have through the Merseyrail 

Page 72

https://www.lcrconnect.com/


 

37 
 

network, linked to the exciting new rolling stock being introduced, and that will double 
passenger capacity, provides a real alternative for people living on its catchment to use 
to access work, leisure, education, and shopping.   
 
Plug in key actions from final Bus Services Delivery Plan priorities – October 20201 
 

e) Especially for our areas that are poorly served by the rail network, ensuring better 
connectivity by bus, bike and on foot with be a priority.  Simple ticketing is needed to 
take out the guesswork of planning for travel, especially where multiple journey legs or 
connections between different operators or transport types are needed. More flexible 
ticketing is important in supporting uncertainty and change, and as people respond to 
more flexible, “hybrid” ways of working in an office and at home.   
 

f) We know that the severe capacity constraints at Central station mean that the station 
will be unable to serve its critical purpose as a low carbon gateway to the city centre, to 
the universities, and growth areas like the Knowledge Quarter.  Its role as an 
interchange between all Merseyrail line and in supporting onward journeys will also be 
prejudiced.  Joint action with government to develop capacity solutions for Central, in a 
way that also support and complements the major “Circus” commercial development 
planned above the station at Central Village in the city. 
 

g) Decarbonising freight will be vital in the development of our LTP, and we already know 
the importance of creating additional rail capacity in supporting the shift from road-
based to rail-based transport.  The reality is that the current rail network is at capacity in 
many places, with no space to accommodate more, typically slower moving rail freight.  
This is related in our support and advocacy for the development of a new, twin track rail 
line to Liverpool via Northern Powerhouse Rail from the proposed High Speed 2 line in 
Warrington.  We know that other significant rail constraints will need to be addressed to 
support this shift to rail. 

 

h) It is important to be realistic and to accept that there is no simple “technical fix” to 
decarbonising transport; whilst the electrification of transport will reduce emissions and 
pollution, we risk simply switching from a culture often dependent on private petrol and 
diesel vehicles, to a culture that is dependent on electric or zero emission vehicles if we 
don’t plan movement and travel in a different way.  This also risks simply switching one 
set of problems for different problems and challenges, including growing congestion, the 
dominance of cars and vans, community severance, the need for car parking, further 
conflict and competition for roadspace, and road safety.    

 

 
 

Page 73



 

38 
 

i) The wider safety and quality of life issues implications of this are addressed further in 

Goal 3 below, but it is also important to understand the technical and commercial 

limitations to a technological solutions such as this, articulated very clearly in 

government guidance on the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement:-  

“…simply relying on the electrification of road transport will not be viewed as 

sufficient to meet decarbonisation objectives and the UK's legal targets, particularly 

the medium-term (2035) target. By 2027…the Society of Motor Manufacturers and 

Traders' central forecast is that less than 15 per cent of vehicles on the road will be 

zero-emission….. 

….Modal shift plans are therefore also strongly required: proposals should show how 

they will encourage people (and in some cases deliveries) to switch from cars to 

active travel and public transport, how they should prioritise such modes, and that 

plans will not lead to overall increases in car use or car modal share….” 

a) Not all options to decarbonise transport are related to transport; the right investment 
decisions, design considerations, planning policies and planning decisions are critical.  
This links closely to the aims of Goal 1.  Good planning principles can include concepts 
such as “20 minute neighbourhoods”, whereby mixed use development of homes, 
workplaces, schools, and services are prioritised.  Equally, developments and investments 
where walking, cycling and penetration by high quality public transport will make low 
carbon, healthy travel the dominant, everyday forms of travel.   
 

b) We recognise the challenges associated with international transport emissions.  As a port 
city region, the LCR sees significant emissions from diesel-powered shipping, that must be 
tackled.  But at the same time, encouraging the of the LCR’s ports for good bound for 
markets in the north and midlands can deliver a net emissions reduction for the UK as a 
whole; imports tend to focus on historically important ports, but a continued reliance on 
eastern and southern ports for imports that then need to be carried by road and rail to 
markets in the north and midlands is undesirable.  The need to decarbonise, and tackle the 
adverse impacts of the carriage of freight from the LCR’s ports must prevail, in line with 
principles underpinning our strong Freeport offer. 

 
c) Aviation is clearly a big challenge for decarbonisation and our zero carbon vision, 

especially if the UK’s Jet Zero ambitions to reach net zero aviation by 2050 are not 
realised.  At the same time LCR’s economy is linked to international visitor markets.  If the 
phenomenon of flygskam (the reluctance to fly on grounds of principle) takes hold, there 
will be a need to consider how to radically transform non-aviation links. 

 

d) Our analysis of post COVID-19 trends also show how important it will be to continue to 

provide reassurance and positive messaging , in order to encourage the sustainable 

transport decisions that are essential to support decarbonisation.  The alternative will be 

a car-based recovery that does not support the principles articulated in this vision. 

  

Page 74

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/achieving-net-zero-aviation-by-2050
https://www.bbc.com/worklife/article/20190718-flygskam


 

39 
 

 

GOAL 3 Improving health and quality of life through transport – safer, more 
attractive streets and places used by zero emission transport 

 
a) This goal is closely related to Goal 2 on decarbonisation, but with a focus on promoting and 

funding healthy forms of transport, and equally, addressing the adverse impacts and 
consequences of transport.  These health challenges stem directly from nitrogen dioxide and 
particulate matter from engines, exhausts and tyres, together with noise, stress and 
disturbance, from heavy traffic.   
 

b) Deaths and injuries on our roads are a stark and tragic reminder of the trade-offs that 
society has accepted in balancing transport freedoms with health, and which is no longer 
acceptable as we move to “Vision Zero”, discussed further below.   
 

Direct link to new Road Safety Strategy – going to Transport Cttee / LCRCA November 2021 – 
bring in key points.   
 
 

c) Allied to this, our low levels of active travel exacerbate poor levels of health across the city 
region, closely linked to the economic disparities that we have set out in section xxxxxxx.    
Not only does the low take up of active travel contribute to LCR’s poorer health profile, but 
it also means residents are more likely to use less environmentally friendly modes of travel.  
We also know that more walking and cycling is good for mental health, as well as physical 
health and wellbeing. 
 

d) The focus in this goal is on creating places and movement designed around the need of 
people, rather than vehicles.  One bus can take the place several dozen vehicles on the roads 
and the importance of reallocating road space and priorities for buses is clear from Bus Back 
Better and in new funding stipulations.  Public transport users and motorists are also 
pedestrians, cyclists, scooter, or wheelchair users at particular stages of their journey; 
prioritising space for safe, convenient active travel is vital, as is reducing and removing heavy 
through traffic from streets.  Corresponding measures such as Liveable Neighbourhoods, 
School Streets, 20mph zones, and  20 minutes minute communities are part of the mix 
needed, in line with the clear national guidance set out in Gear Change discussed in section 
xxxxx. 
 

 

Page 75



 

40 
 

 
 
Source: https://samim.io/p/2020-07-23-space-required-to-transport-48-people/ 
 

e) At the same time, we must work to shift our transport network form one powered by oil 
(petrol and diesel) to clean fuels, such as green hydrogen and electricity.  We are already 
taking action to develop a new fleet of hydrogen bus services, that produce water as exhaust 
and use a by-product as a fuel source.  Our new Merseyrail trains are electrically powered, 
but with the potential to run on battery technology away from the electrified lines and on 
services that are currently reliant on diesel trains. 
 

f) We believe that the themes we set out in the out Local Journeys Strategy in 2017about 
placemaking and quality of place have become even mor important that they were when the 
strategy was adopted.   These principles around reallocating roadspace for people, and 
prioritising the movement of people, need to be mainstreamed into our new LTP and into 
our Spatial Development Strategy alike.   

 

  
 
Source: Local Journeys Strategy, , LCRCA, 2017 

Page 76

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_LCL_JRNYS_STRATEGY.pdf


 

41 
 

g) As we have shown in Goal 2, simply electrifying how we travel now without changing 
fundamental aspects is not consistent with our broader vision and the principles in this Goal.  
Neither is the challenge of converting petrol and diesel filling stations to electric charging 
facilities a simple one.  Whilst the roll-out of charging facilities for electric vehicles at home 
and at the roadside is vital to transition from internal combustion engines to electric 
engines, (and now being proactively planned for by energy distributors), it remains a part of 
the solution needed to support this Goal.   

 
h) Finally, when talking about health, we cannot avoid again the impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic; as we have set out above, ongoing concerns around  the safety of public 
transport remain, and presents a significant barrier in changing travel habits.  It will be 
important that measures such as the enhanced cleaning regimes that have been so 
important in supporting the reopening of the transport network in recent months continue.  
Reinforcing the reassurances and messages that public transport is safe, as well as 
promoting the benefits of new active travel infrastructure, will be important, particularly to 
encourage more sustainable travel behaviour in the future 

 
 

GOAL 4 Ensuring that our transport network and assets are resilient, 
responsive to the effects of climate change, and are well 
maintained 

 
a) As we have shown, we must take urgent action to reduce carbon emissions to limits global 

temperature charges in order to avoid catastrophic climate change.  But we also know, at a 
more local and tangible levels, that as our climate become warmer, weather patterns will 
become more extreme and variable – heavier rain showers, extreme temperatures and 
periods of hot weather, and a greater chance of blustery storms damage our transport 
infrastructure and influence our travel choices.  In transport terms, we must plan for these 
changes more proactively.  
 

b) We will not be able to use our electrified railways if tracks are waterlogged more frequently, 
or if overhead power lines are blown down by more frequent or more extreme storms.  
Similarly, walking and cycling becomes less attractive in extreme weather, including during 
very high summer temperatures, which requires us to look at new ways of providing natural 
protection through tree belts and “green walls” to cool the air.  Transport uses of all types 
will face difficulties, dangers and delays if roads are flooded more regularly, or if erosion and 
degradation of transport assets is made worse.  This means that the principle of maintaining, 
updating and making out facilities resilient will become as important as creating new or 
expanded infrastructure. 
 

 

Page 77

https://www.spenergynetworks.co.uk/pages/connectmore_interactive_map.aspx


 

42 
 

 
 

c) Similarly, we have ageing road tunnels that cross the River Mersey that require investment 
and remodelling to meet new needs and demands, especially our modal shift and 
decarbonisation aims, and to maintain their integrity and importance as social and economic 
assets. 
 
 

 
Source: Liverpool Echo  

 
 

d) We know that we have significant maintenance backlogs on our local highway networks, and 
must increase the level of spend on what are most local authorities’ largest and most 

Page 78

https://www.liverpoolecho.co.uk/news/liverpool-news/liverpool-roads-flooded-after-heavy-15021741


 

43 
 

valuable asset.  It is important to remember that a well maintained road network is vital to 
attract and support more walking, cycling, and bus usage, and that uncomfortable or 
dangerous conditions are not conducive to this. 
 

e) An important principle that we should build into the investment plans in our LTP is around 
the integration maintenance of our highways into the wider programmes of capital projects 
and new schemes.  This means integrating efforts and plans for new works with 
opportunities to improve the condition of our highways that are in the poorest or most 
vulnerable condition, through an integrated approach to managing and maintaining the 
highway network.  The consolidated nature of new funds that we will secure between 2022-
2027 discussed in XXXXX will help us to do this, as maintenance and capital budgets have 
traditionally been allocated and managed separately.   
 

f) We also recognise that stepping up, and regularly updating our highway condition data, 
including our Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Plan (HIAMP) is vitally important.  
This must also include gaining a more detail and consistent understanding of all highway 
assets, such as bridges, drainage, safety restraints and pavements.  In our first HIAMP 
surveys in 2017, we estimated that to maintain a steady state on our Key Route Network 
(amounting to 10% of all of our roads), we will need an annual budget of £19 million once 
the maintenance need has been arrested and £59 million to address the existing 
maintenance backlog.  More investment in, and more efficient maintenance regimes will be 
needed to support this Goal. 
 

 

GOAL 5 Ensuring that we respond to uncertainty and change but also 
innovation and new technologies  

 

a) Finally, we cannot ignore the pace of technological change and invocation in transport, and 
despite our view that there is not a simple technical fix to transport decarbonisation, the 
role of technology is vital.  Recent examples and pilots have shown the importance of new 
forms of travel to fill gaps in the network, provide last mile links or replace car journeys 
entirely – on demand taxi apps, e-scooters and flexible car clubs.  Trialling, developing and 
promoting flexible and adaptable forms of travel will be especially important in facing 
uncertainty, where the benefits of a more costly or fixed transport solution may not be clear.  
This principle will be an important aspect in support of this Goal.   
 

b) Again, the COVID-19 lockdown has accelerated, and in some cases, forced change to work 
patterns, with many taking up homeworking out of necessity.  Technology has been central 
to this, with many benefitting from Zoom, Skype and Teams meetings as alternatives to 
costly and inefficient business trips.  However, it is uncertain if the changes to travel 
behaviour during the height of the pandemic will translate into longer term changes.  
 

c) New technological and innovative opportunities to encourage alternatives to car are 
emerging, especially “last mile” services, often termed “mobility as a service” – measures 
that provide the same benefit as having access to a vehicle, but without the cost burden and 
associated requirement of owning a private vehicle.  Such technologies include car sharing 
schemes, car pool schemes, flexible taxis, e-scooters or bike hire schemes that can be 
booked and paid for quickly and easily linked to mobile phone apps and simple payment 
systems.  There is also significant potential for better data and technology to transform the 

Page 79



 

44 
 

movement of goods and freight and that is being investigated as part of our ongoing study 
to understand freight movements in more depth. 
 

d) This makes digital connectivity as important for many as physical connectivity – a basic 
utility.  This reinforces the importance of our digital fibre spine that is in development.  But 
there will remain a significant proportion of jobs and roles that cannot be performed 
remotely, and our economic forecasting will aid our understanding of this, and what we will 
need to do in transport terms in response.  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 80



 

45 
 

8. Funding, delivery and monitoring aspects 
 

Funding 
 
7.1 Since the creation of the Combined Authority in at 2017, funding to deliver transport 

schemes, series and support has taken the forms of two main sources:- 
 

a) Capital funding to deliver physical schemes and measures – this has typically 
stemmed from our 5-year Transforming Cities Fund award of £172.5 and a 5-year 
transport settlement of £132.5 million between 2017-2022 that included monies 
spend on slam-scale integrated transport measures and on highways maintenance.  
In addition, capital funds have been secured form a range of sources including the 
Local Growth Fund and specific government bud funds, especially for walking and 
cycling. 
 

b) Revenue funding to deliver operational transport services such as supported bus 
services, rail enhancements and concessionary travel are funded through the 
Merseyside transport levy 

 
7.2 The funding environment that will guide the early years of the new LTP will be different 

again, especially from a capital funding perspective.  The bulk of funding that the Combined 
Authority will have access to from 2022-2027 will take the forms of the City Region 
Sustainable Transport Settlement.  The CRSTS aims to work and deliver in the same way as 
the settlement established over the last two decades in London, creating a more 
consolidated and devolved model of transport funding and delivering significant 
improvements for users, according to the DfT.  The funding could be the first of a series of 
five-year transport settlements for the city  

 
This new fund stems from the announcement made in 2019 that the city regions would 
receive £4.2 billion of additional funding for local transport networks.   
 
Need to update final figures in light of CSR 2021 - £710m award. 

 
7.5 This will sit alongside other local funding streams, such as the DfT’s £5 billion commitment 

for buses and cycling and its £4.8 billion Levelling Up Fund, which will still be available to the 
city regions  will be able to access these and most other funding pots in the usual way, 
including the funding for the Major Road Network (MRN) and Large Local Majors projects, 
and local electric vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure funds, alongside the CRSTS, to support 
delivery of their transport priorities, and subject to decisions at Spending Review 2021. 

 
Integrated Rail Plan 
Other CRS headlines/funding issues 
  

 
Delivery 

 
7.6 The  development of the LTP is being led by the Combined Authority in close collaboration 

with the constituent local authorities, with transport bodies and providers and wider 
through the consultation and engagement processed that have been set out.  This reflects 
the importance of establishing a clear sense of purpose and priority, and also of managing 
expectation where it comes to funding projects and interventions in due course.  The 

Page 81



 

46 
 

Combined Authority’s Transport Committee will be responsible for steering the process of 
the plan, for considering regular updates and for making recommendation to the Combined 
Authority on the development of the plan.   

 
7.7 As now, the delivery of the measures in plan will be delivered in partnership by the 

Combined Authority, via its Merseytravel delivery arm, by our local authorities and by 
central government and by its agencies.   
 

 
Monitoring and evaluation 

 
7.8 As we have shown in this vison document, the importance of data to understand current 

challenges and opportunities is critically important. Using data and evidence to prioritise 
actions and programmes will also be paramount, especially where difficult decisions are 
needed where funding is constrained or committed.   

 
7.11 The LCR has data to a wide range of sources and including 

 Detailed counts for points on the road network across the whole UK, including a number 

of points within LCR, broken down by vehicle type 

 bus and rail patronage levels based on sampling with information on journey purpose by 

ticket type and time of day 

 Census (ONS) data on population, work and travel in 2011 and in turn, 2021 

 Counts by different mode of journeys into key centres across LCR  

 Cycle monitoring from a network of counters across the LCR, providing a measure of 

cycling trends. 

 Local Authority Carbon Dioxide Emissions 

7.12 But we recognise that we have certain gaps in our data – freight movements as a notable 

one and we are now beginning to roll-out more modern, real time ways of collecting data; 

good examples include the use of new wireless transport sensors that can measure number 

of vehicles, by type and by time of day, including changes to relative air quality levels.,  We 

are working with academic bodies and team to capture new, and better data sets and to 

understand the impact that transport measures and other factors are having. 

7.13 We are also beginning to collect new, very detailed information using anonymised data on 

movements collected from mobile phone data and which is now providing a snapshot of the 

impact of travel during COVID-19 across LCR in 2020 – both during a lockdown and a period 

when restrictions were relaxed.  We hope to  procure a fresh wave of this data during 2022 

to better understand how travel patterns are recovering / changing, but this would be 

dependent on funding. 

7.14 Finally, the role of performance management is critical, to ensure effective delivery and to 

hold the Combined Authority to account. This leads to the importance of the evaluation of 

measures, especially for new, innovative or time-limited measures, to understand their role 

or value in the future.  Examples of such measure include the Liverpool e-scooter pilot and 

“pop up” cycle lanes funded in response to the COVID 19 pandemic.  Such trial measures 

may provide important solutions in addressing new needs and demands as we develop this 

plan.  

  

Page 82



 

47 
 

9. What are the next steps? 
 

9.1 As discussed in the introduction, this document forms a starting point in engaging and 
consulting on our new Local Transport Plan to 2040.  The core stages are summarised in 
section xxxxxx and we aim to finalise the plan by spring of 2023. 

 
9.2 At this stage, we have developed a series of high level challenges, opportunities and a vision 

that we are engaging and consulting upon, and the degree to which the vision and high-level 
goals are recognised and supported by our stakeholders.  We will then evaluate this 
feedback in xxxxxxx. 

 
9.3 Other important tasks will happen in parallel.  These include the development of transport 

scenarios based on how we think aspects such as population change, new jobs and 
associated travel, work and leisure patterns may change over time.  We will test these 
scenarios using our transport model and our carbon modelling tools.  This will help 
understand where the main movements are likely to be, plus the gaps or constraints that 
exist, especially from the critical point of view of reducing carbon emissions from transport. 

 

9.4 This work, supported by feedback and engagement, will help us to shape a draft preferred 
strategy.  This will be presented to the Transport Committee and Combined Authority in 
early summer 2022, and will form the basis of further consultation and engagement. 

 
 
 
Explain consultation process for this vision document 
Consultation questions to be scoped with Evidence and Intelligence team colleagues 
Link to further information  

 
 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     11 November 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR POLICY, STRATEGY AND 
GOVERNMENT RELATIONS 

 
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION ROAD SAFETY STRATEGY 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to present to the Transport Committee a new Road 

Safety Strategy for the Liverpool City Region for any comments, ahead of its 
approval by the Combined Authority 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Transport Committee: 
 

(a) comment on the proposed Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy as 
set out in Appendix 1; and 
 

(b) note that the Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy be presented to 
the Combined Authority for agreement at its meeting on 26 November. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The 2017 – 2020 Road Safety Strategy, agreed by the Combined Authority in July 

2017, outlined the range of measures and methods to be used to help achieve 
safer roads. It was based on the traditional road safety principles of education, 
enforcement and engineering (known as the 3 Es), with targeted action plans to 
focus on four key challenge areas (cyclists, motorcyclists, senior road users and 
adult pedestrians). 

 
3.2 In reviewing and updating the previous strategy, consideration was given to DfTs 

2019 Road Safety Statement A Lifetime of Road Safety - Moving Britain Ahead.  
This Statement sets out an aspiration where the UK moves towards a Vision Zero 
approach to road safety, since “road deaths and casualties are not merely the 
result of poor driving…but of a transport system as a whole, from signage to road 
user education, from enforcement to infrastructure design and construction”; in 

Page 85

Agenda Item 8

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817695/road-safety-statement-2019.pdf


essence, avoidable road deaths and injuries should be reduced to an absolute 
minimum.  

 
3.3 Vision Zero is a strategy to eliminate all traffic fatalities and severe injuries, while 

increasing safe, healthy, equitable mobility for all. The Safe Systems approach, 
supported by Vision Zero, views human life and health as paramount to anything 
else and should be the first and foremost consideration when 
designing/redesigning a road network. The principles underpinning the Safe 
Systems acknowledge that:  

 

 People make mistakes which can lead to crashes; however, no one should 
die or be seriously injured on the road as a result of these mistakes. 
 

 The human body has a limited physical ability to tolerate crash forces – 
any impact greater than 30km/h increases the risk of dying significantly. 
 

 Road safety is a shared responsibility amongst everyone, including those 
that design, build, operate and use the road system. 
 

 All parts of the road system must be strengthened in combination to 
multiply the protective effects and if one part fails, the others will still 
protect people. 
 

3.4 The Strategy also recognises this approach needs to be complemented by a 
“hierarchy” of sources of danger. Indeed, this was also recognised as part of the 
government‟s recent review of the highway code, in that the „Hierarchy of Road 
Users‟ as a concept places those road users most at risk in the event of a collision 
at the top of the hierarchy, to ensure a more mutually respectful and considerate 
culture of safe and effective road use that benefits all users.  

 
3.5 The new Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy proposes a step change in 

approach, with a clear recognition that deaths and serious injuries on the road are 
preventable and that they are neither acceptable nor inevitable. It includes a bold 
target to reduce the number and severity of road traffic collisions, working to an 
overall Vision Zero target that by 2040 no one will be killed or seriously injured 
(KSI) on the roads in the Liverpool City Region.  

 
3.6 The strategic outcomes for the Strategy, to be delivered through evidence-based 

activity in support of the Vision Zero target, are: 
 

 A reduction in the number and severity of road traffic collisions working to 
a target of no collisions by 2040 
 

 Creating the conditions for more people to make safer journeys on foot or 
by bicycle, and enabling more children to walk or cycle to school 
 

 Contributing to improved air quality and reducing climate changing CO2 
emissions 

 
3.7 It also notes that Halton Borough Council is aligned with the Cheshire Road Safety 

Partnership, given its historic links with the county, and that the collaborative 
working that exists between the two road safety partnerships will ensure the 

Page 86



interests of the whole LCR are met in delivering the aspirations of the Strategy. It 
has been developed in consultation with the following stakeholders: 

 

 Liverpool University academic reference group (Institute of Population 
Health) 
 

 RoadPeace 
 

 Action Vision Zero 
 

 LCR Local Authority Road Safety teams  
 

 Mersey Fire and Rescue Service 
 

 Merseyside Police and Crime Commissioner‟s Office 
 

3.8 Wherever possible comments received have been accommodated and are 
reflected in the Strategy. Whilst commentators applauded the bold ambitions set 
out, some were sceptical on the deliverability of the Vision Zero target of no KSIs 
by 2040, despite this being a central tenet of the Strategy. Other areas of debate 
included the impacts of pavement parking especially in older, narrow roads; the 
practicality of imposing speeds limits and traffic calming; and the shift away from 
fossil fuels, the associated noise created by internal combustion engines, and the 
inaudibility of electric vehicles and e-scooters.  

 
3.9 The new Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy will supersede the current 

Strategy, introduced in 2017. It does not explicitly include a period of validity, but it 
is anticipated that it will run until 2026/27, in line with the City Region‟s Sustainable 
Transport Settlement It is noted that the Strategy also commits to the production of 
an annual report of activity.  

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
 There are no direct resource implications for the Combined Authority as a result of 

adopting the Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy. The Strategy 
acknowledges the importance of the Partnership maximising available funds, and 
that whilst road safety will continue to be delivered within local budgets and to 
meet each partners‟ own corporate objectives and targets, a coordinated approach 
to partnership working is essential.   

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
 None 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 None 
 
 

Page 87



4.4 Information Technology 
 
 None 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 There is a risk that without a collaborative and evidence-led approach, as set out 

in the proposed Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy, the ongoing 
challenges relating to the number of people killed and seriously injured on the City 
Region‟s roads will not be addressed effectively. By working collaboratively and 
ensuring that activities and resources are aligned to make roads safer for all users 
will help to mitigate such risks. 

 
5.2 Additionally there is a risk that the Merseyside Road Safety Partnership (MRSP) 

will not achieve its target of zero avoidable road deaths by 2040. Aside from the 
reputational risk, the financial cost of a KSI is significant, as detailed in figure 2 of 
the Strategy (appended to this report). This will be mitigated by adopting the Vision 
Zero/Safe Systems approach as articulated in the Strategy. 

 
City Region Sustainable Transport Settlements: guidance for mayoral combined authorities - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
This fund stems from the announcement made by government in 2019 that the 8 eligible English city regions would receive 
£4.2 billion of additional funding for local transport networks. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 No negative impacts have been identified in the Equality Impact Assessment of 

the Strategy; the Safe Systems approach focuses on reducing danger at source, 
such that the potential impact of the Strategy is “positive” across all protected 
characteristics. 

 
 
7. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 The Strategy has been discussed in detail by the MRSP, the Transport Advisory 

Group and the Police and Crime Commissioner‟s Office and therefore, all 
Liverpool City Region partners have been involved in its preparation (see para 
3.7). It is envisaged that all partners will be responsible for promoting its messages 
through their established media channels.   

 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
  
 None. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 

 
9.1 In general, road safety risk for LCR residents is slightly lower than national trends 

and considerable progress has been made to improve road safety through 
engineering measures as well as education, training and publicity initiatives to 

Page 88

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/city-region-sustainable-transport-settlements-developing-proposals/city-region-sustainable-transport-settlements-guidance-for-mayoral-combined-authorities


reduce the number and severity of crashes.  However, across the City Region in 
2019, 25 people were killed on the roads and a further 474 were seriously injured.  

 
9.2 In delivering this Strategy, there will be a step change in approach to safer roads 

with a clear recognition that deaths and serious injuries on the road are 
preventable and that they are neither acceptable nor inevitable. This Strategy will 
reduce the number and severity of road traffic collisions, working to an overall 
Vision Zero target that by 2040 no one will be killed or seriously injured on the 
roads in the Liverpool City Region. 

 
 

KIRSTY McLEAN 
Executive Director for Policy, Strategy and Government Relations  

 
 
 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Suzanne Cain, Transport Policy Coordinator 
Joanna Sawyer, Communications Manager (Transport) 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy  
 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy 

 

1. Vision & Aims 

Despite a reduction in the number of people killed or seriously injured, the scale of the challenge 
ahead for the Liverpool City Region is significant.  In an ever-evolving environment, a new approach 
to road safety is required. 

Safe roads are critical to delivering the City Region vision for a modern, integrated transport system 
connecting people to employment, education and leisure that will support and grow the economy. It 
is important that our roads are as safe as possible, that users are appropriately informed on how to 
use them and that danger is reduced from those modes that pose the greatest danger (principally 
cars, vans, HGVs and motorcycles1). Our belief is that zero is the only acceptable number of deaths 
and serious injuries in the road traffic environment, placing the onus on all those responsible for the 
total road traffic system, and our strategic outcomes for road safety are: 

 

 

 

 

These outcomes will be achieved through evidence-based activity under the Vision Zero Safe 
Systems model (see section 5). The Merseyside Road Safety Partnership’s (MRSP) activity has 
traditionally been a mix of engineering, enforcement and compliance activities and educational 
interventions, whilst also seeking to address perceptions of road safety, which can be a barrier to the 
uptake for sustainable and active forms of transport. New developments in technology and 
innovation will pay a key part in delivering the outcomes in line with the principles of Vision Zero. 

 

2. Introduction 

In 2017, the Liverpool City Region (LCR) developed a Road Safety Strategy to best serve the road 
users of the region. This strategy worked towards a target of fewer than 400 people killed or 
seriously injured (KSI) on the region’s roads by 2020. 

The strategy sought to identify work done by the LCR constituent partners and highlight bespoke 
initiatives funded by the Merseyside Road Safety Partnership (MRSP). Its overarching vision was ‘No 
one killed or seriously injured on the roads of Merseyside’ 

The effects of death or serious injury on the roads are devastating for our communities and the 
families and loved ones of those affected. This can be impactive on an emotional and financial level 
with long lasting consequences. To combat the rising number of KSIs on the roads, the Merseyside 
Road Safety Partnership was established in its current form in 2007 with consideration for all road 
users. Annual KSIs since 2000 are shown in figure 1. 

Figure 1: Annual KSIs in the Liverpool City Region 2000 - 2019 

                                                           
1
 https://www.pacts.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/PACTS-What-kills-most-on-the-roads-Report-15.0.pdf 

A reduction in the 
number and severity of 

road traffic collisions 
working to a target of 
no collisions by 2040 

Creating the conditions for 
more people to make safer 

journeys on foot or by bicycle, 
and enabling more children to 

walk or cycle to school 

Contributing to 
improved air quality 
and reducing climate 

changing CO2 
emissions  

Page 91

https://www.pacts.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/PACTS-What-kills-most-on-the-roads-Report-15.0.pdf


 

2 
 

 

 

2.1  Statutory Duty 

Liverpool City Region local authorities have a statutory duty under section 39 of the 1988 Road 
Traffic Act to “take steps both to reduce and prevent accidents”. Other relevant legislation for 
Highway Authorities are Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (s 122), and the Traffic Management Act 
2004 (s16). The Infrastructure Act 2015 requires “Highways England to manage the strategic road 
network in England to ensure the safety of people who use the network”. The Fire and Rescue Service 
Act 2004 requires fire and rescue authorities “to rescue people from road traffic accidents and 
protect people from serious harm from road accidents”, and the Health & Social Care Act 2012 
requires local authorities in England to assess the current “and future health and social care needs of 
the local community (including road safety)”. 

The Merseyside Road Safety Partnership work collectively to achieve these statutory duties. This is 
achieved through: 

 Data analysis 

 Engineering schemes  

 Development of education initiatives, training & outreach programmes 

 Collision investigation 
In the context of seeking to enable far higher levels of walking, cycling and use of public transport, 
there is also a need to reduce road danger and to improve the levels of safety and perceptions of 
safety amongst all road users. This Strategy has been developed in the context of these duties and in 
accordance with both Department for Transport’s Gear Change, a Bold Vision for Cycling and 
Walking2  which provides a focus on the role cycling and walking can play in our transport system, 
and with the Road Safety Statement3. The latter promotes a vision for building a culture for lifetime 
road safety, focusing on both collision prevention and post collision response, and is divided into 

                                                           
2
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-

change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf 
3
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817695/road-safety-

statement-2019.pdf 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

Total Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton St Helens Wirral

Page 92

file:///C:/Users/cain_s/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/T2Z7T8HH/We%20want%20–%20and%20need%20–%20to%20see%20a%20step-change%20in%20cycling%20and
file:///C:/Users/cain_s/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/T2Z7T8HH/We%20want%20–%20and%20need%20–%20to%20see%20a%20step-change%20in%20cycling%20and
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817695/road-safety-statement-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817695/road-safety-statement-2019.pdf


 

3 
 

three areas – safer people, safer vehicles and safer roads. Under the umbrella of the Liverpool City 
Region, the MRSP aspires to support the delivery of that vision in building a culture of road safety 
and delivering roads that are safe for all users. It is acknowledged that the government is developing 
a new integrated road safety strategic framework, drawing on the Safe Systems approach, and will 
consider how to improve road safety, and the perception of road safety, for vulnerable road users.’ 
Accordingly, we will continue to review the Strategy in line with this being published. 

 

3. The Merseyside Road Safety Partnership 

The MRSP is a collaboration of Merseyside Police, the Merseyside local authorities (Wirral, 
Knowsley, Sefton, Liverpool, and St. Helens), Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service and the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority.  This core partnership is supported by Highways England, North 
West Ambulance Service and the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office. 

Whilst Halton Borough Council is a constituent Local Authority of the Liverpool City Region, it is 
currently aligned with the Cheshire Road Safety Partnership, given its historic links with the county. 
As such, close working between the two road safety partnerships, in the context of the wider 
strategic framework, will ensure the interests of the whole LCR are met in delivering the aspirations 
of this Strategy. Statistical analysis throughout this strategy applies to the whole of the City Region 
and includes Halton (unless indicated otherwise).  

The MRSP recognises that the detailed design of the road, the vehicle and driving behaviour, and the 
behaviour of other road users (e.g. people walking, cycling, running or riding a horse) must be 
tackled as a “total system” so that a mistake in the road traffic environment does not carry the death 
penalty. Our approach is an ethical and civilised response to the unacceptability of road death and 
serious injury. Intelligence gathered from collision data identifies areas of KSI density, and by using 
this information, enforcement can be directed using a combination of mobile and static enforcement 
across the Safer Roads Unit, Roads Policing Unit and Merseyside Police Special Constabulary. Civil 
enforcement is supplied, where appropriate, by the Local Authorities. 

There is a substantial financial cost to society each time a casualty occurs as a result of road traffic 
collision.  This includes emergency services provision, insurance and admin, human costs, as well as a 
range of other factors.  The average cost of a fatal road casualty is £2m, as shown in figure 2, with a 
serious casualty costing £228k. In addition to the human suffering, these figures demonstrate how 
economically vital it is to reduce our road traffic casualties. Although KSI casualties within the LCR 
have seen significant reductions, over the course of 2019 it incurred costs in excess of £158m.  

Page 93



 

4 
 

Figure 2 – The cost to society of road accidents and collisions 

Accident/casualty type Cost per casualty Cost per collision 

Fatal £2,029,237 £2,260,633 

Serious £228,029 £261,498 

Slight £17,579 £26,840 

Average for all severities £76,267 £105,156 

Damage only  £2,425 

Source:  accident and casualty costs, produced by Department for Transport (2019). 

We also recognise the health-related costs and dangers associated with low levels of active travel, 
and that there will be few collisions involving pedestrians or cyclists in places that those groups 
avoid due to perceptions of safety, such that additional data is needed, particularly on levels of 
active travel and on perceptions of road danger,  to deliver on the commitments set out in this 
Strategy. It is anticipated that developments in mapping technology, and tracking movements, will 
be invaluable in this regard.  

There are also wider considerations that must be reflected in shaping our road safety agenda, 
particularly with respect to air quality and in delivering the aspirations of the LCR to be net-zero 
carbon by 2040. The links between improved air quality and carbon reduction are very clear; an 
increase in the use of non-fossil fuels, and a resultant increase in walking and cycling, could result in 
safer roads for ALL road users, and a reduction in the number of KSIs. The links between deprivation 
and higher KSIs are also well documented4, particularly in relation to pedestrians and cyclists. To 
reduce the effect of deprivation on road injury without reducing the amount of walking that 
residents do, the key is to make walking and cycling safer, through measures to reduce traffic speed 
and volume, and by improving the environment for walking and cycling and through targeted 
education for drivers. There are clear synergies between our zero-KSI aspirations, and the active 
travel agenda. 

 

4. Funding and Delivery   

The Merseyside Police Safer Roads Unit provides the back-office function in support of mobile and 
static camera enforcement across Merseyside.  Drivers captured by these cameras will, depending 
on eligibility, be selected to attend a diversionary course, pay a fine or attend court. Drivers who 
qualify or opt for a course instead of a fine pay a set sum to the course provider. This fee is then 
divided between the provider in order to cover the costs of course delivery, the administration of 
the back office function (the capturing and processing of the offences) and the remaining surplus is 
invested in improving road safety across Merseyside by providing funding to support small initiatives 
to improve road safety, from both community led and analytical resourcing perspectives. 

It is important that the Partnership maximises all available funds, and that they are aligned to make 
our roads as safe as possible. The Liverpool City Region Devolution Deal means that freedoms and 
responsibilities for how funds are spent have passed to the control of the Liverpool City Region 

                                                           
4
 For example, Edwards P, Green J, Roberts I, Grundy C, and Lachowycz K (2006) Deprivation and Road Safety in London: A 

report to the London Road Safety Unit. 

Page 94



 

5 
 

Combined Authority. From 2022/23, this will include a five-year, City Region Sustainable Transport 
Settlement for Liverpool City Region Combined Authority from a £4.2bn total fund.  

Devolution allows the City Region freedom to allocate funds to locally identified priorities. Proposed 
schemes that have a clear strategic fit, deliver the best outcomes for the City Region, and generally 
offer high value for money, are more likely to be allocated funding. Additional factors such as traffic 
management implications, and the contribution the scheme will make to supporting improved 
access by walking & cycling, will also need to be highlighted. Other alternative sources of funding 
include Section 106 contributions from developers, or third-party funding from organisations such as 
Sustrans and the public health and wellbeing sector.   

Whilst acknowledging that road safety will continue to be delivered within local budgets and to meet 
each partners’ own corporate objectives and targets, a coordinated approach to partnership working 
is essential.  With such a range of potential revenue funding sources, a coherent strategy is required 
to achieve the most equitable and efficient use of resources. Some income streams (e.g. from the 
diversionary courses) are not quantifiable in advance, and some activity may be better suited to a 
particular funding opportunity (most central government funding initiatives have quite specific 
criteria) and, therefore, a prioritised “pipeline” of partnership activity is being developed. This will 
join-up initiatives to create a programme of activity across the region and, therefore, gain economies 
of scale in terms of design and implementation.   

 

5. Vision Zero 

All road users have the right to navigate our transport networks safely, with deaths and serious 
injuries on the road preventable and neither acceptable nor inevitable.  And to meet the statutory 
requirements and to deliver our vision, our road safety policies must work as a cohesive whole; 
working in partnership and collaborating are therefore central to this strategy. 

Our activities and actions have historically followed the traditional road safety 3 ‘E’s of enforcement, 
education, engineering, supplemented by ongoing monitoring and evaluation, to ensure our work 
remains evidence-led. In this step-change strategy, the Safe Systems approach (described below) will 
be adopted and this will be further supplemented by reducing danger at source with measures to 
address those elements that pose the greatest danger to road users.  

Vision Zero is a strategy to eliminate all traffic fatalities and severe injuries, while increasing safe, 
healthy, equitable mobility for all. The Safe Systems approach, supported by Vison Zero, views 
human life and health as paramount to all else and should be the first and foremost consideration 
when designing a road network. The principles underpinning the Safe Systems acknowledge that:  

 People make mistakes which can lead to crashes; however, no one should die or be 
seriously injured on the road as a result of these mistakes. 

 The human body has a limited physical ability to tolerate crash forces – any impact 
greater than 30km/h increases the risk of dying significantly. 

 Road safety is a shared responsibility amongst everyone, including those that design, 
build, operate and use the road system. 

 All parts of the road system must be strengthened in combination to multiply the 
protective effects and if one part fails, the others will still protect people. 

Traditionally we have focused on reducing KSIs through defined thematic groups. These categories 
of road user are identified by analysis as being more vulnerable, whilst the Safe Systems approach 
focuses on reducing danger at source (e.g. through Low Traffic Neighbourhoods which removed 

Page 95



 

6 
 

through traffic or reducing volumes of motor traffic). The core tenets, or pillars, of Safe Systems are 
shown in figure 3. 

Figure 3 – the Safe Systems model 

 

 

By ensuring the streets and roads of the City Region are attractive for all road users, we can 
encourage a shift in transportation modes and empower communities to navigate their area safely 
and confidently whilst reducing danger and therefore casualty rates. This approach offers co-
benefits that fit with other important LCR policy objectives, such as a fundamental reform of our 
transport system so that it provides a genuine alternative to the car. Improving the environment for 
walking, cycling and public transport and thus reducing the reliance on private motorised journeys 
could reduce road casualties whilst simultaneously improving air quality, reducing CO2 emissions and 
improving public health as people become more active in their day-to-day activities. 

With increased levels of cycling and walking because of the pandemic, the government’s active 
travel funding has allowed the LCR to install a range of pop-up infrastructure to facilitate safer 
walking and cycling.  With funding from the Freshfield Foundation, the LCR is trialling “Liveable 
Neighbourhoods”, a project supported by Sustrans, creating high-quality public spaces that prioritise 
people over cars to encourage people to take more journeys on foot, bike or other active transport 
modes, reducing their carbon footprint and making them fitter and healthier.  A Vision Zero strategy 
embraces this joint working between stakeholders in producing a transparent and accountable 
approach to road safety which has increased innovation and is fundamentally different to that which 
went before it.  

The Safe Systems approach acknowledges that human error should not be seen as a primary cause 
of collisions.  It looks to formulate a response with targeted interventions to work towards Vision 
Zero.  The Safe Systems approach is central to the LCR and represents a shift away from the more 
traditional pathway of education, engineering, and enforcement, and represents a broad strategic 
approach to road safety.  

With the declaration of a Climate Emergency by the City Region in 2019, and a net-zero carbon 
target of 2040, it is evident that additional support and promotion needs to be given to active modes 
of transport walking, cycling and public transport. In addition, we recognise that road safety cuts 
across a wide range of policy areas, which need to be viewed in terms of reducing exposure to road 
danger; for example, designing streets for people rather than traffic, and giving them the 

Safe 
Systems 

Safe 
Speeds 

Safe  
Roads 

Safe 
Vehicles 

Safe 
Behaviour 

Post Crash 
Response 

Page 96



 

7 
 

opportunity and the freedom to enjoy public urban spaces as they see fit. Our default aspiration 
should be to create well-connected, high quality infrastructure even when this is challenging to 
deliver. And rather than planning spaces for cars, pedestrians, cyclists and buses in isolation, we 
should plan our roads holistically, balancing the needs of all potential users.  

5.1  Safe Speeds 

The speed at which vehicles travel on our roads have a direct impact on the risk and safety of those 
who share the network. If a pedestrian is hit by a vehicle at 20mph, they are about five times less 
likely to be killed than if it were travelling at 30mph5 

A reduction in speed is fundamental to reducing road danger and encourages the implementation of 
lower speeds appropriate to the geography of the road, supported by intelligent engineering and 
design. Whilst analysis identifies and frames the safer speeds work, it offers communities the 
opportunity to take ownership of their own area through information exchange and initiatives such 
as Safer Roads Watch, which promotes a safe environment in which communities can live, work, 
exercise and commute. It was established to forge working partnerships between Merseyside Police, 
Local Authorities, and communities to address road safety concerns in their areas. This is a 
collaborative scheme which will increase the opportunity for reactivity to community led intelligence 
and a sense of ownership to local issues. 

Research6 has shown that 20mph limits are generally well received, are most effective where traffic 
signs are accompanied by road markings, and more so where there are traffic calming features such 
as road narrowing or speed humps. It adds that consideration should also be given to encouraging 
LAs to work with the police, health, environment, urban planning, education, and the local 
community to deliver 20mph limits as part of an integrated approach to addressing transport, 
community, environment and health objectives, subject to available funding. 

Community led intelligence provides the opportunity to shape enforcement in areas to prevent what 
could become a potential KSI hotspot.  Community underpins the work of the partnership with a 
forward facing, targeted approach taken to addressing concerns within neighbourhoods and areas 
identified by those who live and travel there. This allows for greater interaction with road users and 
promotes the work of the Partnership in a localised, specific manner enabling a more cohesive 
approach to active travel.  

Enforcement of these areas is led by Merseyside Police through a combined approach including 
Local Policing, Roads Policing Unit and the Safer Roads Unit using both static and mobile technology 
to provide enforcement activity. This can be implemented throughout the existing enforcement site 
structure and include the capacity to be reactive to emerging concerns. 

20mph speed limits reduce speeds in urban areas.  In conjunction with local communities, these 
areas will be sympathetic to existing street layouts whilst encouraging compliance through 
innovative engineering and design in conjunction with traditional enforcement.  Through analysis 
and community interaction, we will look to identify areas which would benefit from further 
intervention.  

 

                                                           
5
 Pedestrian Fatality Risk as a Function of Car Impact Speed https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19393804/  

6
 20mph Research Study Process and Impact Evaluation Headline  report 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757307/20mph-
headline-report.pdf 

 

Page 97

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19393804/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757307/20mph-headline-report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757307/20mph-headline-report.pdf


 

8 
 

5.2  Safe Streets 

This pillar seeks to reduce danger in areas where the likelihood of injury has been identified as 
higher than other locations. In-depth analysis of KSI data has identified that some road user groups 
are involved in a disproportionate number of road collisions and are more likely to be killed or 
seriously injured as a result. It is also the case that in built-up areas, those locations where people 
and vehicles interact most frequently (high streets and shopping parades, town centres and the city 
centre) are the places where casualties are most likely to occur and the need to reduce danger 
especially for those who are walking and cycling is most important. To combat this danger, the 
development of new infrastructure and changes to existing infrastructure must ensure that road 
danger is reduced. 

Our analysis enables us to not only create accurate and informative resources for our road users, but 
it also aids in targeting the population groups who will benefit from these resources the most. The 
analytical mapping software used, allow us to combine Stats19 (road safety data collated by DfT) and 
socio-demographic data, to identify which road users have the highest casualty rate within a specific 
area, and subsequently identify where these vulnerable road users reside.  

A continuous provision of police operations to an area of concern may not be possible and the road 
infrastructure may not accommodate a static or mobile camera site.  Alternatively, we look to 
engineering projects based on data analysis to address these issues.  Using the pillar of Safe Streets, 
this engineering work will be done with a clear commitment to road safety and in line with 
recognised best practice, and within the available budget.  The depth of the analysis can identify 
areas such as junctions, roundabouts or crossroads which may be particularly problematic as 
detailed below in figure 4 and which could benefit from such measures. 

Figure 4 – Collision Locations 

 

Community engagement is also a significant contributor to the success of the Safe Streets pillar, and 
there is ongoing dialogue between our communities, the local authorities, and the Safer Roads Unit 
to ensure interventions are targeted at areas of concern.   

[CATEGORY NAME] 
[PERCENTAGE] 

[CATEGORY NAME] 
[PERCENTAGE] 

[CATEGORY NAME] 
[PERCENTAGE] 

[CATEGORY NAME] 
[PERCENTAGE] 

[CATEGORY NAME] 
[PERCENTAGE] 

[CATEGORY NAME] 
[PERCENTAGE] 

[CATEGORY NAME] 
[PERCENTAGE] 

[CATEGORY NAME] 
[PERCENTAGE] 

Page 98



 

9 
 

As part of a move towards active travel, encouragement will be given to initiatives across the region 
including low traffic neighbourhoods and school streets. Creation of these zones, where through 
motor vehicle traffic has been removed or reduced – so only residents and a few deliveries and 
services have access – enable road users to experience a variety of transport methods, such as 
walking and cycling, in a safer, cleaner environment. Low traffic neighbourhoods not only reduce 
danger at source, research has shown that they are linked with dramatically reduced levels of road 
casualties on the roads within the neighbourhood and no increases in casualties on boundary and 
adjacent roads7 

This pillar reflects the priorities set out in the LCR Local Journeys Strategy8, which provides the 
framework for the development of services and infrastructure that support sustainable shorter trips, 
highlighting how places must be designed for the safe movement of people, not traffic. As traffic 
levels have grown, this has led us to reserve more and more space for cars, but this makes spaces 
more difficult to navigate, and we need to give people the opportunity and freedom to enjoy urban 
public spaces, with new infrastructure built to standards that maximise integration, comfort and 
safety.  

Road Safety was recognised as part of the government’s review of the highway code, which 
proposed a ‘Hierarchy of Road Users’, the aim of which is to ensure road users who can do the 
greatest harm have the greatest responsibility to reduce the danger they may pose to others. It 
places pedestrians first, followed by cyclists, horse riders, motorcyclists, cars and taxis, vans and 
minibuses and large passenger vehicles or heavy goods vehicles. Its. The objective of the hierarchy is 
not to give priority to pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders in every situation, but rather to ensure a 
more mutually respectful and considerate culture of safe and effective road use that benefits all 
users. 

The government have also recently consulted on ways to control the problems associated with 
pavement parking, drawing on a review whereby a third of people with visual impairments and 
almost half of wheelchair users were reluctant to go out because of antisocial pavement parking. 
The review also highlighted the problems faced by anyone with a baby buggy, or reliant on a 
mobility aid, such as a stick, walking frame, mobility scooter or wheelchair, who may be impeded or 
find the pavement impassable. The government’s aim is to make pavements accessible for everyone, 
as inconsiderate pavement parking leads to dangers for all road users. The Liverpool City Region has 
supported the option which would allow local authorities with civil parking enforcement powers to 
enforce against ‘unnecessary obstruction of the pavement’. 

From December, local authorities will be able to enforce moving traffic offences, such as banned 
turns, box junctions and driving in formal cycle lanes. They will be expected to use these powers to 
improve connectivity, boost active travel, and increase air quality by reducing congestion, which in 
turn will make our roads safer and less congested for all road users.  

 

5.3  Safe Vehicles 

The Safer Vehicles pillar seeks to reduce road danger by focusing on vehicles which present the 

greatest risk on our roads9. In recent decades, vehicle safety improvements have tended to reduce 

                                                           
7
 The Impact of Introducing Low Traffic Neighbourhoods on Road Traffic Injuries - https://findingspress.org/article/18330-

the-impact-of-introducing-low-traffic-neighbourhoods-on-road-traffic-injuries 
8
 https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_LCL_JRNYS_STRATEGY.pdf 

9
 https://www.pacts.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/PACTS-What-kills-most-on-the-roads-Report-12.0.pdf 

Page 99

https://findingspress.org/article/18330-the-impact-of-introducing-low-traffic-neighbourhoods-on-road-traffic-injuries
https://findingspress.org/article/18330-the-impact-of-introducing-low-traffic-neighbourhoods-on-road-traffic-injuries
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_LCL_JRNYS_STRATEGY.pdf
https://www.pacts.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/PACTS-What-kills-most-on-the-roads-Report-12.0.pdf


 

10 
 

danger principally for those inside the vehicle. New technologies offer the opportunities to improve 

safety for those outside the vehicle too. 

Research by UCL Centre for Transport Studies10 shows that across Great Britain around 1 in 3 road 

deaths, 1 in 5 seriously injured and 1 in 4 casualties of all severities involve someone driving for 

work. The study estimates that 39% of killed pedestrians were hit by a working driver. The risk that 

working drivers face is also highlighted by the increase in the volume of Light Goods Vehicles in 

recent years. Whilst vans and lorries are the life blood of cities supplying, food and other goods for 

business, and without them our way of life wouldn’t be possible, volumes of Light Commercial 

Vehicle traffic (vehicle kms) increased by more than three-quarter (76%) between 2001 and 2019 

across the LCR11, with popularity for vans rising with the influx of new small businesses entering the 

market and the increased demand for online shopping deliveries. 

There are ongoing schemes and initiatives across the LCR which seek to reinforce good practice 

within the prevalent users of our roads.  There are established programmes of education for Taxi 

Driver input, and through Wirral Council’s Mind Your Business scheme which works alongside 

businesses and their employees to manage road safety at work.  This award-winning scheme 

features practical, theoretical and legal input and has been recognised at the National Transport 

Awards. 

The Safe Vehicles pillar also focuses on technological innovation in respect of modern forms of 

urban, sustainable travel.  The pandemic has brought a significant shift in the accessibility of goods 

and services with a much greater emphasis on home delivery.  This has seen an increase in vehicles 

on the road within the business driving sector, who are looking towards automation and telematics 

to increase safety and identify vehicle activities. Telematics are also being introduced Merseyside 

Police as an emerging new technology. 

Vehicle technology is also changing with the advent of the General Safety Regulations, which are 

likely to have significant impact on the safety features appearing on new vehicles in the next few 

years12. Most notable for the safety of those outside a vehicle are the introduction of Advanced 

Emergency Braking Systems and Intelligent Speed Assistance (ISA). There are opportunities from ISA 

to hugely increase compliance levels with speed limits in built-up areas which makes setting the 

appropriate speed limit even more important to be able to gain the advantages this technology can 

offer.  

The evaluation of the e-scooter trial within Liverpool will be invaluable in assessing the long-term 

viability of this specific type of vehicle in contribution to greener, cleaner and cheaper forms of 

movement through the LCR networks.  

Within the LCR, there is a shared responsibility for vehicles used on the network.  There will be 

ongoing educational programmes and communication campaigns to inform owners of the 

importance of vehicle maintenance, followed up with roadside checks and enforcement with 

partners Merseyside Police and DVSA. Analysis can identify both vehicles of influence in KSIs and 

other problematic behaviours, for example, a prevalence of drink and or drug driving in certain 

sectors and shape enforcement and educational opportunities around this.  

                                                           
10

 https://www.ucl.ac.uk/civil-environmental-geomatic-engineering/news/2020/dec/injury-risk-significantly-higher-when-
driving-work 
11

 www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-transport/series/road-traffic-statistics - Table TRA8905b 
12

 https://trl.co.uk/projects/eu-general-safety-regulation 

 

Page 100

https://www.ucl.ac.uk/civil-environmental-geomatic-engineering/news/2020/dec/injury-risk-significantly-higher-when-driving-work
https://www.ucl.ac.uk/civil-environmental-geomatic-engineering/news/2020/dec/injury-risk-significantly-higher-when-driving-work
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-transport/series/road-traffic-statistics
https://trl.co.uk/projects/eu-general-safety-regulation


 

11 
 

 

5.4  Safe Behaviour 

This pillar looks to tackle high risk behaviours, irrespective of mode, that can be attributable to road 
danger, starting with those that contribute to most collisions.   

Dangerous behaviour can include of a variety of differing “high-harm” offences including mobile 
phone usage, drink and drug driving, speeding, careless driving and driving an uninsured vehicle. The 
MRSP produce an annual calendar of campaigns and events designed to educate road users via 
social media or roadshows and reinforced with appropriate enforcement.  The results of this 
enforcement are shared with the wider public to create an understanding of the nature and breadth 
of the behaviours tackled and the repercussions of taking part in such. 

Safe Behaviour covers several groups of road user, for example, distraction via a mobile phone could 
include cyclists, motorcyclists, drivers and pedestrians. The aspiration for us is to tackle these 
behaviours, particularly those which contribute to significant collision numbers.  

Safe Behaviour challenges both conscious and unconscious actions which serve as significant 
contributory factors in KSIs, and which suppress potential use of active forms of travel such as 
intimidating driving. It also recognises the impact of distracted pedestrians and other road users not 
paying attention to their surroundings. We aim to influence road user behaviour through education, 
training, communications, engineering and enforcement. 

There are existing programmes of work across the LCR local authorities which challenge and inform 
road user behaviour to create a safer road space for all users.  Schemes include School based 
education programmes, Driving Safer for Longer (aimed at Senior Road Users), Engage (Young 
Drivers) and Mind Your Business (driving for work).  Through challenging knowledge gaps and 
targeting initiatives at reducing these numbers, with projects developed and delivered across the 
Partnership all residents in the LCR can benefit from the shared resources and initiatives. 

We believe that well-designed networks for active travel promote a shared respect, ownership and 
place of safety on our networks.  This creates a mutual understanding and appreciation of our roads 
and creates new social norms.  Enforcement is key in areas where risky behaviour is identified 
whether it be through targeted activity (scheduled drink/drug driving operations) or reactive 
intelligence led activities (areas identified as high speeds/anti-social behaviour).  The presence of 
enforcement activity acts as visible reassurance for residents and high-profile deterrence. 

 

5.5 Post crash response 

Looking into the circumstances and causation of each incident individually enables us to identify 

patterns. Whether this is drivers becoming unsighted when approaching a specific junction or 

pedestrians being injured whilst crossing from behind stationary vehicles, we can use the evidence 

available to implement innovative measures, ultimately reducing casualties incurred. Road signage, 

road paint, road furniture and even the maintenance of surrounding foliage in the area are all 

examples of techniques that have been used to make our roads a safer place. These are the types of 

causation factors which can be garnered from a thorough post collision investigation and used to 

prevent future repetition. 

Besides the criminal investigations into a collision, there are learning outcomes which can be 

developed in order to prevent reoccurrence of incidents and to allow for a multi-agency approach in 

Page 101



 

12 
 

respect of resolution and future interventions.  Education, enforcement or engineering opportunities 

could be extracted and identified from a thorough and robust investigation.  

Reflective evaluation and audit into investigations can ascertain if there are areas of best practice or 

where learning outcomes have been identified. This increased scrutiny of post collision response can 

include case reviews to evaluate performance in investigations alongside their subsequent criminal 

justice outcomes. 

These foundations will ensure a robust and time sensitive response to best serve victims.  Through 

working with organisations such as RoadPeace and Aftermath, the link between criminal 

investigation and victim support becomes seamless with justice, transparency and compassion at the 

forefront of working practice.   

 

6. Conclusion: 

In general, road safety risk for LCR residents is slightly lower than national trends and considerable 

progress has been made to improve road safety through engineering measures as well as education, 

training and publicity initiatives to reduce the number and severity of crashes.  However, across the 

City Region in 2019, 25 people were killed on the roads and a further 474 were seriously injured. The 

analysis of road safety data provides a good understanding of the patterns and trends of road safety, 

collisions and casualties. That analysis is utilised to identify ‘at risk’ groups and locations and drives 

the activity within the partnership action plan. It also assists in directing enforcement activity and 

engineering improvements. 

In delivering this Strategy, there will be a step change in our approach to safer roads with a clear 

recognition that deaths and serious injuries on the road are preventable and that they are neither 

acceptable nor inevitable. We will reduce the number and severity of road traffic collisions, working 

to an overall Vision Zero target that by 2040 no one will be killed or seriously injured on the roads in 

the Liverpool City Region. We will adopt a safe systems approach where the local authorities and 

agencies within the Partnership identifies and establishes planned initiatives in line with the five 

pillars of Vision Zero along with the objectives set out in the Local Journeys Strategy to promote the 

use of sustainable travel choices for these shorter trips.  

We recognise that some of the data to measure our progress are an area for development and in 

line with this will produce annual statistical reviews to map the transparent progress of the LCR in 

the pursuit of its Vision Zero objective. We will also produce an annual report of activity under the 

five pillars and collate plans from each LA with regard to their activity for safer speeds, safer streets, 

safer vehicle and safe behaviours. The police will also produce a plan of their activity and 

prosecutions in addition to partnership funded activities across Merseyside. 

 

 

 

Page 102



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     11 November 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 
 

REPORT OFTHE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR RAIL 
 
 

RAIL UPDATE 
 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. The purpose of the report is to provide an update on a number of workstreams 

currently being delivered by the Rail Division. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Transport Committee note the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1. The report sets out the current position on a number of workstreams within the Rail 

Division. The key issues are addressed within a series of appendices:- 
 
Appendix One: Project Overview 
Appendix Two: Concession Overview 
Appendix Three: Devolution Overview 
Appendix Four: Rolling Stock Programme 

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

As this is an update report there are no specific resource implications which need to 
be considered. These implications will be picked up as the individual projects go 
forward. 
 

  

Page 103

Agenda Item 9



 
4.1. Financial 

 
While there are a number of financial implications with respect to the individual 
workstreams the aim here is to provide a broad overview of the workstreams being 
taken forward within the Rail Division. Specific financial issues are not covered here 
except to say that all workstreams including the financial issues have been 
approved by Merseytravel. 

 
4.2. Human Resources 
 

There are no additional human resource implications. 
 
4.3. Physical Assets 
 

Aside from Liverpool South Parkway, which is picked up in the  appendix 1 ( project 
overview), there are no physical asset issues at this time. 

 
4.4. Information Technology 

 
There are no IT issues. 

 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 
 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1  All worksteams undertake some form of risk analysis as part of their development. 
 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1. All workstreams are assessed with respect to equality and diversity as they are 

taken forward. 
 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
8.1. There are no specific communications issues. 
 
 
9. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no privacy implications. 

 
  

Page 104



 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1. The report summarises the work currently being undertaken within the Rail Division 

highlighting the projects being taken forward by the Combined Authority  to improve 
the railway as well as the continued operation of the railway. 

 
 

 
MAL DRURY-ROSE 

Assistant Director for Rail 
 
 
 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
 
Mal Drury-Rose, Assistant Director for Rail, Tel 07766 410115 
David Jones, Rail Development Manager, Tel 07834 679080 
Joanna Sawyer, Communications Manager (Transport), Tel 0151 330 1129 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One: Project Overview 
Appendix Two: Concession Overview 
Appendix Three: Devolution Overview 
Appendix Four: Rolling Stock Programme 
 
 
Background Documents:  
No background papers 
 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix One: Project Overview 

 

Liverpool Central 

This project, identified as a key project within the Long-Term Rail Strategy, aims to 

address the current constraints in both passenger and train capacity. The GRIP 3 

design is substantially complete and is currently being further developed to integrate 

with the AUGUR development being taken forward alongside Central station. This 

work is expected to be complete early in 2022. 

Officers are in discussion with the DfT regarding the inclusion of the project in the 

Rail Network Enhancement Pipeline (RNEP) which would the cost of the project from 

GRIP 4 (outline design) through to completion. Discussions have commenced with 

Network Rail regarding the tendering process for the GRIP 4 work. 

This is a significant project which will ultimately cost around £600m to complete. The 

project will expand the passenger capacity of the station and provide the potential to 

increase train capacity which could tie into the development of services through the 

Wapping Tunnel. 

A full programme has yet to be mapped out and this is expected to be fully 

undertaken during the development of the outline design but completion of the work 

is likely to be in the late 2020’s. 

 

Headbolt Lane 

The project extends the Kirkby Line through to a new station at Headbolt Lane 

serving both Tower Hill and Northwood. The link is also the first step towards 

providing a link through to Skelmersdale. 

The station will be fully accessible and will serve both Merseyrail and Northern Rail 

services and will have all the facilities expected at a modern station including a 300-

space car park. 

The extension will also benefit from the development of the new battery powered 

Class 777. This means that there will be no requirement for the use of 3rd rail 

between Kirkby and Headbolt Lane. This leads the way to deliver more economical 

extensions of the Merseyrail network in the future. 

Work is ongoing with Network Rail, Merseyrail and Knowsley Borough Council with 

the main current focus to seek to secure scheme full planning permission before the 

end of the year the project is anticipated to be substantially complete by March 2023. 

 

Baltic/St James New Station 

The provision of a new station located between Liverpool Central and Brunswick. 

The station is located at the site of the old St James station which was closed in 

1917. 

Page 107



The station will provide direct rail access to the Baltic Quarter and the expanding 

business district to the south of the city. 

The station is situated in a deep cutting and lift access will be provided down to 

platform level. 

There has been some concern with respect to the name (St James is situated close 

to James Street and this has led to confusion). A process is underway to identify a 

preferred name for the station. 

The GRIP 4 (outline design) is expected to be completed early in 2023 which would 

allow delivery of the station by early 2025. 

 

Access Improvements 

The Combined Authority was successful in its bid to the Access for All Fund in 

Control Period 6 (2019-2024) in obtaining funding to make 5 stations fully accessible 

which was a significant improvement over previous control periods when funding 

was received for one station at best (Meols was the only station funded in Control 

Period 5). This increased support for station was due to the Combined Authority 

providing 50% match funding. 

The LCR submitted 11 stations for improvement to the DfT; 5 stations were selected. 

These were Hunts Cross, St Michaels, Hillside and Birkenhead Park on the 

Merseyrail network and Broad Green on the Northern rail network. 

Construction work is well underway on the 4 Merseyrail stations with work expected 

to be complete mid-2022. Design work continues at Broad Green  with construction 

programmed to be completed by early 2023. 

This builds on the work at Prescot where lifts were installed earlier this year as part 

of the Shakespeare in the North project. 

Work is underway in reviewing the remaining stations which are not step-free and 

how this issue can be addressed. 

 

Sandhills Capacity Improvements 

This work is closely linked to the Everton project at Bramley Dock. While there is 

capacity on the trains operating from the station for the number of fans expected to 

use the station this is not the case with the station itself, particularly the access to the 

station which is estimated to cope with around 3,000 passengers per hour. 

Officers are working closely with Everton and Merseyrail in the development of a Fan 

Management Zone which allow fans to queue at the station and be let onto the 

platform as space becomes available. This will be funded by Everton. 

In addition to this a potential new access point onto the platform has been developed 

to GRIP 3 and will be taken forward to outline design by March 2022. This would 

effectively double the number of people who could access the station each hour. 

Page 108



However, it is not clear at this time how the delivery of this will be funded. 

 

Lea Green 

As part of the Southern Corridor Scheme being taken forward by St Helens Borough 

Council the Combined Authority will deliver a major upgrade to the park and ride 

facility at Lea Green. The car park capacity is currently 196 spaces but was easily 

the most oversubscribed car park on the network due in part to Transpennine trains 

calling at the station. 

 

The upgraded car park will include the addition of land adjacent to the existing car 

park and a single storey extension providing a total capacity of 439 spaces. Design 

work is completed and planning permission is being sought for the scheme before 

the end of the year prior to project expected implementation by March 2023. 

 

Liverpool South Parkway (LSP) Platform Extension 

In anticipation of the Avanti services going to two trains per hour between Liverpool 

and London with the second train expected to call at LSP this project will lengthen 

the platforms to allow the longer trains to call at LSP. The design work is expected to 

be complete by March 2022. 

 

LSP Maintenance 

LSP is unique within the Liverpool City Region as the station is owned by 

Merseytravel thus the regular maintenance of the station falls to Merseytravel. 

2021/22 is a significant year as the station has been open for 10 years requiring 

some major overhauls of some equipment. This is currently being reviewed. 

 

Kirkby Station Park and Ride 

This work covers the general upgrade and maintenance of both the station directly 

outside of the booking office and the overflow car park and will be completed by 

March 2022. 

 

Pre-development Work 

New Stations study 

A study is being undertaken which will review the potential to introduce additional 

stations on to the rail network within the City Region This is an important piece of 

work as it will focus not just on the potential benefits from the introduction of a station 

but also the operational implications that would come from introducing a new station. 

A good example would be the potential station at Carr Mill. This has been mooted for 

over 20 years and when initially investigated there were no operational implications 

from inputting a new station onto the network. This may no longer be the case: more 

Page 109



trains call at Lime Street, Transpennine operate express trains on the Chat Moss 

route and there are more trains operating on the West Coast Main Line. The 

stopping of trains at a new station at Carr Mill could have significant impacts on the 

network elsewhere. 

 

 

IPEMU extension study 

This work will consider the broad costs of extending the Merseyrail network to take 

advantage of the Class 777 operating in its battery mode. It will consider the 

distances that might need to be covered, the number of units required and the 

likelihood that additional charging capacity would be required off the Merseyrail 

network. 

 

 

Port of Liverpool Freight Data Study 

An initial high-level study is being undertaken that will review the quantum of freight, 

by commodity and mode, moving to and from the Port of Liverpool. The study will 

also seek to understand the inland origins/destinations of goods to inform analysis of 

the potential to achieve modal shift from road to rail. 

 

Page 110



Appendix Two: Concession Overview 

 
Overview  
 

It’s been a challenging year for the rail industry – restrictions and government advice 
limited the industry’s ability market their services and changing customer behaviour 
restricted the ability to recover revenue. Many operators have received government 
support, but this has come at a price, their contracts have been renegotiated and 
their revenue risk/reward removed.  With the Williams-Shapps review promising a 
reform of the rail system, the industry is in a state of flux. For devolved regions and 
systems like ourselves the picture during the pandemic has been slightly different. 
Whilst we instructed our operator to follow government guidance the management of 
the services has remained independent. Merseytravel have taken an active and agile 
role in shaping the timetable and frequency, whilst Merseyrail took no further 
government subsidy and took revenue risk throughout.  
 

 
 
As viewed in graph above plotting budgeted journeys v actual journeys, it is clear to 
see that the customer base collapsed in the height of the pandemic, and as a result 
of Government advice services were reduced and directed to key workers 
requirements. Merseyrail’s reduced staff availability due to the pandemic mirrored 
the impact of LCRCA residents and therefore, together with challenges from the 
network provider and the train maintainer, meant that it was not possible to run a full 
service for much of the year. 
 
With reduced revenues, no government support or furlough offered Merseyrail had to 
call on reserves and control costs and restrict some activities. Merseytravel have 
monitored Merseyrail daily throughout the period to ensure the ongoing ability to 
deliver passenger services. 
 
Once restrictions reduced Merseyrail was in a good place to recover customers, the 
frequency of services and high reliability has been a strong part of this recovery as 
customers were confident in Merseyrail returning to their consistently high 
performance.  
 

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

 140

 160

0
1

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

0

0
5

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

0

0
9

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

0

1
3

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

0

1
7

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

0

2
1

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

0

2
5

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

0

2
9

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

0

0
2

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

0

0
6

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

0

1
0

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

0

1
4

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

0

1
8

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

0

2
2

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

0

2
6

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

0

3
0

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

0

0
4

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

0

0
8

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

0

1
2

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

0

1
6

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

0

2
0

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

0

2
4

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

0

2
8

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

0

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

0

0
5

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

0

0
9

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

0

1
3

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

0

1
7

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

0

2
1

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

0

2
5

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

0

2
9

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

0

0
3

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

0

0
7

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

0

1
1

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

0

1
5

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

0

1
9

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

0

2
3

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

0

2
7

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

0

3
1

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

0

0
4

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

0

0
8

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

0

1
2

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

0

1
6

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

0

2
0

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

0

2
4

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

0

2
8

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

0

0
1

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

0

0
5

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

0

0
9

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

0

1
3

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

0

1
7

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

0

2
1

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

0

2
5

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

0

2
9

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

0

0
3

/
1

0
/
2

0
2

0

0
7

/
1

0
/
2

0
2

0

1
1

/
1

0
/
2

0
2

0

1
5

/
1

0
/
2

0
2

0

1
9

/
1

0
/
2

0
2

0

2
3

/
1

0
/
2

0
2

0

2
7

/
1

0
/
2

0
2

0

3
1

/
1

0
/
2

0
2

0

0
4

/
1

1
/
2

0
2

0

0
8

/
1

1
/
2

0
2

0

1
2

/
1

1
/
2

0
2

0

1
6

/
1

1
/
2

0
2

0

2
0

/
1

1
/
2

0
2

0

2
4

/
1

1
/
2

0
2

0

2
8

/
1

1
/
2

0
2

0

0
2

/
1

2
/
2

0
2

0

0
6

/
1

2
/
2

0
2

0

1
0

/
1

2
/
2

0
2

0

1
4

/
1

2
/
2

0
2

0

1
8

/
1

2
/
2

0
2

0

2
2

/
1

2
/
2

0
2

0

2
6

/
1

2
/
2

0
2

0

3
0

/
1

2
/
2

0
2

0

0
3

/
0

1
/
2

0
2

1

0
7

/
0

1
/
2

0
2

1

1
1

/
0

1
/
2

0
2

1

1
5

/
0

1
/
2

0
2

1

1
9

/
0

1
/
2

0
2

1

2
3

/
0

1
/
2

0
2

1

2
7

/
0

1
/
2

0
2

1

3
1

/
0

1
/
2

0
2

1

0
4

/
0

2
/
2

0
2

1

0
8

/
0

2
/
2

0
2

1

1
2

/
0

2
/
2

0
2

1

1
6

/
0

2
/
2

0
2

1

2
0

/
0

2
/
2

0
2

1

2
4

/
0

2
/
2

0
2

1

2
8

/
0

2
/
2

0
2

1

0
4

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

1

0
8

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

1

1
2

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

1

1
6

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

1

2
0

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

1

2
4

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

1

2
8

/
0

3
/
2

0
2

1

0
1

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

1

0
5

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

1

0
9

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

1

1
3

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

1

1
7

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

1

2
1

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

1

2
5

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

1

2
9

/
0

4
/
2

0
2

1

0
3

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

1

0
7

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

1

1
1

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

1

1
5

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

1

1
9

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

1

2
3

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

1

2
7

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

1

3
1

/
0

5
/
2

0
2

1

0
4

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

1

0
8

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

1

1
2

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

1

1
6

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

1

2
0

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

1

2
4

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

1

2
8

/
0

6
/
2

0
2

1

0
2

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

1

0
6

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

1

1
0

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

1

1
4

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

1

1
8

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

1

2
2

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

1

2
6

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

1

3
0

/
0

7
/
2

0
2

1

0
3

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

1

0
7

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

1

1
1

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

1

1
5

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

1

1
9

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

1

2
3

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

1

2
7

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

1

3
1

/
0

8
/
2

0
2

1

0
4

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

1

0
8

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

1

1
2

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

1

1
6

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

1

2
0

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

1

2
4

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

1

2
8

/
0

9
/
2

0
2

1

0
2

/
1

0
/
2

0
2

1

0
6

/
1

0
/
2

0
2

1

1
0

/
1

0
/
2

0
2

1

Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun Sat Fri Thu Wed Tue Mon Sun

Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Additional
Days

Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 5Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4  Less
Days  due to end
of financial year

We
ek 1

Additional days due to start of
financial year

Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4Week 1Week 2Week 3Week 4

Period 13 19/20 Period 1 20/21 Period 2 20/21 Period 3 20/21 Period 4 20/21 Period 5 20/21 Period 6 20/21 Period 7 20/21 Period 8 20/21 Period 9 20/21 Period 10 20/21 Period 11 20/21 Period 12 20/21 Period 13 20/21 Period 1 21/22 Period 2 21/22 Period 3 21/22 Period 4 21/22 Period 5 21/22 Period 6 21/22 Period 7 21/22

(k) Daily Journeys over time

Budget Journeys (k)

Actual Passenger Journeys (k)

Page 111



However,  a full return to pre Covid service levels is still a challenge,  the 
demographic age of drivers and guards had meant they had been more vulnerable to 
Covid effects both directly and indirectly, a number of those with long term medical 
issues have not had treatment during the pandemic, additionally reactions to 
vaccines have been high and these combined issues have meant that the number of  
safety critical staff required for a pre Covid  service levels  cannot be guaranteed at 
this time. Therefore, a gradual and sustainable approach to building back services 
has been adopted.  
 
It is worth noting that Merseyrail recovery has been remarkable, but leisure driven, 
customers are using services   in a different way than pre Covid, more are travelling 
outside of peak and there are less commuters. With the introduction of 777 
approaching – it is essential that we have the service frequency and capacity at the 
right levels at the right time of the day and night. Together we are reviewing and 
monitoring what is the best service for the City Region post recovery and for the 
future, further updates on this subject will be forthcoming. 
 
 Performance 
 

Merseyrail traditionally have been one 
if not the best and most consistent high 
performer for trains on time and least 
amount of cancellations. The first 
graphs in this section shows how 
historically Merseyrail have performed 
against the national picture. Merseyrail 
also have an enviable frequency of 
service, but which brings risk of 
disruption escalating when things go 
wrong. 

  
Throughout the pandemic the policy was 
to maintain a reliable and robust service 
that for whoever needed them, services 
could be relied upon whatever the 
frequency.  
It is pleasing that bar a few anomalous 
days due to weather, trespass or 
significant infrastructure failure, that policy 
has been delivered and to a higher 
standard than the rest of industry as the 
additional attached graphs attest to. 
 
 

Page 112



That level of performance can only be achieved by a holistic determination by all 
involved parties; the operator, the maintainer of the trains, the maintainer of the 
infrastructure and the awarding authority. In, recent periods Merseyrail performance 
have been of an extremely high level with 100% days being recorded. Stadler, 
Merseyrail, Network Rail and Merseytravel are succeeding in creating the right 
balance by recognising each other’s challenges and not shying away from asking the 
difficult questions and being aware of challenges ahead.  
 

 
Seasonal Preparedness 
 
Seasonal preparedness is an all year round activity, Interested parties meet on a 
fortnightly basis to review work activity and plan for future, this ranges  from watching 
the lines don’t buckle in the summer and line side equipment doesn’t over heat to 
cutting back foliage to view signals and ensuring ice on third rail doesn’t bring 
services to a halt. 
 
Preparing for the changes in weather -flash flooding hit Merseyrail badly at beginning 
of 2021, the railway suffered from run off in urban and rural areas. Drains and pumps 
since have been checked/replaced with help of Authority partners and neighbours, 
working alongside private landowners and network rail to ensure water flow is 
managed. Significant investment made at highlighted risk areas and monitoring 
equipment installed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113



Timetable and capacity 
 
The timetable is not back to pre Covid levels, whilst a sense of normality on our 
busiest two lines of route (Southport and Chester) has been employed, it has not 
been possible to reintroduce a 15 min service on other lines, because a reliable and 
robust service cannot be guaranteed. Such is the volatility of sickness and absence 
and the numbers so tight that if a 15min service was insisted on across the network, 
unplanned cancellations would occur leading to capacity issues on shouldering 
services. 
 
However, Merseyrail have tried to mitigate the concern over frequency by employing 
longer trains more often, this means the actual capacity of spaces on service 
delivered is more than pre Covid. This activity on an aging fleet is not sustainable in 
the long term.  More miles per train means more maintenance and the 507/8 are 
nearing end of life, it is not economically sensible to conduct further heavy 
maintenance when a unit is to be retired and replaced with 777 – but if the 777 
introduction is significantly delayed further, heavy maintenance will have to occur, if 
not  a reduction in capacity / frequency is inevitable. 
 
Merseytravel receive daily reports on patronage levels and are in regular contact 
with operator to understand what enhancements can and should be made. Given the 
variables described and further threat from flu on resources, it is unlikely that any 
further significant Time Table uplifts will be requested prior to the New Year.  
 
 
Working together on SMART enhancements  
 
The demographics of public transport usage significantly changed over the 
pandemic, this though initialised by the pandemic has been encouraged by the 
changing picture of working patterns and use of leisure time. Industry is moving to a 
SMART focussed ticketing offer; and for many years the LCRCA has been at the 
leading edge of this revolution.  
 
To realise the next stage some significant infrastructure needs to be built, to allow 
back office systems to process payments, recognise the journey and talk to other 
systems. The difficulty in joining up these systems is nationally recognised and as a 
national back office is a main tenant of the GB railways project, Merseytravel need to 
ensure that the systems we build are fit for our region but can also be incorporated 
into the national. 
 
We continue to work alongside our multi modal operators, Transport for the North, 
Rail Delivery Group, Transport for Wales and the Department of Transport to realise 
these plans; to introduce more products online to modernise or processes and 
products and ensure accessibility and ease of use to LCRCA residents. 
 

 

Page 114



Appendix Three: Devolution Overview 
 
 
In March 2020 a Memorandum of Understanding  (MoU) was drafted between the 

Liverpool City Region and the DfT to undertake the first step in considering Rail 

Devolution and to undertake a Strategic Outline Business Case to identify the range 

of options or the proposal. 

 

However just when the MoU was ready for sign-off by the DfT the Covid Pandemic 

struck and meant that the agreement was not given formal sign off and devolution 

discussions were paused. 

 

More recently has been the announcement by Grant Shapps of the future 

restructuring of the rail industry and the proposal to bring both rail infrastructure and 

rail operation under the control of a new single body to be called Great British 

Railways, as detailed in a previous report to Transport Committee Members. 

 

Recent discussions have now been undertaken with DfT officials to review the MoU 

and consider how best the Combined Authority can take forward devolution 

proposals. 

 

Working with the DfT and the Great British Railways Transition Team a revised and 

updated MoU which will form the basis for these on-going discussions and consider 

a  range of options as to how the Combined Authority can best influence future rail 

investment and train operations within the proposed new rail industry structure. 

 

Officers have continued to work with Network Rail on improving scheme project 

working with latest workshop held in March of this year and a follow up workshop 

scheduled before year end to improve effectiveness of scheme implementation going 

forward. One of the recommendations of the earlier workshop was to put in place co-

working office arrangements with Network Rail and Merseyrail Electrics, that new 

“rail hub” located on the 8th floor of Mann Island came live as from the beginning of 

October. The train manufacturer Stadler at the same time also leased a section of 

the 8th floor in Mann Island as their UK Train manufacturing HQ base which went 

operational in September. 

 

This provides for the first time a strategic sub-regional rail hub based at the CA 

Headquarters which will have a key role in progressing how future rail interventions 

within Liverpool City Region are effectively developed, managed and implemented 

going forward. 

 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Four: Rolling Stock Programme 

 

Merseytravel have accepted the first three units and Stadler have secured 
authorisation from the ORR to put the new rolling stock into service.  Rolling stock 
manufacturing has continued with forty four of the new fleet having been 
completed.  Of the remaining nine, seven are to be converted to become the 
IPEMUs (battery powered) which will serve the Headbolt Lane to Liverpool Central 
service.  The design of the IPEMU is on track to be completed by the end of 2021 
with delivery to the U.K. and acceptance taking place between October 2022 and 
May 2023.  This will be the first application in the U.K. of this pioneering technology 
which enables operation beyond the 3rd rail infrastructure and delivers significant 
energy savings.  This technology paves the way for significant expansion of the 
Merseyrail network.  
  
Infrastructure upgrades have continued with Network Rail.  The Power Supply 
Upgrade is scheduled for completion by the end of 2021.  This project has been 
challenging commercially and there will be an ongoing analysis of the costs incurred 
by Network Rail and their contractors.  The works to accommodate the slightly longer 
Class 777 units when operating in eight car formation have an anticipated 
completion date of the end of 2022.  The scope of these works has been 
successfully challenged and a reduced overall cost has been developed over the last 
year. 
  
Construction activity at Kirkdale depot is complete and the works to install a new 
washplant at Birkenhead North have commenced on site with completion due in 
March 2022. 
  
The installation of the infrastructure to support network wide wireless connectivity 
(TCIS) is progressing and initial basic system testing has been successfully 
demonstrated.  This system is to be completed in advance of passenger services on 
a route by route basis.  This is another pioneering U.K. first enabling functions such 
as the ability to view CCTV directly from moving trains from the control centre. 
 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     11 November 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All  
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 
 

REPORT OF MERSEYTRAVEL  
 
 

MULTI-OPERATOR TICKETING SCHEME –  
PRODUCT AND PRICING UPDATE & PROPOSALS 

 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

The purpose of the report is to approve ticketing recommendations relating to 
specific scheme arrangements, product and price changes for all Merseytravel 
multi- operator and multi-modal pre-paid tickets for 2022.   
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is requested that the Transport Committee approve the following: 
 

(a) annual price recommendations for the Merseytravel Multi-Operator Ticketing 
Scheme products, to be fully implemented by the 4 January 2022 (or August 
2022 for Term time tickets) for Trio, Solo, My Ticket and Saveaway tickets as 
outlined in Appendix 1 of this report; and 

 
(b) annual price recommendations for the Merseytravel Railpass Multi-Operator 

Rail Ticketing Scheme products, to be fully implemented in line with national 
increase in 2022 (or August 2022 for Term time tickets) as outlined in 
Appendix 1 of this report 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Merseytravel Multi-Operator Ticketing Scheme (the Scheme) is a ticketing 

scheme owned by the Combined Authority and administered by Merseytravel as the 
Executive body responsible for delivering public transport services on the Combined 
Authority’s behalf.  It is structured as a voluntary partnership under powers granted 
by the Transport Act 2000.  Commercial transport operators are invited to 
participate in the scheme which provides affordable multi-operator or multi-modal 
transport tickets to people wishing to use more than one operator or transport mode 

Page 119

Agenda Item 10



on the public transport network across the region, but mainly within Merseyside, 
apart from My Ticket which extends to Halton via bus.   
 

3.2 The  scheme encourages sustainable patronage to promote real passenger growth.  
The scheme ensures that there is a legal local ticketing offer that can be used on 
more than one operator (multi operator) and more than one mode (multi modal) in 
the interest of providing customers with affordable transport tickets.  As a result, 
price increases no greater than the average RPI annual percent change (based on 
RPI levels in July each year) are generally applied each year to the Merseytravel 
Ticketing Scheme suite of multi-operator tickets.   

 
3.3 In late 2019/ early 2020, as part of the wider ticketing programme, a scheme 

governance review was undertaken and the agreement updated to reflect current 
practices as the smart ticketing agenda evolves. This agreement is still awaiting 
final sign off from participating operators, however the scheme continues and 
tickets remain available to the public. This governance review included the price 
setting process – with the recommendations for approval by Merseytravel and the 
Combined Authority coming directly from the Ticketing Operators Steering Group. 
Whilst the default position is to increase by RPI, there are other social and 
economic factors taken into account by the group in making their recommendations 
annually. 

 
3.4 The outbreak of Covid-19 has significantly impacted the transport network and in 

turn this has impacted the annual multi operator ticketing price setting process. 
Within the rail industry, the national rail operators are receiving national funding 
support and a price rise within the industry was implemented in the first quarter of 
2021 at the rate of inflation in July 2020. On this basis, the RailPass product was 
increased by 1.8% in March 2021. That same support is not currently offered to 
Merseyrail Electrics. 

 
3.5 However, the bus industry is slightly different in that bus operators were in receipt of 

a Covid-19 Bus Services Support Grant (CBSSG), the terms of which meant bus 
fares could not be changed, upwards or downwards, until one month after the grant 
had come to an end.  

 
3.6 Therefore, for 2021 Multi Operator and Multi Modal tickets price setting, there was 

no price increase in line with inflation for the bus only products, My Ticket and Solo, 
as well as the multi modal products, Trio and Saveaway. Their last increase was in 
January 2020, apart from My Ticket which was last increased in 2017. 

 
3.7 CBSSG funding from the DfT came to an end in August 2021, meaning there is no 

longer any restriction in bus operator or multi modal tickets being increased as we 
approach 2022. 

 
3.8 In considering the price setting for 2022 on the Merseytravel suite of products, 

officers have engaged with transport operators as part of the formal ticketing 
governance arrangements. Operators positions naturally vary, but all operators are 
seeking an RPI increase in the Merseytravel ticketing products citing a number of 
key reasons why: - 

 
o Costs within the sector have increased in line with RPI, and sometimes 

greater over the past two years. 

Page 120



o It is expected that the main costs, fuel and labour, will increase further next 
year, likely ahead of inflation. 

o Many of the current ticketing products were not increased in 2021 in line with 
inflation. 

o The pandemic has seen loss of revenue for operators as less people utilise 
their services. 

 
3.9 It is recognised by officers that some of the risks above do indeed sit with operators, 

and there is a balance to be met annually with increasing costs and affordability for 
the travelling public. This is none more so than in 2022 as the industry, the city 
region and the country looks to recover from the pandemic, and promote the use of 
public transport as people start to travel again. 

 
3.10 There is a real argument that there should be no increase on any ticketing products 

as we promote public transport across the region and encourage users to return to 
such. Any increase could be seen as a further barrier to returning to a full economic 
recovery from Covid-19. 

 
3.11 In balancing this decision, officers would recommend a small increase, but not the 

full RPI increase as allowed for in the July 2021 level of inflation (3.8%). In making 
this recommendation, officers have considered the impacts a prize freeze would 
have on operators costs, making parts of the transport network less sustainable. 
With this in mind, and the rising costs of providing the service, and the upward trend 
of these costs, officers are minded to recommend an increase of 2% across the 
majority of ticket types for  2022. Whilst this will see a small increase across most 
ticket modes, there will be no price increase for My Ticket. 

 
3.12 The only exception to this approach is the RailPass product, which is heavily 

influenced by the national position due to our regional railway network. Whilst that 
position remains undetermined at a national level, officers would recommend that 
within Liverpool City Region the national position is followed, with a cap regionally 
set at the 3.8% RPI level in July 2021. In effect, the most that RailPass can be 
increased during 2022 is 3.8%, even if a national decision is taken to increase by a 
higher amount. For clarity, if the decision nationally is to increase by a lower 
amount, or not at all, then this will be mirrored in Liverpool City Region. 

 
3.13 Based on the above, Appendix 1 outlines the full product and pricing proposals for 

2022 (and the variances from existing prices) which relate to the current  Scheme. 
This document shows a maximum increase for RailPass products for approval 
purposes, but these prices will not be fixed until a national position is announced. 
All other products types will be increased by 4 January 2022, apart from term time/ 
academic products which will increase in line with the new academic year in August 
2022. 

 
3.14 It is important to note that the Bus Services Improvement Plan (BSIP) is running in 

parallel with this report and may well influence final ticket prices, subject to national 
government response. As this is a multi-modal ticketing scheme, progress has been 
made around the ticketing offer as the BSIP has been developed and remains a 
separate process at this stage. 

  
  

Page 121



4.   RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 

Merseytravel has budgeted to absorb the usual administrative costs associated with 
ticketing price changes for the existing  Scheme.  The two direct financial 
implications associated with this ticket increase relate to Mersey Ferries and 
supported bus services, where the proposed increase would generate an estimated 
£11k additional income per annum. 
 
The prepaid ticketing products generated £36.7m in ticket sales during 2019/20, the 
last full year pre-covid. All of this income is re-paid to transport operators across the 
region on an agreed apportionment model, with all scheme costs met by 
Merseytravel. 

  
 
4.2  Human Resources 
 
 There are no HR implications associated with this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
 There are no Asset related implications associated with this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 

Prices will need to be updated by participating bus operators on their electronic 
ticket machines (ETMs) for all services across the Liverpool City Region, as well as 
on the Paypoint EPOS terminals and internal EPOS systems.  If approval is given, 
operators will have time to update the prices on their retail systems in readiness for 
the price change date at their own cost.   

 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 There is a risk that operators will not accept the level of price increase and may 

withdraw from the  Scheme.  However, consultation has taken place with 
participating operators to ensure views are considered. Operators are not in 
agreement with the recommended prices and therefore this is a live risk for 
Members to consider. In order to mitigate this risk, a small, lower than inflation price 
increase has been recommended by officers. 

 
5.2 There is a risk that the fares will not be updated in the fares systems in time for the 

change.  This has been mitigated by sharing details of the fare amendments ahead 
of the proposed change date, to allow all participating suppliers/operators time to 
make the alterations in their respective systems. 

 
5.3 There is a risk that not increasing the fares in line with inflation may put financial 

pressure on transport operators, resulting in a review of service provision. 
  

Page 122



 
5.4 There is a risk that any price increase will see a further reduction in demand for 

public transport and see modal migration from public transport into less sustainable 
modes of transport, i.e. the car. This is considered and mitigated in the report by 
offering lower than RPI increases. 

 
 
6.   EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1  An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed with these recommendations. 
 
6.2  Whilst any price increase will create negative financial impacts across all groups, t

 he fact that the increase is below the designated RPI levels restricts this impact and 
 ensures the Merseytravel pre-paid tickets are an affordable means of ticket for 
 multi- operator and multi- modal travel. Applying the RPI levels across all ticket 
 types ensures none of the protected characteristics are disadvantaged 
 disproportionately in this case. 

 
6.3  There are social economic issues associated with this price increase, adversely 

 impacting those members of our community who rely on public transport with no 
 other choice – for example non car owners. However, the lower than RPI increase, 
 in comparison with the car as an example means public transport remains at a 
 lower cost than car travel. 
 
 

7.   PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no privacy impliations associated with this report. 
 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 

8.1 A coordinated engagement, communications and marketing programme is planned 
to support the ticketing price changes.  This will include participating operators 
publishing price changes and communicating directly with customer, where 
appropriate.   

 
8.2 Full consultation has taken place with bus and rail operators regarding these 

proposed changes, despite agreement not being reached and operators are aware 
of these recommendations. 

 
8.3 Merseytravel will continue to work with operators on how we communicate the 

ticketing offer to customers. 
 
  

Page 123



 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 This report looks to bring together the usual annual multi operator and multi modal 
 ticket setting process, and manage such in line with the exceptional Covid-19 
 related issues the transport network faces over the last 18 months. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Interim Director General, Merseytravel 

 
 
 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
Gary Evans, Assistant Director, Customer Delivery, Merseytravel, 0151 330 4502 
Joanna Sawyer, Corporate Communications Manager, Merseytravel, 0151 330 1129 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 - Product and Fare 2022 Proposal 
 
 
Background Documents:  

 
None 
 
 

Page 124



Fare Proposals:
Term-Time & School Year tickets prices to increase from August 2022.  RailPass to be confirmed. All other remaining ticket duration types to increase by the 4th January 2022.

TRIO 1 Zone 2022 2 Zones/1 Area 2022

3 Zones/ 1 Area 

and 1 Zone 2022 All Zones 2022

Weekly 19.70£                          20.00£                      24.60£                   25.10£                   31.60£              32.20£              41.10£                 41.90£                 

Monthly 69.90£                          71.30£                      87.70£                   89.50£                   109.10£            111.30£            142.20£               145.00£               

Term Time 142.90£                       145.80£                   180.90£                 184.50£                 225.90£            230.40£            295.00£               300.90£               

Annual Peak 700.00£                       714.00£                   876.90£                 894.40£                 1,091.70£         1,113.50£         1,421.70£            1,450.10£            

School Year (LEA) 430.70£                       439.30£                   544.80£                 555.70£                 671.20£            684.60£            876.80£               894.30£               

Weekly 9.85£                            10.00£                      12.30£                   12.55£                   15.80£              16.10£              20.55£                 20.95£                 

Term Time 93.50£                          95.40£                      117.90£                 120.30£                 146.90£            149.80£            191.60£               195.40£               

School Year (LEA) 279.60£                       285.10£                   354.40£                 361.50£                 436.50£            445.20£            570.20£               581.60£                

RAILPASS 1 Zone 2022 2 Zone/1 Area 2022

3 Zones/ 1 Area 

and 1 Zone 2022 All Zones 2022

Weekly 17.40£                          18.00£                      21.50£                   22.30£                   27.30£              28.30£              35.00£                 36.30£                 

Monthly 60.30£                          62.60£                      75.50£                   78.40£                   94.00£              97.60£              122.00£               126.60£               

Term Time 123.85£                       128.60£                   157.25£                 163.20£                 193.95£            201.30£            254.30£               264.00£               

Annual Peak 603.60£                       626.50£                   755.00£                 783.70£                 942.00£            977.80£            1,220.90£            1,267.30£            

Weekly 8.70£                            9.00£                        10.75£                   11.15£                   13.65£              14.15£              17.50£                 18.15£                 

Monthly 30.15£                          31.30£                      37.75£                   39.20£                   47.00£              48.80£              61.00£                 63.30£                 

Term Time 80.40£                          83.50£                      102.20£                 106.10£                 126.00£            130.80£            165.30£               171.60£               

SOLO All Areas 2022

Adult

Weekly 19.70£                          20.00£                      

Monthly (B2B tickets Only) 68.80£                          70.20£                      

4 Weekly 66.50£                          67.80£                      

Term Time 142.00£                       144.80£                   

Annual Peak 686.70£                       700.40£                   

Young Person

Weekly 9.85£                            10.00£                      

Adult

Young Person

Multi - Operator Ticket Prices

2021

Adult

Young Person

2021

P
age 125



4-Weekly (New) 33.25£                          33.90£                      

Term TIme 93.00£                          94.80£                      

School Year (LEA) 265.20£                       270.50£                   

SAVEAWAY 1 Area 2022 All Areas 2022

Adult 4.20£                            4.30£                        5.55£                     5.65£                     

Young Person 2.40£                            2.45£                        2.85£                     2.90£                     

2021

SOLO DAY All Areas 2022

Adult 1-day 4.90£                            5.00£                        

Adult 3-day bundle 13.80£                          14.10£                      

Adult 5-day bundle 21.50£                          21.90£                      

MY TICKET All Areas (Inc Halton) 2022

Day 2.20£                            2.20£                        

Increase of 2% on all products apart from Railpass - which is 3.8% in line with national position.

2021

P
age 126



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     11 November 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF MERSEYTRAVEL 
 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT - 1APRIL 2021 TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 This report provides the Members of the Transport Committee with details of 

Merseytravel’s financial performance for the period through to 30 September 2021.   
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Transport Committee note the contents of this report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 A budget of £121.766m was approved by Merseytravel on 10 March 2021 with a 

grant provided from the Combined Authority of £93.114m for the operation of 
Transport services and a grant of £23.088m to cover the operational costs 
associated with the Mersey Tunnels. In addition, a grant of £2.926m was provided 
from CA Rail specific reserves to support the Rolling Stock project team costs. To 
balance the overall revenue budget, a contribution of £2.639m was made from 
reserves.  

 
3.2 A revised budget of £119.8m was approved by the Board at its meeting 4 October 

2021.  The reduction in expenditure was offset by a reduction of £0.536m in the 
Merseytravel grant, £0.391m reduction in the Tunnels operating grant and a £1.7m 
reduction to the application of reserves from the Combined Authority in respect of 
Rolling Stock costs. 

 
 Revenue Performance 
 
3.3 The table overleaf details revenue expenditure for Merseytravel to 30 September 

2021. A detailed breakdown of revenue expenditure by service area is included at 
Appendix One. 

  

Page 127

Agenda Item 11



Table 1 Revenue Expenditure to 30 September 2021 
 

Service Area Annual 
Budget  
£’000 

Phased 
Budget  
£’000 

Spend to 
Date 
£’000 

Variance 
 

£’000 

Bus 19,554 8,748 8,150 598 

Rail 6,744 3,031 3,213 (182) 

Rolling Stock 2,926 1,429 (134) 1,563 

Concessionary Travel 48,487 25,479 23,519 1,960 

Ferries 1,911 892 339 553 

Mersey Tunnels 16,213 7,146 6,770 376 

Customer Delivery 4,748 2,422 2,021 400 

IT 4,478 2,674 2,622 52 

Policy & LTP 346 173 153 20 

People Development 1,668 643 603 40 

Asset Management 10,133 4,750 4,556 194 

Finance 1,260 573 553 21 

Legal, Democratic & 
Procurement 

1,208 602 474 128 

Internal Audit 583 396 387 9 

Programme Management 
Office 

639 317 296 21 

Corporate Costs 748 365 111 254 

Corporate Management 822 447 357 90 

Total Expenditure 122,466 60,087 53,991 6,096 

Funded By     

Merseytravel Grant (93,328) (46,557) (46,557) 0 

Mersey Tunnels Grant (23,088) (11,544) (11,544) 0 

CA Reserves (2,926) 0 0 0 

Merseytravel Reserves (3,124) 0 0 0 

Total Income (122,466) (58,101) (58,101) 0 

Net Budget Requirement 0 1,986 (4,110) 6,096 

 
3.4 The main variances are detailed below: 
 

 Bus – income from supported bus services is higher than budgeted as a result of 

the recovery in patronage being better than anticipated at the time of budget setting.  

Higher payments to operators have been offset by additional grant income from the 

Department for Transport. 

 

 Rail – additional consultancy work has been incurred as a result of work undertaken 

in relation to obligations under Operator of Last Resort. Approval for this 

expenditure has been given by Merseytravel and will be reflected in the revised 

budget.  

 

 Rolling Stock - is underspent against revenue project costs in areas such as 

engineering consultancy and recharges for MEL staff. We have not incurred any 

costs for stabling due to the delay of the acceptance of units, and hence also not 

incurred additional NNLNNG costs for insurance associated with the new fleet. We 

are incurring costs for Driver Training that will extend and will be dependent on 

Page 128



entry into service dates, but these costs are presently more than offset by savings 

from Angel Trains, with 3 units now off lease which can still be charged to MEL as 

part of NNLNNG. 

 

 Concessionary Travel – reduced payments reflecting reductions to network 

coverage over the period.  Current forecasts are that payments will rise over the 

year. 

 

 Ferries – additional service charge income of £127k has been received in the period 

which was not factored into the budget due to there being uncertainty over the 

recoverability of these sums.  In addition, £94k of insurance revenue was received 

for Pierhead Landing Stage and damage to Royal Iris which was not budgeted. 

Other income has exceeded budget as a result of a prudent budget set due to the 

uncertainty surrounding Covid-19. 

 

 Tunnels – the variance is largely explained by a saving on maintenance budgets. 

 Customer Delivery – the variance is mainly represented by £319k premises 

underspend, most significantly savings on security and cleaning contracts (£87k), 

various repairs and painting (£141k) and receipt of a rates rebate (£61k). 

 

 Corporate Costs – reductions in the pension fund recharges. 

 
 Capital Expenditure 

 
3.5 The table below provides details of the spend on capital up to the end of September 

2021.  A more detailed scheme-based analysis is included at Appendix Two. 
 

Service Area Budget  
£’000 

Spend to Date 
£’000 

Variance 
£’000 

Bus 10,069 915 9,154 

Rail 25,611 12,393 13,219 

Rolling Stock 94,159 43,802 50,357 

Ferries 6,810 3,526 3,284 

Mersey Tunnels 8,552 2,494 6,058 

Customer Delivery 170 159 11 

IT 1,151 154 996 

Smart Ticketing 1,241 110 1,131 

Corporate Strategy 1,349 49 1,300 

Mann Island 93 40 53 

Corporate Services 20 0 20 

Total Expenditure 149,225 63,643 85,583 

 
3.6 Expenditure to the end of September 2021 represents 43% of the budgeted spend 

for the year.  Whilst spend to date is low, capital spend in the first two quarters 
tends to be suppressed with spend picking up into the third and fourth quarter.  
The key variances are detailed below. 

 

 Bus - Hydrogen Bus is by far the largest capital project with a budget of 
£7.65m.  The supplier has been chosen and the fuel procurement is still 

Page 129



underway.  Bus Scheduling Software and Bus Priorities have incurred no 
spend to date, but contracts have been awarded and should start to see 
improvements in the coming months.  Bus Stop Accessibility Improvements 
have raised orders of £125k and are awaiting Wirral approval.  Green Bus 
Routes spend is in line with budget. 
 

 Rail - For the Headbolt Lane project a decision has been made for the route 
to be powered by Independently Powered Electric Multiple Units (IPEMU) 
rather than third rail given the successful trial of IPEMU earlier in the year. 
Cost of IPEMU is £14m which may have some of the cost  offset by savings 
of not installing the additional electrification between Kirkby and Headbolt 
Lane. Profile of this spend will be different than installation of third rail, with a 
partial payment being made up front to secure the order of batteries. Network 
Rail have recently informed the project of additional costs overall.  St James 
has had an issue with fly tipping that isn’t currently accrued or within budget 
and clearance of the site was originally quoted at £145k. Access for All 
progress is on target and expected to be fully spent by year end. Lea Green 
work is underway to control spend and time frames. The LSP renewals 
project has an expectation for works in the second half of the year. 
 

 Rolling Stock - Current forecast is circa £100 million. A change in the 
schedule for the acceptance of the new fleet has been accepted which will 
see approx. £4m more spend this financial year. This is a change in profile 
and not additional costs, the costs are aligned to agreed delivery milestones 
and agreed variations. We have accepted 2 units of the new 777 fleet, with a 
further unit to be accepted in October 21. 

 

 Ferries – Seacombe Landing Stage Dry Docks project had a projected 
unfunded overspend of £1.4m.  This has arisen as a result of additional 
works identified upon lifting the pontoon.  It has been proposed that this 
underspend is funded through the curtailment of Tunnels capital projects in 
this financial year. 

 

 Tunnels - New Toll System Outline Design and Build Site, testing is 
scheduled for October month end, possibility of November slip, and the lane 
infrastructure is installed.  There is confidence that this scheme will be 
delivered in 2021/22. Kingsway Replace Sump Pump Drainage Pipework 
System is currently out to tender, response to site visits is low which is of 
concern. Prom Vent Transformers and HV Switch Renewals Works are now 
complete. Kingsway Refurb Tunnel Entrances, the concrete painting repairs 
project is now complete, and invoices expected to total £510k, lessons learnt 
and formal closure in late October. Taylor Street & New Quay Repairs is to 
tender for a contractor to undertake external building repairs. The inspection 
report identified a relatively short list of tasks hence the reduction in 
reforecast budget. Tender responses are due by the end of October. 

 
 IT - Only three of the largest projects have begun spending with no spend at 

all on Cisco and Performance Management System. Cisco UCS is out to 
procurement and spend will be dependent on the costs received.  There is 
the possibility this project may come in a little under budget. Performance 
Management System – the team are still gathering the requirements in order 
to go to out to procurement. This project is unlikely to spend by year end and 

Page 130



will need to be slipped into 22/23. BackUp Infrastructure Tech Refresh - 
following the procurement exercise some underspend is now anticipated on 
this scheme. Cortex KWM Replacement - this budget was set at a very high 
specification. The team are struggling to get this scheme started as the 
specification is under review. As a result, it is in danger of not spending.  This 
scheme may need to be slipped into 22/23 year. Infrastructure Refresh & 
Development – this project is currently not spending. 

 

 Corporate Strategy - ITB Transport and Congestion, UTC Traffic Signals and 
LCR Cycle network projects have not spent any capital to date although it is 
worth noting that as part of congestion project active travel sensors are 
imperative to ensure LCRCA can report to DfT offering LCR opportunity to 
evidence future investments, this is currently out to tender.  Other activities to 
be undertaken will include an extension to the Key Route Network (KRN) 
Carriageway Asset Management Plan (CAMP) to enable the LCR KRN to 
understand the condition of other assets on the KRN. 

 
 Financial Risks and Reserves Position  
 
3.7 Taking account of the proposed application of reserves in support of the revenue 

and capital proposals for the current financial year, the projected reserves position 
as at 31 March 2022 is detailed below. 
Table 3 Application of Reserves 

 

 Balance at   
31 March 2021 

£’000 

Net In Year 
Movement 

£’000 

Balance at   
1 April 2022 

£’000 

Capital Reserves 
Earmarked Reserves 
Revenue/ Working Balances 

5,746 
48,332 

4,619 

(3,752) 
(3,124) 

0 

1,994 
45,208 

4,619 

Total 58,697 (6,876) 51,821 

 
3.8 A number of key financial risks still face Merseytravel which could necessitate 

application of reserves.  Key financial risks are detailed below: 
 

 The Beatles Story –whilst current projections for 2021/22 are aimed at 
achieving a break-even position, there is a risk that visitor numbers remain 
subdued and trading is lower than anticipated.  Whilst there is some 
confidence that the budgeted position for the current financial year can be 
achieved, patronage still remains subdued and there is a risk that visitor 
numbers fail to recover to pre pandemic levels which would impact on 
longer term profitability.  Historically the Beatles Story has generated a net 
profit which has flowed through to Mersey Ferries to reduce the operating 
grant required from Merseytravel to support its operations.  Failure to 
return to this position would have direct impact on the longer-term finances 
for Ferries.  

 

 Mersey Ferries Limited –as with the Beatles Story, whilst there is some 
confidence that the budgeted position for the year can be achieved, there 
remains uncertainty around recovery of patronage.  Across all modes of 
public transport patronage is supressed and there is a risk that levels will 
not return to those seen pre pandemic.  There is also a concern as to 

Page 131



whether the level of tourist trade will return as leisure income is a 
significant element of Ferries revenue.   The impact on Ferries is two-fold: 
firstly income generated from services may fail to recover thus requiring a 
continued increase in the financial support required from Merseytravel 
which would secondly be exacerbated should dividends fail to flow through 
from the Beatles Story. 

 

 Bus –whilst there is more certainty around the quantum of bus recovery 
funding and its sufficiency, there remain a number of inflationary factors 
within the bus market that are likely to place upward pressure on 
operator’s costs.  There are two risk arising from this: firstly that this leads 
to services being deregistered or contracts handed back which would 
leave gaps in the network that may require Merseytravel to add new 
supported services, and secondly that the cost of new contracts exceeds 
the values of previous tenders.  Both situations would place upwards 
pressure on the bus budget. 

 

 Rail services – the MEL network has operated throughout the Covid19 
pandemic without any form of government support and at this juncture it is 
highly unlikely that any support will be provided.  As a consequence the 
operator has taken a much more overtly commercial approach to the 
Concession with Merseytravel and has actively sought recourse to 
Merseytravel for financial support where they feel that under the 
Concession’s No Net Loss No Net Gain clause they should be 
recompensed.  In the event Merseytravel is required to provide 
recompense to MEL this would represent a potentially significant liability 
which is not currently included in the current budget. 

 

 Rolling Stock – the delivery of the project has been negatively impacted by 
Covid19 with delivery being delayed, which has placed upwards pressure 
on the overall costs of the project.  The overall business case was 
predicated on achieving higher levels of passenger revenue however 
patronage on the network has also been impacted by Covid and there is 
uncertainty around the timing and quantum of patronage recovery.  To the 
extent that the original business case assumptions are unachievable there 
will be additional costs to Merseytravel stemming from the project over the 
medium term that are currently outside the budget. 

 
 

4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
 Detailed above in this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 

Page 132



4.4 Information Technology 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
7. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 Financial performance for Merseytravel to the end of September remains within 

budget and based on current projections, outturn revenue spend will remain within 
the budget set.  

 
 

SARAH JOHNSTON 
Assistant Director, Finance 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director, Finance, Tel 0151 330 1015 
Jess Whitley, Strategic Finance Manager, 0151 330 1030 
Joanne Macready, Strategic Finance Manager, 0151 330 1011 
Joanna Sawyer, Corporate Communications Manager, Tel 0151 330 1129 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix One – Detailed Revenue Expenditure 
Appendix Two Detail Capital Expenditure 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix One

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Asset Management
Employees 6,600,669 3,247,414 3,303,008 (55,594)
Premises 4,937,353 2,364,320 2,398,354 (34,034)
Transport 177,000 88,500 71,657 16,843
Supplies & Services 265,944 132,972 131,981 991
Third Party Payments 0 0 243 (243)
Other Costs 44,000 (0) 0 (0)
Income (1,892,373) (1,083,686) (1,349,311) 265,625
Total Asset Management 10,132,594 4,749,520 4,555,931 193,589

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Audit
Employees 576,108 361,387 357,576 3,811
Premises 221,218 221,218 103,089 118,129
Transport 201,581 201,080 102,323 98,757
Vessels 41,056 41,056 12,984 28,072
Supplies & Services 420,346 393,931 155,480 238,451
Income (877,309) (823,131) (344,454) (478,677)
Total Audit 583,000 395,541 386,997 8,544

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Bus Services
Employees 2,451,191 1,216,021 1,183,773 32,248
Premises 117,305 26,070 31,817 (5,747)
Transport 91,130 45,565 23,546 22,019
Supplies & Services 1,253,840 297,001 329,330 (32,329)
Third Party Payments 19,287,018 9,654,907 11,912,418 (2,257,512)
Income (3,646,500) (2,492,054) (5,330,910) 2,838,855
Total Bus Services 19,553,983 8,747,509 8,149,974 597,534

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Concessionary Travel
Third Party Payments 54,408,815 28,667,486 27,736,043 931,443
Income (5,921,815) (3,188,668) (4,216,839) 1,028,171
Total Concessionary Travel 48,487,000 25,478,818 23,519,204 1,959,614

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

MERSEYTRAVEL REVENUE EXPENDITURE BY SERVICE AREA AS AT SEPTEMBER 2021

Page 135



Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Corporate Management
Employees 743,410 370,805 344,145 26,660
Transport 11,257 5,629 1,379 4,249
Supplies & Services 259,650 166,825 104,649 62,176
Support Service Recharges 87,316 43,658 40,553 3,105
Income (279,633) (139,817) (134,080) (5,736)
Total Corporate Management 822,000 447,100 356,646 90,454

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Corporate Costs
Employees 650,000 324,996 223,603 101,393
Supplies & Services 407,000 196,000 47,215 148,785
Other Costs 10,000 4,000 0 4,000
Income (319,000) (159,500) (159,735) 235
Total Corporate Costs 748,000 365,496 111,083 254,413

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Customer Delivery
Employees 3,900,688 2,052,302 2,011,701 40,601
Premises 1,968,367 1,233,444 914,451 318,992
Transport 5,660 2,850 3,683 (833)
Supplies & Services 454,044 223,904 325,296 (101,392)
Support Service Recharges 0 0 1 (1)
Income (1,581,147) (1,090,978) (1,234,064) 143,085
Total Customer Delivery 4,747,612 2,421,521 2,021,069 400,453

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Mersey Ferries
Employees 2,041,752 1,021,710 974,283 47,427
Premises 995,133 627,736 607,683 20,053
Transport 62,661 41,903 9,032 32,871
Vessels 726,512 343,122 301,108 42,013
Supplies & Services 290,208 170,141 104,070 66,071
Income (2,205,675) (1,312,384) (1,657,131) 344,747
Total Mersey Ferries 1,910,592 892,227 339,044 553,183

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

Page 136



Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Finance
Employees 1,572,942 768,863 750,548 18,315
Transport 1,000 495 0 495
Supplies & Services 70,977 34,043 32,694 1,349
Income (384,919) (229,960) (230,339) 379
Total Finance 1,260,000 573,441 552,903 20,538

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

IT
Employees 2,167,620 1,070,554 1,085,405 (14,851)
Transport 7,279 3,648 1,795 1,853
Supplies & Services 2,893,659 1,986,421 1,925,737 60,684
Income (590,394) (386,196) (390,620) 4,424
Total IT 4,478,164 2,674,427 2,622,318 52,109

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Legal
Employees 1,360,754 671,377 643,587 27,790
Transport 2,500 1,250 90 1,160
Supplies & Services 254,070 134,350 50,063 84,287
Income (409,379) (204,690) (219,726) 15,037
Total Legal 1,207,945 602,288 474,013 128,275

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

People & Customer Development
Employees 1,613,809 784,519 725,233 59,286
Transport 4,539 2,270 (1,437) 3,706
Supplies & Services 34,875 10,937 13,038 (2,100)
Support Service Recharges 401,094 149,439 128,273 21,166
Income (386,301) (304,150) (262,106) (42,044)
Total People & Customer Development 1,668,016 643,014 603,000 40,014

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

Page 137



Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Programme Management Office
Employees 795,110 393,390 339,783 53,607
Transport 600 495 0 495
Supplies & Services 6,445 3,993 3,916 77
Income (162,787) (80,520) (47,402) (33,118)
Total Programme Management Office 639,368 317,358 296,297 21,061

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Policy & LTP Development
Employees 469,910 234,955 205,442 29,513
Transport 1,900 950 0 950
Supplies & Services 1,900 950 14,385 (13,435)
Income (128,145) (64,073) (66,837) 2,764
Total Policy & LTP Development 345,565 172,782 152,990 19,792

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Rail Services
Employees 765,003 399,961 418,782 (18,821)
Premises 252,102 121,326 100,493 20,834
Transport 8,446 103 0 103
Supplies & Services 380,130 115,865 245,781 (129,916)
Third Party Payments 106,620,883 49,828,760 49,887,734 (58,974)
Income (101,282,980) (47,435,374) (47,439,739) 4,365
Total Rail Services 6,743,585 3,030,641 3,213,051 (182,410)

Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Rolling Stock
Employees 593,733 294,466 295,194 (728)
Transport 35,444 20,444 2,785 17,659
Supplies & Services 2,024,173 970,498 296,488 674,010
Third Party Payments 272,300 143,619 734,655 (591,036)
Income 0 0 (1,462,652) 1,462,652
Total Rolling Stock 2,925,650 1,429,027 (133,530) 1,562,557

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

Page 138



Annual Budget Budget Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Mersey Tunnels
Employees 4,210,284 2,401,731 2,385,432 16,300
Premises 3,067,357 1,457,003 1,160,041 296,962
Transport 147,559 52,023 41,597 10,426
Supplies & Services 1,299,842 741,255 704,620 36,636
Third Party Payments 8,251 0 2,192 (2,192)
Other Costs 7,480,000 2,494,000 2,494,189 (189)
Income 0 0 (18,015) 18,015
Total Mersey Tunnels 16,213,293 7,146,012 6,770,054 375,958

YEAR TO DATE £

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Two

Annual Budget
Total 

Expenditure
Budget Remaining

Capital - Bus Services
Bus Priorities 39,147 36,461 2,686
RTPI @ Bus Stations 55,734 5,632 50,102
Bus/Rail Interchange 10,243 2,082 8,161
ITS Route A57 0 10,817 (10,817)
Old Roan Interchange 4,000 1,001 2,999
Black Bull 38,000 0 38,000
Cirty Centre Duke Street 6,143 0 6,143
Bus Scheduling Software 150,000 0 150,000
West Derby Road Shelter Upgrade 100,000 0 100,000
Northway Bus Stop Improvements 100,000 0 100,000
QR Codes 50,000 0 50,000
2021-2022 Bus stop Upgrades 115,000 110,337 4,663
2021-2022 General Bus Stops 40,000 29,850 10,150
2021-2022 Bus Priorities 150,000 0 150,000
2021-2022 Bus Stop Accessibility Improvements 444,000 126,791 317,209
2021-2022 Bus/Rail Interchange 81,000 0 81,000
2021-2022 Green Bus Routes Study 120,000 0 120,000
2021-2022 Green Bus routes Study Watermans 746,000 363,243 382,757
2021-2022 RTI Management Performance Analytics 150,000 0 150,000
2021-2022 Infrastructure for Electric Vehicles 20,000 14,638 5,362
2021-2022 Hydrogen Bus 7,650,000 214,491 7,435,509
Total Capital - Bus Services 10,069,267 915,343 9,153,924

Annual Budget
Total 

Expenditure
Budget Remaining

Capital - Smart Ticketing
Smart Ticketing Phase 2 1,240,850 9,268 1,231,582
Metrosmart Phase 3 0 96,300 (96,300)
Ferries Ticketing Solution 0 3,675 (3,675)
Account Based Ticketing 0 646 (646)
Total Capital - Smart Ticketing 1,240,850 109,889 1,130,961

Annual Budget
Total 

Expenditure
Budget Remaining

Capital - Ferries
Pontoons & Bridges remedial works 0 18,478 (18,478)
Naval Architect 175,000 25,659 149,341
Seacombe Landing Stage Dry Dock 5,455,000 3,036,317 2,418,683
Marine Architect 50,000 3,655 46,345
Smart Transport Ticketing 0 11,674 (11,674)
Specialist Marine Engineer 120,000 90,079 29,921
Terminals Interface Works 31,000 31,000 0
Eureka Supporting Works 134,815 134,815 (0)
Seacombe Terminal Building Remedial work 290,000 64,195 225,805
Stages Pontoons Inspections & Remedials 83,763 29,314 54,449
Seacombe Terminal Building System Works 30,000 0 30,000
CCTV Refresh 90,422 80,749 9,673
Woodside Development LUF 350,000 0 350,000
Total Capital - Ferries 6,810,000 3,525,936 3,284,064

Annual Budget
Total 

Expenditure
Budget Remaining

Capital - Customer Delivery
Queens Square Facility Building 0 (10,499) 10,499
CCTV Refresh 170,000 169,572 428
Total Capital - Customer Delivery 170,000 159,073 10,927

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL SPEND AS AT SEPTEMBER 2021

Page 141



Appendix Two

MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL SPEND AS AT SEPTEMBER 2021

Annual Budget
Total 

Expenditure
Budget Remaining

Capital - Corporate Strategy
ITB Congestion 658,460 1,303 657,157
Strategic Priorities 330,861 19,739 311,122
ITB Transport Development 219,106 0 219,106
ITB Major Scheme Management 34,416 0 34,416
UTC Traffic Signals 46,994 0 46,994
LCR Cycle Network Phase 2 58,207 0 58,207
Emergency Active Relief Fund 1,131 28,258 (27,127)
Total Capital - Corporate Strategy 1,349,175 49,300 1,299,875

Annual Budget
Total 

Expenditure
Budget Remaining

Capital - IT
Laptop Replacement 30,000 8,271 21,729
HR System 16,804 6,244 10,560
Data Storage Refresh 37,901 11,390 26,511
Cisco UCS M3/M4 Blade Refresh 150,000 0 150,000
Scada Firewall Refresh 40,000 33,938 6,062
Rail Reimbursement System 90,000 30,085 59,915
Legal Case Management System 20,000 21,000 (1,000)
Infrastructure Refresh & Development 110,000 1,348 108,652
Sharepoint Migration Tool 50,000 0 50,000
Performance Management System 100,000 0 100,000
Web URL Filtering 20,000 0 20,000
Sostenuto Cloud 6,000 6,000 0
Sip Trunks 20,000 0 20,000
Tolls Xenteo Replacements 70,000 0 70,000
PCI Compliance 20,000 3,320 16,680
Data Centre Improvements 50,000 0 50,000
Backup Infrastructure Tech Refresh 125,000 9,100 115,900
Cortex KWM Replacement 180,000 23,690 156,310
Triple Play Replacement 15,000 0 15,000
Total Capital - IT 1,150,705 154,386 996,319

Annual Budget
Total 

Expenditure
Budget Remaining

Capital - Head Office
Mann Island 93,000 0 93,000
Mann Island CCTV 0 40,374 (40,374)
Total Capital - Head Office 93,000 40,374 52,626

Annual Budget
Total 

Expenditure
Budget Remaining

Capital - Rail Services
LSP Renewals 650,000 0 650,000
Newton Le Willows 0 4,164 (4,164)
Rail Studies 200,000 2,500 197,500
Liverpool Central Development 152,592 157,660 (5,068)
Bromborough Station P & R 200,000 0 200,000
Lea Green Park & Ride 6,196 0 6,196
Prescot Station 335,627 61,000 274,627
Access For All 5,150,000 0 5,150,000
Headbolt Lane Gateway 10,586,717 10,224,067 362,650
St James Station Gateway 3,660,889 411,496 3,249,393
NPR / HS2 Station Commission 500,000 0 500,000
LSP Platform Extension 200,000 0 200,000
Sandhills Capacity Enhancement 116,448 65,329 51,119
Station Totems 100,000 0 100,000
Kirby Car Park & Ride 150,000 0 150,000
TCF Predevelopment Works 0 1,178 (1,178)
Lea Green Park & Ride 2,500,000 92,495 2,407,505
Broadgreen Access for All 68,261 160,972 (92,711)
Hunts Cross Access for All 305,317 559,844 (254,527)
St Michaels Access for All 299,023 87,988 211,035
Hillside Access for All 240,176 229,811 10,365
Birkenhead Park Access for All 190,176 334,203 (144,027)
Total Capital - Rail Services 25,611,422 12,392,706 13,218,716

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

Page 142



Appendix Two

MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL SPEND AS AT SEPTEMBER 2021

Annual Budget
Total 

Expenditure
Budget Remaining

Capital - Corporate Services
Agresso 20,000 0 20,000
Total Capital - Corporate Services 20,000 0 20,000

Annual Budget
Total 

Expenditure
Budget Remaining

Capital - Tunnels
New Toll System Outline Design and Build 700,000 474,716 225,284
Vehicle Replacement 200,000 67,604 132,396
CCTV 80,000 113,469 (33,469)
Kingsway Replace Sump Pump Drainage Pipework System 2,000,000 55,483 1,944,517
Vent Station Interior Refurbishment Programme 450,000 5 449,995
Queensway Carriageway Soffit Works 450,000 10,000 440,000
Queensway Jet Fans 420,000 33,978 386,022
Prom Vent Transformers and HV Switch Renewals 750,000 691,007 58,993
Kingsway Vauxhall Road Eldonian  Regeneration 250,000 216,143 33,857
PA System in Qway & Kway 485,000 185,369 299,631
Kingsway refurb Tunnel Entrances 500,000 421,360 78,640
Kingsway Feasibilty Study 0 2,271 (2,271)
Waterproofing Works GDB 0 2 (2)
Decant Wallasey Elevated Control Building 150,000 7,636 142,364
KW Tunnel Elevated Control Building and Toll Plaza Redesign LUF 150,000 21,150 128,850
TCF QW Tunnel Demolition of Flyover and Redesign of Plaza Area 447,480 149,403 298,077
Replace Vehicles (Evs) including Charging Infrastructure 75,000 4,362 70,638
Workshop Machinery Replacement 50,000 20,145 29,855
Taylor Street & New Quay Repairs 500,000 0 500,000
Chester St & Albion St Roof Replacements 100,000 0 100,000
Upgrade of mobile radio service (Digipool in tunnel) 170,000 34 169,966
Vent Building Remedials 200,000 0 200,000
Vehicle Restraint KW 50,000 2,830 47,171
QW Main Tunnel Lighting Replacement LUF 100,000 6,487 93,513
Improved Customer Information KW Approach LUF 120,000 0 120,000
Reinstating the Liverpool Obelisk LUF 105,000 0 105,000
MT Levelling Up Fund Programme Management LUF 50,000 0 50,000
Kingsway Asbestos removal 0 10,770 (10,770)
Total Capital - Tunnels 8,552,480 2,494,223 6,058,257

Annual Budget
Total 

Expenditure
Budget Remaining

Capital - Rolling Stock
Rolling Stock MSA 53,393,981 28,147,947 25,246,033
Rolling Stock Depot 1,483,812 693,332 790,481
Rolling Stock Power 6,664,051 9,570,906 (2,906,855)
Rolling Stock Infrastructure Platforms 0 (160,850) 160,850
Rolling Stock Infrastructure Train Length 26,396,641 3,799,099 22,597,542
Rolling Stock – IPEMU 2,163,225 775,345 1,387,880
Rolling Stock Connectivity 4,057,134 976,043 3,081,091
Total Capital - Rolling Stock 94,158,844 43,801,822 50,357,022

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	Minutes

	6 The Transport aspects of the Corporate Plan
	Enc. 1 for The Transport aspects of the Corporate Plan

	7 Developing the next statutory local transport plan (LTP) First Stage: Agreeing and Engaging Stakeholders on a Draft Vision for Transport
	Enc. 1 for Developing the next statutory local transport plan - developing a vision for the LCR
	Enc. 2 for Developing the next statutory local transport plan - developing a vision for the LCR

	8 Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy
	Enc. 1 for Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy

	9 Rail Update
	Enc. 1 for Rail Update
	Enc. 2 for Rail Update
	Enc. 3 for Rail Update
	Enc. 4 for Rail Update

	10 Multi-Operator and Multi-Modal Ticketing Scheme - Product and Pricing Update and Proposals
	Enc. 1 for Multo Operator and Multi Modal Ticket Prices 2022

	11 Financial Performance Report - 1 April 2021 to 30 September 2021
	Enc. 1 for Merseytravel Financial Perfromance Report
	Enc. 2 for Merseytravel Financial Perfromance Report


